



The Journal has been accreditated, on occasion of the 17<sup>th</sup> December 2004 Meeting of the Executive and Sciencific STCI Councils, by the Italian Society of Dyglede, Preventive Medicine and Public Dealth



# journal OF PREVENCIVE medicine and hygiene

http://www.jpmh.org

#### Editor

Pietro Crovari, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy

#### **Co-Editors**

- Roberto Gasparini, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity
- Research Centre on Influenza and other infections, University of Genoa, Italv

Giancarlo Icardi, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and other infections, University of Genoa, Italy

#### **International Editorial Board**

- Gabriella Agazzotti, Department of Diagnostic, Clinical and Public Health Medicine, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy
- Daniela Amicizia, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy
- Roy Anderson, FRS FMedSci, London Centre for Neglected Tropical Disease Research, Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, School of Public Health Faculty of Medicine, United Kingdom
- Italo Francesco Angelillo, Department of Experimental Medicine, Second University of Naples, Italy
- Filippo Ansaldi, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italv
- Paolo Bonanni, Department of Health Sciences, University of Florence, Italy
- Rosa Cristina Coppola, Department of Public Health, University of Cagliari, Italy
- Maria Luisa Cristina, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy
- Francesco D'Agostini, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy
- Silvio De Flora, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italv
- Àngela Dominguez, Department de Salut Pública Facultat de Medicina, University of Barcelona, Spain
- Paolo Durando, Department of Health Sciences, Postgraduate School in Occupational Medicine, University of Genoa and Occupational Medicine Unit, IRCCS AOU San Martino IST, Genoa, Italy
- Giovanni Gabutti, Department of Medical Sciences, University of Ferrara, Italy
- Alberto Izzotti, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italv
- Nicola Nante, Department of Molecular and Developmental Medicine, University of Siena, Italy
- Paolo Orlando, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italv
- Donatella Panatto, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections, University of Genoa, Italy
- Vana Papaevangelou, Pediatric Infectious Diseases Third Department of Pediatrics General University Hospital Attikon, Athens, Greece
- Gabriele Pelissero, Department of Preventive, Occupational and Community Medicine, University of Pavia, Italy
- Mario Ramirez, Instituto de Microbiologia Faculdade de Medicina, University of Lisboa, Portugal

Rino Rappuoli, GlaxoSmithKline, Siena Italy

Laura Sticchi, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy

- Fiona Timmins, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland
- Pierre Van Damme, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Centre for the Evaluation of Vaccination Vaccine & Infectious Disease Institute, University of Antwerp, Belgium
- Alessandro Remo Zanetti, Department of Biomedical Sciences for Health, University of Milan, Italy

#### **Editorial Staff**

- Daniela Amicizia, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections, University of Genoa, Italy
- Piero Luigi Lai, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections, University of Genoa, Italy
- Donatella Panatto, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections, University of Genoa, Italy

#### Section Editors

e-Health: Alexander Domnich

Environmental Hygiene: Maria Luisa Cristina

Health Care Management: Giancarlo Icardi

- Health Promotion: Donatella Panatto
- Health Technology Assessment: Roberto Gasparini
  - Hospital Hygiene: Maria Luisa Cristina
  - Infectious Diseases: Daniela Amicizia Molecular Epidemiology: Nicola Luigi Bragazzi

Non Comunicable Diseases: Alberto Izzotti

- Nosocomial Infections: Filippo Ansaldi Nursing: Loredana Sasso, Annamaria Bagnasco

Occupational Medicine and Hygiene: Paolo Durando

Pharmacoeconomics: Donatella Panatto

Prevention by Antivirals and Antibiotics: Claudio Viscoli

Public Health Laboratory Methods: Laura Sticchi

The International Board is under revision.

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

Managing Editor: Patrizia Alma Pacini Publisher: Pacini Editore Srl, Via Gherardesca 1, 56121 Pisa, Italy

Published online March 2016

Authorization Tribunal of Genoa, Italy n. 507 - 10/6/1960 Journal registered at "Registro pubblico degli Operatori della Comunicazione" (Pacini Editore srl reg-istration n. 6269 - 29/8/2001).

#### CONTENTS

Influenza vaccination: from epidemiological aspects and advances in research to dissent and vaccination policies <i>R. Gasparini, D. Amicizia, P.L. Lai, D. Panatto</i>	E1
European decision-maker perspective with regard to influenza prevention policies <i>P.L. Lopalco</i>	E5
The sustainability of influenza vaccination programs: considerations and perspectives from Italy <i>A. Poscia, J. Stojanovic, W. Ricciardi</i>	E9
Influenza vaccination in high-risk groups: a revision of existing guidelines and rationale for an evidence-based preventive strategy <i>C. Costantino, F. Vitale</i>	E13
The new pandemic influenza A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus: is it really "new"? V. Baldo, C. Bertoncello, S. Cocchio, M. Fonzo, P. Pillon, A. Buja, T. Baldovin	E19
The impact of influenza virus B in Italy: myth or reality? <i>C. Rizzo, A. Bella</i>	E23
Quadrivalent influenza vaccine: a new opportunity to reduce the influenza burden V. Tisa, I. Barberis, V. Faccio, C. Paganino, C. Trucchi, M. Martini, F. Ansaldi	E28
Introduction of a quadrivalent influenza vaccine in Italy: a budget impact analysis <i>A. Pitrelli</i>	E34
Available influenza vaccines: immunization strategies, history and new tools for fighting the disease <i>I. Barberis, M. Martini, F. Iavarone, A. Orsi</i>	E41
The old and the new: vaccine hesitancy in the era of the Web 2.0. Challenges and opportunities <i>R. Rosselli, M. Martini, N.L. Bragazzi</i>	E47

### Influenza vaccination: from epidemiological aspects and advances in research to dissent and vaccination policies

R. GASPARINI, D. AMICIZIA, P.L. LAI, D. PANATTO Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy

#### Keywords

Influenza • Influenza vaccine • Dissent

#### Summary

Influenza is a serious public health problem, since seasonal epidemics affect approximately 5-10% of the population and thus give rise to a heavy social and healthcare burden. The heavy burden of disease is due to several factors, one of which is the biological features of the pathogen. Indeed influenza viruses display high mutation rates and undergo frequent genetic reassortment. Minor variations cause seasonal epidemics and major variations, which result from the hybridization of viruses typical of different animal species, can lead to pandemics.

Vaccination remains the most efficacious means of mitigating the harmful healthcare and social effects of influenza. Influenza vaccines have evolved over time in order to offer broader protection against circulating strains. Trivalent vaccines containing two A viruses and one B virus are currently available. However, given the co-circulation of both B virus lineages (B/Yamagata and B/Victoria), quadrivalent vaccines have recently been developed. The new quadrivalent vaccines constitute a great advance, in that they can offer broader strain coverage.

Influenza, which is caused by the homonymous virus belonging to the *Orthomyxoviridae* family, is a disease characterized by fever, respiratory and other systemic symptoms. In both the northern and southern hemispheres, the disease occurs annually, during the cold season (seasonal influenza). Periodically – at intervals of 20-30 years – antigenically new viruses may appear and cause a pandemic [1].

Influenza is a serious public health problem, since seasonal epidemics affect approximately 5-10% of the population and thus give rise to a heavy social and healthcare burden. Influenza-related direct costs are very high and mostly linked to severe disease complications and deaths, which are usually observed among at-risk subjects (elderly, subjects with chronic diseases and pregnant women). Moreover, a typical epidemic peak is associated with high rates of absenteeism, which, from the societal point of view, cause a heavy economic burden and hamper public services, especially those offered by the National Health System [1].

The heavy burden of disease is due to several factors, one of which is the biological feature of the pathogen. Despite the availability of effective and safe influenza vaccines, the Italian public's trust in vaccination has declined and, in the last few years, influenza vaccination coverage rates have decreased both among the elderly and among at-risk adults. It is therefore necessary that users, in their own interests, regain trust in this important means of disease prevention.

In order to mitigate the damage wreaked by influenza, it seems important to: (i) improve clinical-epidemiological and virological surveillance of the disease; (ii) promote the development of new efficacious vaccines, as has recently been done through the introduction of the quadrivalent vaccine; (iii) extend free vaccination to the entire population, as in the US and Canada; (iv) ensure that general healthcare professionals are properly informed and always updated with regard to vaccination; (v) promote public campaigns to raise the population's awareness of the importance of vaccination; (vi) inform politicians and other decision-makers of scientific results in the field of vaccination; (vii) fight the antivaccination lobbies with every available weapon.

Indeed, the biology of the influenza virus is complex and conditions the epidemiology of the disease. Three types of virus are known: A, B and C. While types A and C can infect man and many animal species, B viruses almost exclusively infect humans [2]. Under the electron microscope, the virus generally has a roughly spherical shape, from which emerge two glycoproteins (hemagglutinin and neuroaminidase) that are essential to the biology of the virus [3]. Indeed, these enable the virus to adhere to the specific receptors of the cells of the respiratory mucosa and allow the release of the virus that has multiplied inside the cell [4, 5]. Survival of the virus is ensured by the wide variability of its glycoproteins (antigens). Specifically, influenza viruses undergo very frequent point mutations of the genome, which is dispersed in 8 segments of RNA (minor variations). This phenomenon occurs in both A and B viruses, while the genome of A viruses may undergo far more drastic variations (major variations). While minor variations are random, major variations are the result of the hybridization of viruses typical of different animal species (man, swine, birds) [6]. Theoretically, there are 198 possible

combinations of hemagglutinin and neuroaminidase, according to the types of the two known glycoproteins [7]. If, however, minor variations are considered, the number of combinations far exceeds 1 billion. For instance, the virus responsible for the last pandemic, which occurred in 2009/2010, was the result of a quadruple reassortment with two swine virus genes, European and Asian, an avian gene and a human gene [8]. A pandemic usually displays an atypical epidemiological trend (e.g. young adults are particularly affected) [9] and can, according to the pathogenic features of the new virus that causes it, determine even millions of deaths [10, 11].

In the last years of the 20<sup>th</sup> century and the first years of the 21<sup>st</sup>, a considerable challenge was posed by the H5N1 virus, which underwent major variations, such as H5N6 and H5N8. Moreover, the possibility currently exists that new subtypes of viruses typical of animals may adapt to humans, as in the case of the H7N9 subtype, which, from March 2013 to April 2015, caused 662 human cases and 262 deaths (lethality: about 40%) [12].

Seasonal influenza generally displays a less severe behavior. Nevertheless, the World Health Organization (WHO) has estimated that the disease causes from 3 to 5 million cases of severe disease and from 250,000 to 500,000 deaths each year, worldwide [13].

Vaccination remains the most efficacious means of mitigating the harmful healthcare and social effects of influenza [14]. Advances in epidemiology, viral genetics, immunology and molecular biology have given a great boost to the preparation of increasingly safe and efficacious vaccines. Thus, influenza vaccines purified by means of chemical methods and containing whole inactivated viruses have given way to split vaccines, subunit vaccines, adjuvated vaccines and live attenuated vaccines [15]. Moreover, the high reliance on supplies of embryonated hen eggs, which are used in traditional vaccine production, has been overcome by the development of vaccines obtained by multiplying the virus in in vitro cell cultures [16]. However, notwithstanding the great progress of vaccinology, vaccine efficacy is blunted by the great variability of the pathogen and the need to update vaccine preparations each year in response to the antigen modifications of the virus.

Influenza vaccines have evolved also markedly over time in order to offer broader protection against circulating strains. Indeed, in the early 1960s the vaccine was bivalent, i.e. it contained an H3N2 virus and a B virus; subsequently, trivalent vaccines containing two A viruses and one B virus were developed, and recently, given the co-circulation of both B virus lineages (B/Yamagata and B/Victoria), quadrivalent vaccines were developed.

The recent availability of quadrivalent vaccines constitutes a great advance, in that they can offer broader strain coverage. Indeed, the frequency with which B viruses were isolated by the Italian NIC (National Influenza Center) in the period 2003-2015 ranged from 0.8% to 58.0%, with a mean of 20.5% (95% CI: 0-38%) [17]. Thus, considering that influenza cases in Italy vary on average from 5 to 6 million each year [18], and assuming 38% frequency of B viruses (the upper value of 95%

CI) and total B-mismatching, we can suppose that the maximum additional percentage of protection provided by the quadrivalent vaccine may allow us to avoid 2,280.000 cases (at 100% vaccine efficacy; some studies [19, 20] have reported this level of efficacy, albeit rarely) or 1,140.000 cases (50% efficacy). This latter level of efficacy is closer to that reported in most studies. Indeed, a recent meta-analysis conducted by Osterholme revealed mean efficacy levels of 59% in subjects aged between 18 and 65 years, and of 83% in children aged between 6 months and 7 years [21].

.....

Despite the availability of effective and safe influenza vaccines, the Italian public's trust in vaccination has declined. In the last few years, Italian vaccination coverage rates have decreased both among the elderly and among at-risk adults. In the elderly, vaccination coverage declined from 55.6% in the 2013-2014 season to 49.0% in the 2014-2015 season: a fall of 6.6%. However, in comparison with the 2005-2006 season, when coverage was close to 70% (a rate approaching the ideal coverage for subjects aged > 64 years [75%]), the percentage drop was much greater (-21%) [22]. It may plausibly be claimed that one of the reasons for this reduction was poor communication on the part of the Ministry of Health during the pandemic caused by the virus A/California/07/09 [23]; another may have been the excessive prudence of the AIFA, which, for reasons of caution, suspended the use of a commercially available vaccine for two consecutive years [24, 25]. These events were emotively amplified by the press and mass media, and were exploited by anti-vaccination lobbies and consumer associations. As a result, vulnerable subjects were not immunized and were therefore more exposed to the serious complications of the disease. Thus, it is necessary that users, in their own interests, regain trust in this important means of disease prevention. In order to rebuild trust, it must be borne in mind that those who refuse vaccination fall within different categories. Indeed, some oppose vaccination on ideological grounds; some are skeptical of the utility and safety of vaccines; others simply neglect their health, while others again are marginalized individuals. There is also a need to raise awareness among members of the medical profession, since their recommendations are essential to orienting patients towards the right health choices.

Moreover, we cannot ignore the fact that the "anti-vaccinators" hoodwink the gullible with fantastic false accusations that are totally bereft of scientific evidence. Numerous such fallacies have been circulated, such as, for example: "vaccines make women sterile; vaccines shrink the ovaries; vaccines cause testicular cancer; vaccines are contaminated by amoebas present in the air in laboratories; vaccines paralyze the immune system; vaccines cause: Alzheimer's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, multiple sclerosis, transverse myelitis, optical neuritis, diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, asthma; and so on and so forth. But the greatest of falsehoods spread by the anti-vaccinators is undoubtedly that vaccines cause autism. This lie, which masqueraded as the result of a scientific study, was put about by Dr. Andrew Wakefield in an article published by the scientific journal The Lancet [26]. It soon emerged, however, not only that Dr. Wakefield had utilized rather unethical para-scientific methods, but also that the results served his own personal interests; he was subsequently struck off the register of British physicians [27]. It is interesting that the antivaccinators' claims that vaccines cause neurological or psychiatric disorders are linked in a subtle manner to the "plot hypothesis". Indeed, these people maintain that the plotters (or Illuminated Ones, as they call them) have infiltrated all levels of decision-making in order to foist mass vaccination on the population. The plotters' aims are said to be twofold. First, they want to stultify the majority of the world's people, in order to dominate them more easily, and, at the same time, favor unvaccinated subjects, whose intellectual skills would remain intact as a result of natural selection; second, they want to get rich alongside their industrial allies - the vaccine producers. The American Institute of Medicine (IOM) has repeatedly demonstrated that there is no scientific evidence to support the much-touted association between vaccines and the above-mentioned diseases [28]. Moreover, in most of the neurological diseases of early onset, the application of molecular biology to neurology is increasingly revealing the importance of transmissible or newonset genetic disorders, and it has been demonstrated that cases of disease erroneously attributed to vaccination, such as Dravet's syndrome, are actually linked to genetic damage [29].

Vaccination is recognized as one of the most cost-effective in the fight against diseases. However, it is tragic that more than 2½ million children worldwide die each year, despite efficacious and safe vaccines are currently available [30].

In the most advanced countries, such as the USA, vaccination campaigns have always been implemented. However, when a vaccination strategy works well, its results often go unnoticed by the majority of the population. Indeed, only when events occur that threaten public health and arouse mass fears (e.g. measles outbreaks, bioterrorist attacks such as that of the envelopes containing spores of *Bacillus anthracis*, or the threat of biological weapons), does it become clear just how important it is to immunize the population [31]. In Italy, people are now beginning to realize this, in the wake of the various outbreaks of meningococcal invasive disease that have occurred in Tuscany since 2015 [32].

With regard to vaccination policies, it should be pointed out that preventive strategies, despite their great success, have always been an extremely marginal item of expenditure in the Italian National Health Service budget. Indeed, of the total annual expenditure of about  $\notin$  111 billion, only about  $\notin$  291 million (0.26%) is spent on vaccination (about  $\notin$  40 million on influenza vaccines) [33, 34].

In conclusion, in order to mitigate the damage wreaked by influenza, it seems important to strengthen the following interventions:

• improve clinical-epidemiological and virological surveillance of the disease;

- promote the development of new efficacious vaccines, as has recently been done through the introduction of the quadrivalent vaccine;
- extend free vaccination to the entire population, as in the US and Canada [35];
- ensure that general practitioners, pediatricians and other healthcare professionals are properly informed and always updated with regard to vaccination;
- promote public campaigns to raise the population's awareness of the importance of vaccination, not least by using new means of communication such as apps for smartphones and tablets [36, 37];
- inform politicians and other decision-makers of scientific results in the field of vaccination [38];
- fight the anti-vaccination lobbies with such weapons as: counter-information (e.g. what would happen if this or that vaccine had not been invented?), irony, satire, humor, logic, scientific evidence and common sense.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding declared for this overview.

#### References

- WHO. Influenza (Seasonal). Available at: http://www.who. int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs211/en/ [Accessed on 15/02/16]
- [2] Hay A, Gregory V, Douglas A, Lin Y. The evolution of human influenza viruses. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2001;356:1861-70.
- [3] Noda T. *Native morphology of influenza virions*. Front Microbiol 2012;2:269.
- [4] Gasparini R, Amicizia D, Lai PL, Bragazzi NL, Panatto D. Compounds with anti-influenza activity: present and future of strategies for the optimal treatment and management of influenza. Part I: influenza life-cycle and currently available drugs. J Prev Med Hyg 2014;55:69-85.
- [5] Bridges CB, Katz JM, Levandowski RA, Cox NJ. *Inactivated influenza vaccines*. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P (Eds.). *Vaccines*. Fifth Edition. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier 2008, pp. 260-90.
- [6] Doherty PC, Turner SJ, Webby RG, Thomas PG. Influenza and the challenge for immunology. Nature Immunol 2006,7:449-55.
- [7] Milligan GN, Barrett ADT. Vaccinology an essential Guide. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell 2015.
- [8] WHO. Pandemic 2009. Available at: http://www.who.int/csr/ disease/swineflu/en/index.html. [Accessed on 16/02/16]
- [9] CDC. Update: novel influenza A (H1N1) virus infection Mexico, March-May 2009. MMRW 2009;58:585-9.
- [10] Gasparini R, Amicizia D, Lai PL, Panatto D. Aflunov(®): a prepandemic influenza vaccine. Expert Rev Vaccines 2012;11:145-57.
- [11] Gasparini R, Amicizia D, Lai PL, Panatto D. *Clinical and socio*economic impact of seasonal and pandemic influenza in adults and the elderly. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2012;8:21-8.
- [12] WHO. Human cases of influenza at human-animal interface, January 2014-April 2015. Weekly Epidemiol Record 2015;28:349-64.
- [13] WHO. Influenza. Available at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/2003/fs211/en/. [Accessed on 16/02/16].

.....

- [14] Gasparini R, Pozzi T, Bonanni P, Fragapane E, Montomoli E, Lucioni C. Valutazione dei costi di un'epidemia influenzale nella popolazione lavorativa di Siena. Giornale di Farmacoeconomia 2000;4:3-9.
- [15] Belshe RB, Walker R, Stoddard JJ, Kemble G, Maassab HF, Mendelman PM. *Influenza vaccine-live*. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P (Eds.). *Vaccines*. Fifth Edition. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier 2008, pp. 291-309.
- [16] Milián E, Kamen AA. Current and emerging cell culture manufacturing technologies for influenza vaccines. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:504831.
- [17] Ministero della Salute. Sorveglianza virologica dell'influenza. Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/portale/temi/p2\_6.jsp?li ngua=italiano&id=771&area=influenza&menu=sorveglianza [Accessed on 15/02/16]
- [18] Lai PL, Panatto D, Ansaldi F, Canepa P, Amicizia D, Patria AG, Gasparini R. Burden of the 1999-2008 seasonal influenza epidemics in Italy: comparison with the H1N1v (A/California/07/09) pandemic. Hum Vaccin 2011;(Suppl 7):217-25.
- [19] Kumpulainen V, Mäkelä M. Influenza vaccination among healthy employees: a cost-benefit analysis. Scand J Infect Dis 1997;29:181-5.
- [20] Wilde JA, McMillan JA, Serwint J, Butta J, O'Riordan MA, Steinhoff MC. *Effectiveness of influenza vaccine in health care* professionals: a randomized trial. JAMA 1999;281:908-13.
- [21] Osterholm MT, Kelley NS, Sommer A, Belongia EA. *Efficacy* and effectiveness of influenza vaccines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis 2012;12:36-44.
- [22] Rizzo C, Bella A. Vaccinazione antinfluenzale, i dati di copertura per la stagione 2014-2015. Epicentro. Available at:: http:// www.epicentro.iss.it/problemi/influenza/copertureAntinfluenzale2014-2015.asp. [Accessed on 19/02/16]
- [23] Ministero del Lavoro, della Salute e delle Politiche sociali. L'influenza A è una normale influenza, con queste 5 regole si combatte meglio. Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/imgs/C\_17\_ opuscoliPoster\_17\_allegato.pdf. [Accessed on 19/02/16]
- [24] AIFA. Divieto di utilizzo vaccini influenzali della ditta Novartis Vaccines and Diagnostics. Available at: http://www.agenziafarmaco.gov.it/it/content/divieto-di-utilizzo-vaccini-influenzalidella-ditta-novartis-vaccines-and-diagnostics. [Accessed on 19/02/16]
- [25] AIFA. AIFA dispone il divieto di utilizzo per due lotti del vaccino antinfluenzale FLUAD. Available at: http://www.agenziafarmaco.com/it/content/aifa-dispone-il-divieto-di-utilizzo-due-lotti-del-vaccino-antinfluenzale-fluad-0. [Accessed on 19/02/16]
- [26] Wakefield AJ, Murch SH, Anthony A, Linnell J, Casson DM, Malik M, Berelowitz M, Dhillon AP, Thomson MA, Harvey P, Valentine A, Davies SE, Walker-Smith JA. *Ileal-lymphoid-nod-*

ular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. Lancet 1998;351:637-41. Retraction in: Lancet 2010;375:445.

[27] Deer B. *How the case against the MMR vaccine was fixed*. BMJ 2011;342:c5347.

- [28] Gasparini R, Panatto D, Lai PL, Amicizia D. The "urban myth" of the association between neurological disorders and vaccinations. J Prev Med Hyg 2015;56:E1-8.
- [29] Reyes IS, Hsieh DT, Laux LC, Wilfong AA. Alleged cases of vaccine encephalopathy rediagnosed years later as Dravet syndrome. Pediatrics 2011;128:e699-e702.
- [30] Science technology Society. *Medical interventions*. Available at: https://group2bsn2g.wordpress.com/2007/01/18/medicalinterventions/. [Accessed on 19/02/16].
- [31] NCSL. Immunizations policy issues overview. Available at: http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/immunizations-policy-issues-overview.aspx. [Accessed on 19/02/16].
- [32] Epicentro. Malattie batteriche invasive (sepsi e meningiti). Available at: http://www.epicentro.iss.it/problemi/meningiti/aggiornamenti.asp. [Accessed on 19/02/16].
- [33] ISTAT. Noi Italia. La spesa sanitaria pubblica assorbe il 7 per cento del Pil. Available at: http://noi-italia.istat.it/index. php?id=7&user\_100ind\_pi1%5Bid\_pagina%5D=41. [Accessed on 19/02/16].
- [34] Osservatorio Nazionale sull'impiego dei medicinali. L'uso dei farmaci in Italia. Rapporto nazionale 2014. Available at: http:// www.agenziafarmaco.gov.it/sites/default/files/Rapporto\_Os-Med\_2014\_0.pdf. [Accessed on 19/02/16].
- [35] CDC. Influenza (Flu). Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/flu/. Accesso del 22 febbraio 2016; Public Health Agency of Canada (NACI). Statement on Seasonal Influenza Vaccine for 2015-2016. Documento disponibile al sito web: http://www.phacaspc.gc.ca/naci-ccni/flu-2015-grippe-eng.php. [Accessed on 22/02/16].
- [36] Arnold C. Flu on the go: mobile technology and respiratory illnesses. Lancet Respir Med 2015;3:108.
- [37] Panatto D, Domnich A, Gasparini R, Bonanni P, Icardi G, Amicizia D, Arata L, Bragazzi NL, Signori A, Landa P, Bechini A, Boccalini S. Development and preliminary data on the use of a mobile app specifically designed to increase community awareness of invasive pneumococcal disease and its prevention. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2016;1-5.
- [38] Gasparini R, Mennini FS, Panatto D, Bonanni P, Bechini A, Ricciardi W, de Waure C, Marcellusi A, Cicchetti A, Ruggeri M, Boccalini S. How can the results of Health Technology Assessment (HTA) evaluations applied to vaccinations be communicated to decision-makers and stakeholders? The ISPOR Rome Chapter Project. J Prev Med Hyg 2015;56:E150-E154.

- Received on January 15, 2016. Accepted on February 15, 2016.
- Correspondence: Roberto Gasparini, Department of Health Sciences, via Pastore 1, 16132 Genoa, Italy - Tel. +39 010 3538527 -Fax +39 010 3538541 - E-mail: gasparini@unige.it

.....

# European decision-maker perspective with regard to influenza prevention policies

P.L. LOPALCO

Department of Biomedical Science and Human Oncology, University of Bari, Italy

#### Keywords

Vaccination • Public Health policy • European Union • Epidemiological monitoring

#### Summary

Influenza is a public health priority in Europe. The impact of influenza pandemics on public health is very high, but seasonal influenza also constitutes an important burden in terms of hospitalisation and excess deaths. Influenza vaccination is a fundamental pillar of disease prevention. In the absence of a clear decision-making process for vaccination policies, EU institutions have, in recent years, fostered collaboration among Member States. Such collaboration was closer during

Introduction

Influenza prevention is a public health priority worldwide. In Europe, seasonal influenza causes between 4 and 50 million symptomatic cases each year and the death toll associated with influenza is estimated at between 15,000 and 70,000 every influenza season, in terms of excess deaths [1]. The impact of influenza is even greater in the case of pandemics, when large population age-groups - if not the entire population - are immunologically naïve toward the pandemic viral strain. During the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, 2,900 deaths directly related to influenza were reported by the European Union (EU) Member States during the first 12 months [2], but the increase in mortality rates related to the pandemic virus is estimated to be larger. In addition, the high number of cases occurring in a short period of time places a heavy load on the healthcare system during the influenza season.

Preventive measures to limit the spread of influenza include both individual and public health interventions. Frequent hand-washing and correct respiratory hygiene have proved to be effective in preventing respiratory illnesses, including influenza [3, 4]. However, influenza vaccination is still the main tool for preventing the spread of influenza spread and limiting the burden on public health. In the US, routine annual influenza vaccination is recommended for all persons aged  $\geq 6$  months who do not have contraindications [5]. Recommendations are more limited in the EU, and vary widely among Member States [6].

This paper presents an overview of the European approach to influenza prevention and describes the point

the 2009 pandemic, which constituted a clear cross-border threat to EU citizens' health. The EU institutions have been supporting national vaccination programmes by providing evidence of the effectiveness and safety of influenza vaccination. Decision 1082/2013 was a major step toward EU collaboration, in that it highlighted the role of pandemic vaccination in the field of preparedness and emergency response, in which concerted action is clearly valuable.

of view of European decision-makers regarding both seasonal and pandemic prevention policies.

## The EU decision-making process with regard to vaccination policies

In the EU, responsibility for immunisation programmes, including immunisation schedules, their mandatory or voluntary character and their financing, lies with the individual Member States. As clearly stated in art. 168 of the Lisbon Treaty, harmonisation of national laws and regulations in the field of human health promotion is excluded. On the other hand, the same article reads "The Union shall encourage cooperation between the Member States [...] and, if necessary, lend support to their action. It shall in particular encourage cooperation between the Member States to improve the complementarity of their health services in cross-border areas" [7]. Definitively, even though decisions on vaccination issues are taken essentially at the national level, there may nevertheless be some room for action at the European level in terms of support and cooperation between national and EU decision-makers.

During the last few years, for the first time since the foundation of the EU, some pieces of legislation have been delivered by EU institutions in the specific area of vaccination programmes. Specifically, in 2011 and 2014, two Council Conclusions were delivered during the Employment, Social Policy, Health and Consumer Affairs Council meeting under, the Hungarian and Italian Presidencies, respectively. These two Council Conclusions both move in the direction of fostering the ef-

forts of EU Member States to strengthen vaccination programmes, thus underlining the great importance and societal value of immunisation [8, 9]. More importantly, in December 2009, a few months after the declaration of the H1N1 pandemic, a recommendation on seasonal influenza vaccination was issued by the Council of the EU [10]. In this recommendation, EU Member States "are encouraged to adopt and implement [...] action plans or policies [...] aimed at improving seasonal influenza vaccination coverage, with the aim of reaching, as early as possible and preferably by the 2014-2015 winter season, a vaccination coverage rate of 75% for 'older age-groups' and, if possible, for other risk groups [...]. Member States are also encouraged to improve vaccination coverage among healthcare workers". Moreover, Member States should draw up specific action plans aimed at monitoring influenza vaccine coverage and investigating the reasons for low adherence to vaccination. Even though Council recommendations are not binding on the Member States, this recommendation on influenza vaccination is nevertheless the first of its kind in the field of vaccines, and demonstrates the great interest of European decision-makers in influenza prevention. Indeed, the seasonal influenza coverage rates reported by EU Member States are widely variable and mostly suboptimal. There is no statutory system for collecting and monitoring adherence to influenza vaccination in the EU. For this reason, a network of experts (VENICE consortium, Vaccine European New Integrated Collaboration Effort) [11] supported by a grant from the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) started a regular survey in 2006 to collect, among other data, information on influenza vaccine coverage. The results of the VENICE influenza surveys are publicly available at the VENICE website [11]. Two major issues arise from the analysis of vaccine coverage data. Firstly, only in the Netherlands and some parts of the United Kingdom is the target of 75% of vaccination coverage among elderly people reached. Moreover, data are available from 23 Member States only, and not from all influenza seasons. On the other hand, comparison of the available data on vaccination coverage in the general population in 2008-2009 (seasonal) and in 2009-2010 (pandemic), reveals some evidence that, during a pandemic, vaccination levels are very similar to those reached during a normal influenza season. It would appear that the same people who receive seasonal influenza vaccines are reached during pandemic vaccination programmes. Therefore, pandemic influenza vaccination is better implemented where a well-functioning seasonal influenza vaccination programme is already in place. This evidence supports the need to strengthen seasonal influenza vaccination programmes as part of preparedness plans for future pandemics. Pandemic influenza preparedness plans are a clear area of intervention for EU institutions, since an influenza pandemic is a typical cross-border threat [7]. Therefore, in addition to the clear benefits yielded by a strong seasonal influenza vaccination programme, this is a good reason for the EU to support Member States in improving their programmes.

# How EU can support national influenza programmes

.....

The EU decision-maker has limited power to influence national vaccination policies. On the other hand, influenza prevention is perceived as a priority at the EU level because of the potential pandemic threat and its subsequent cross-border issues. As a consequence, the role of the EU - also fostered by the 2009 Council Recommendation - has been to support national vaccination programmes by providing evidence of the effectiveness and safety of influenza vaccination. The perceived low effectiveness of influenza vaccines and the fear of alleged adverse events are considered the main obstacles to improving vaccination adherence. Providing national vaccination programme managers with reliable data on post-marketing evaluation of influenza vaccines may constitute an evident added value. To this end, the ECDC has funded the I-MOVE project [12]. Since the 2008-9 influenza season, I-MOVE has provided estimates of vaccine effectiveness that are usually available a few months after the end of the season. Thanks to a standardised protocol and a fairly large number of participating study sites, these estimates have good geographical representativeness [13]. In addition, only as a result of European collaboration can the study population reach a size large enough to yield robust estimates.

As expected, influenza vaccine effectiveness is strongly dependent on the quality of matching between vaccine strains and circulating virus strains. This was particularly evident during the 2009 pandemic, when the only circulating strain was the pandemic one and vaccine effectiveness was particularly high, reaching 78.4% (95% CI 54.4-89.8) in patients aged < 65 years [14]. Definitively, vaccine effectiveness estimates obtained from such collaborative studies can provide good-quality evidence to support communication. A real perception of the effectiveness of influenza vaccines is a prerequisite to communicating the real benefits of influenza vaccination to the public. Indeed, suboptimal effectiveness - during some seasons it may be even lower than 50% – may be negatively perceived at the individual level, even though the impact of the vaccination programme on public health may be considerable in terms of the lowered global burden of disease.

Vaccine safety issues are another potential obstacle to influenza vaccine acceptance. Indeed, vaccines, unlike other drugs and medical interventions, are administered both to healthy subjects and to fragile individuals, such as very young children and elderly people. For this reason, any potential safety issue is usually overestimated and the fear of alleged adverse events following immunisation (AEFI) is the main reason why many people are sceptical towards vaccination. Vaccine safety monitoring is strictly regulated in the EU, with the European Medicine Agency (EMA) playing a crucial role, especially during the pre-marketing phase [15]. On the other hand, monitoring and assessing vaccine safety during the post-marketing phase may present some challenges in the absence of a clear commitment. Responsibility for post-marketing surveillance is shared between pharmacovigilance authorities and vaccine producers. The basic system of AEFI surveillance is constituted by the statutory pharmacovigilance system – shared with all other drugs – present in all EU Member States and coordinated by the EMA through the Eudravigilance system [16]. This is a routine passive surveillance system, which is good enough to detect clear safety signals, but not sufficiently well designed to support vaccine programme managers who deal with vaccine hesitancy or anti-vaccine lobbies. For this purpose, pre-emptive strategies are needed, and good evidence on alleged adverse events should be rapidly available to vaccine managers.

......

Post-marketing studies to assess vaccine safety are complex and expensive. EU-wide collaboration in this field is a clear added value, as recently demonstrated after the marketing of A(H1N1) pandemic vaccines. The VAESCO consortium (Vaccine adverse events surveillance and communication) - a consortium of public health institutions sponsored by the ECDC [17] with the purpose of starting a European collaboration in the field of post-marketing vaccine surveillance - assessed the risk of Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) by means of a multinational case-control study [18] followed by a prospective self-controlled case series study [19]. The conclusion of both studies was that the risk of GBS was not significantly elevated after influenza A(H1N1) pandemic vaccination; this research was made possible only by EU collaboration, which ensured a population size large enough to achieve the necessary study power [19]. Finally, the valuable role of the EU was clearly shown when an unexpected increase in narcolepsy cases was reported in Finland and Sweden in 2010, after vaccination with Pandemrix<sup>®</sup> [20]. In that case, too, the EU committed a substantial amount of resources to assessing the narcolepsy signal. The VAESCO consortium conducted an ECDC-sponsored study in six EU Member States, which provided evidence of the association between narcolepsy cases in adolescents and Pandemrix<sup>®</sup> vaccination [21].

## Vaccination as a preparedness measure against cross-border threats

Although the EU institutions cannot make any attempt to harmonise human vaccination practices, they should foster cooperation between Member States with regard to cross-border health threats. The level of cooperation and the limits of EU coordination in this field were recently defined by the Decision of the European Parliament and of the Council N° 1082/2013/EU on serious cross-border threats to health [22]. The Decision, which is binding and is to be implemented at the national level, provides the EU Member States with four benefits: 1) preparedness planning capacity should be reinforced, to ensure that all Member States are adequately prepared in the event of an emerging crisis; 2) risk assessment and management should be improved at the national level, with the support of the EU agencies responsible (ECDC, EMA etc.); 3) a new mechanism for the joint procurement of vaccines and medicines in the event of a health emergency is in place, in order to ensure the provision of emergency vaccine/medications in all Member States; 4) the response at the EU level will be coordinated by the Health Security Committee, which has a solid legal mandate to quickly take decisions in the event of an emergency.

Decision 1082 constitutes a major step toward EU collaboration in the field of infectious disease prevention. In particular, two main principles regarding vaccination are evident: a) vaccines are an important component of emergency preparedness; b) a mechanism for purchasing vaccines through EU joint procurement is in place, which also provides a clear advantage deriving from the economy of scale. In particular, seasonal influenza vaccination should be an important component of pandemic preparedness, since a strong vaccination system for seasonal influenza is clearly necessary in order to achieve good coverage during a pandemic. In addition, the joint procurement mechanism has been specifically set up to support the weaker Member States, which may have difficulty purchasing pandemic vaccines. This demonstrates that the EU decision-maker does acknowledge the strategic role of influenza vaccination in preparing Europe to tackle the pandemic threat.

#### Conclusions

EU decision-making in the field of influenza prevention, as well as of all other vaccination policies, is not clearly established. Nevertheless, there is quite large room for collaboration, especially in the field of post-marketing vaccine surveillance. In addition, there is a clear added value in the area of emergency preparedness and response, in which common EU policies, and even the joint procurement of vaccines, are ensured in the event of a pandemic.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding declared for this overview.

#### References

- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Influenza factsheet for health professionals. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/seasonal\_influenza/basic\_facts/Pages/ factsheet\_professionals\_seasonal\_influenza.aspx [Accessed 05/03/03].
- [2] Amato-Gauci A, Zucs P, Snacken R, Ciancio B, Lopez V, Broberg E, Penttinen P, Nicoll A, on behalf of the European Influenza Surveillance Network (EISN). Surveillance trends of the 2009 influenza A(H1N1) pandemic in Europe. Euro Surveill 2011;16:pii=19903.
- [3] Ryan MA, Christian RS, Wohlrabe J. Handwashing and respiratory illness among young adults in military training. Am J Prev Med 2001;21:79-83.
- [4] Cowling BJ, Chan KH, Fang VJ, Cheng CK, Fung RO, Wai W, Sin J, Seto WH, Yung R, Chu DW, Chiu BC, Lee PW, Chiu MC, Lee HC, Uyeki TM, Houck PM, Peiris JS, Leung GM.

*Facemasks and hand hygiene to prevent influenza transmission in households: a cluster randomized trial.* Ann Intern Med 2009;151:437-46.

- [5] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 Influenza Season. MMWR 2015;64:818-25.
- [6] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Influenza vaccination. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/seasonal\_influenza/vaccines/Pages/influenza\_vaccination. aspx#vaccinationstrategies [Accessed 05/03/03].
- [7] Eurostep. *The Lisbon Treaty*. Art 168. Available at: http://www. lisbon-treaty.org/wcm/the-lisbon-treaty/treaty-on-the-functioning-of-the-european-union-and-comments/part-3-unionpolicies-and-internal-actions/title-xiv-public-health/456-article-168.html [Accessed 05/03/03].
- [8] Council of the European Union. Council conclusions on childhood immunisation: successes and challenges of European childhood immunisation and the way forward. 2011. Available at: http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms\_ Data/docs/pressdata/en/lsa/122391.pdf [Accessed 05/03/03].
- [9] Council of the European Union. Council conclusions on vaccinations as an effective tool in public health. 2014. Available at: http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/workarea/downloadasset. aspx?id=40802190549
- [10] Council of the European Union. Council recommendation on seasonal influenza vaccination. 2009. Available at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:348: 0071:0072:EN:PDF [Accessed 05/03/03].
- [11] VENICE. Vaccine european new integrated collaboration effort. The project. Available at: http://venice.cineca.org/the\_project.html [accessed 05/03/03].
- [12] I\_MOVE Project. I-MOVE in Europe. Available at: https://sites. google.com/site/epiflu/Home [accessed 05/03/03].
- [13] Valenciano M, Ciancio B; I-MOVE study team. I-MOVE: a European network to measure the effectiveness of influenza vaccines. Euro Surveill 2012;17:pii: 20281.
- [14] Valenciano M, Kissling E, Cohen JM, Oroszi B, Barret AS, Rizzo C, Nunes B, Pitigoi D, Larrauri Cámara A, Mosnier A, Horvath JK, O'Donnell J, Bella A, Guiomar R, Lupulescu E, Savulescu C, Ciancio BC, Kramarz P, Moren A. Estimates of

pandemic influenza vaccine effectiveness in Europe, 2009-2010: results of Influenza Monitoring Vaccine Effectiveness in Europe (I-MOVE) multicentre case-control study. PLoS Med 2011;8:e1000388.

[15] Lopalco PL, DeStefano F. The complementary roles of Phase 3 trials and post-licensure surveillance in the evaluation of new vaccines. Vaccine 2015;33:1541-8.

- [16] EMA. Eudravigilance, pharmacovigilance in the European Economic Area. Available at: https://eudravigilance.ema.europa.eu/highres.htm [Accessed 05/03/03].
- [17] VAESCO. Vaccine adverse events surveillance and communication. Available at: https://brightoncollaboration.org/vaesco.html [Accessed 05/03/03].
- [18] Dieleman J, Romio S, Johansen K, Weibel D, Bonhoeffer J, Sturkenboom M; VAESCO-GBS Case-Control Study Group. Guillain-Barre syndrome and adjuvanted pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 vaccine: multinational case-control study in Europe. BMJ 2011;343:d3908.
- [19] Romio S, Weibel D, Dieleman JP, Olberg HK, de Vries CS, Sammon C, Andrews N, Svanström H, Mølgaard-Nielsen D, Hviid A, Lapeyre-Mestre M, Sommet A, Saussier C, Castot A, Heijbel H, Arnheim-Dahlström L, Sparen P, Mosseveld M, Schuemie M, van der Maas N, Jacobs BC, Leino T, Kilpi T, Storsaeter J, Johansen K, Kramarz P, Bonhoeffer J, Sturkenboom MC. *Guillain-Barré syndrome and adjuvanted pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 vaccines: a multinational self-controlled case series in Europe.* PLoS One 2014;9:e82222.
- [20] Nohynek H, Jokinen J, Partinen M, Vaarala O, Kirjavainen T, Sundman J, Himanen SL, Hublin C, Julkunen I, Olsén P, Saarenpää-Heikkilä O, Kilpi T. AS03 adjuvanted AH1N1 vaccine associated with an abrupt increase in the incidence of childhood narcolepsy in Finland. PLoS One 2012;7:e33536.
- [21] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Narcolepsy in association with pandemic influenza vaccination (a multicountry European epidemiological investigation) Stockholm: ECDC; September 2012. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/ en/publications/Publications/Vaesco%20report%20FINAL%20 with%20cover.pdf [Accessed 05/03/03].
- [22] EU Commission. Decision on serious cross-border threats to health. 2013. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/health/preparedness\_response/policy/decision/index\_en.htm [Accessed 05/03/03].

■ Received on January 14, 2016. Accepted on February 22, 2016.

Correspondence: Pier Luigi Lopalco, Department of Biomedical Science and Human Oncology, University of Bari, Policlinico, piazza Giulio Cesare 11, 70124 Bari, Italy - E-mail pierluigi.lopalco@uniba.it

.....

### The sustainability of influenza vaccination programs: considerations and perspectives from Italy

A. POSCIA<sup>1</sup>, J. STOJANOVIC<sup>1</sup>, W. RICCIARDI<sup>1, 2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Section of Hygiene, Institute of Public Health, Catholic University of Rome, Italy; <sup>2</sup>National Health Institute, Rome, Italy

#### Keywords

Influenza • Vaccine sustainability • Elderly

#### Summary

Influenza constitutes an annually recurring threat to society, from both the clinical and economic points of view. The impact of influenza is often underestimated, especially among frail elderly people, who are at increased risk of serious complications, including hospitalization and death. In Italy, around 10 million individuals aged 65 years and older are at risk of contracting influenza, and it can be estimated that the lack of a vaccination strategy would lead to more than 2 million cases and about 30,000 deaths. However, adherence to routinely recommended adult immunizations remains suboptimal despite the availability of safe and effective

#### Introduction

Influenza is considered a highly contagious respiratory illness, mainly because unstable viruses periodically drift and shift their antigens from one season to another to evade the immune system.

Annual winter outbreaks of influenza are a major cause of morbidity and mortality, especially among frail elderly people, who are at increased risk of serious complications, including hospitalization and death [1].

Although the public perception in many countries is that seasonal influenza is a mild illness, with a low to negligible impact on health and economies, annual influenza attack rates range from 5-10% in adults to 20-30% in children, generating high healthcare costs and placing a significant clinical and economic burden on patients and society [2].

Worldwide, these annual epidemics are estimated to result in about 3 to 5 million cases of severe illness, and about 250,000 to 500,000 deaths [3]. From 1976 to 2007, individuals aged  $\ge 65$  years accounted for approximately 90% of all influenza-related deaths in the USA. Furthermore, during the period 1999-2010, it was estimated in the UK that 2.5-8.1% of deaths among those aged  $\ge 75$  years were due to influenza [4].

Founded in 1999, Influnet is an Italian network of sentinel physicians, it aims to monitor seasonal trends in influenza-like syndromes (influenza-like illness, ILI) in the population. According to the estimates made from the data gathered, ILI affects 4-12% of the population vaccines. Indeed, a monitoring program from the National Institute of Health in Italy has shown that influenza vaccination coverage in the elderly dropped to 49% in the 2014-2015 season, which is far below the maximum values (68%) recorded in the 2005-2006 season. The current situation in Italy imposes a need for greater sustainability in order to face the challenges related to the changing epidemiological situation, demographic transition and social transformations. Our review sums up the key elements of influenza vaccine sustainability and makes suggestions for improving the organizational structure of the present initiatives.

each year, with an average of 7.5% recorded in the period 2011-2014 [5].

The clinical impact of seasonal influenza epidemics in Europe has recently been extrapolated from American data. According to these estimates, in Italy about 6,000 deaths and 38,000 excess hospitalizations are attributable to influenza [6].

The economic impact of influenza primarily involves healthcare resource utilization by elderly and high-risk groups and work absenteeism among otherwise healthy working adults [7]. In 2013, the costs attributable to the four main adult Vaccine-Preventable Diseases (VPD) in the United States were estimated to be around \$ 26 billion, with influenza accounting for the majority of cases of adult VPD (81% of adults aged 50 and older and 77% of adults aged 65 and older). Moreover, the highest annual costs (medical and indirect costs) were indeed related to influenza. Influenza accounted for \$ 16,0 billion (60%) of the cost among adults older than 50 years and \$ 8,3 billion (54%) among those aged 65 and older [8]. From the patient perspective, an average episode of ILI and clinically diagnosed influenza in the out-of-hospital Belgian general population costs € 51-53 in direct medical costs, 4 days of absence from work or school and the loss of 0.005 quality-adjusted life-years [9]. In Italy, the average length of absence from work or school is around 4.8 days, and 10% of all work absences are due to influenza. The total cost of each case of influenza is estimated to be about € 330 [10], with indirect costs accounting for a further € 364-774 (values from 2011) [11].

Considering that in Italy there are nearly 10 million individuals aged 65 years and older who are at risk of contracting influenza, it can be estimated that the lack of a vaccination strategy would lead to more than 2 million cases and about 30,000 deaths. Indeed, vaccination has the potential to reduce the number of cases to 1,3-1,5 million. Hence, the reduction in the number of hospital admissions would eventually lead to a reduction in healthcare costs of up to € 80 million (specifically, after administration of vaccines containing adjuvants) [10]. In this regard, one Italian study analyzed data gathered from the cohort of elderly individuals in the Liguria Region; the authors estimated that the costs resulting from hospitalization due to influenza were 5 times higher among non-vaccinated subjects than vaccinated subjects [12]. Moreover, vaccination targeting people from 50 to 64 years old in Italy has the potential to avoid about 100,000 cases of ILI (about 10% of the total), 3,000 hospitalizations (60%), 232 deaths (out of a total of 989) and more than 110,000 days of lost work [6].

## European and national strategies and sustainability of influenza vaccination

Bearing in mind the clinical, economic and social impacts of influenza, the World Health Organization has proposed vaccination as a cost-effective and a cost-beneficial tool for preventing serious forms and complications of influenza, and reducing premature mortality in groups at increased risk of serious illness.

In Italy, the 2012-2014 National Immunization Prevention Plan introduced influenza vaccination for the elderly (65 years and over), with coverage targets of 75% (minimum achievable goal) and 95% (optimal goal in the target population). The objective was to reduce individual risk of illness, hospitalization and death, and the related social costs. In addition, several countries have lowered the age threshold to 60 or 50 years for free-of-charge influenza vaccination. These decisions were based on pharmacoeconomic evaluations, which proved that this age-based approach was sustainable, cost-effective and also cost-saving, owing to the increased probability of adherence to vaccination by the population. This approach, together with the analysis published in 2012 by the Italian Society of Hygiene (SItI) [13], prompted the Italian Ministry of Health to launch a thorough discussion among all stakeholders, in order to assess the possibility of progressively reducing the age threshold in the upcoming national anti-influenza recommendations.

Although infectious diseases in older adults have a huge burden, adherence to routinely recommended adult immunizations across Europe remains suboptimal, despite the availability of safe and effective vaccines [1]. Still, vaccination is considered the most efficacious public health tool currently available to protect elderly individuals against influenza [4].

European data indicate that vaccination coverage in groups at risk (patients with concomitant disease) is around 35% [10]. In Italy, monitoring carried out by

Fig. 1. Influenza vaccination: vaccination coverage in the elderly (age > = 65 years) (per 100 inhabitants) Seasons 1999-2000/2014-2015 (Source: Ministry of Health – ISS, based on the summaries submitted by the Regions and Autonomous Provinces of Italy).



the National Institute of Health has shown a progressive decline in coverage from the maximum value (68%) recorded in the 2005-2006 season. The lowest levels, reached in the 2014-2015 influenza season, indicated that national coverage had dropped to 49%, another 5 percentage points below the previous season (Fig. 1). This decline in coverage is affecting all Italian regions, with reductions ranging from a minimum value in Lombardy (-3.3%) to a maximum value in Abruzzo (-28.0%), and is depressing Italian coverage rates to the levels estimated fifteen years ago. This situation is making it increasingly difficult for Italy to achieve the European target coverage [14] and must surely prompt profound reflection. Indeed, it is essential to implement measures aimed at turning this situation around; a prerequisite to achieving this is understanding why vaccination, which has been unquestionably successful, is shunned by so many people.

While disaffection with vaccination can be partly attributed to the growing number of anti-vaccination campaigns, it stems in large part from the difficulties that the National Health System has in allocating the human/financial resources needed to carry out effective information campaigns directed towards citizens and healthcare workers. The problem of resource allocation is common to many prevention activities that involve immediate costs but yield medium/long-term results. Moreover, these results are often hardly visible, as the success of such initiatives lies in the non-occurrence of a negative event, and therefore a "non-event". This presumably explains why the funding of prevention programs in Italy has traditionally been even lower than the already limited 5% established in the planning documents.

While the European Union has more than doubled its funds for immunization worldwide, from  $\notin$  10 million to  $\notin$  25 million for the period 2014-2020, Italy is experiencing a decrease in expenditure on vaccines and a series of difficulties in approving a new national preventive vaccination plan [10]. Indeed, last year's data from OSMED (National Observatory on Drug Use) indicated a 21.2% reduction in spending on influenza vaccines: around  $\notin$  39 million in total [15, 16]. At the same time, however, around 41.0% of subjects diagnosed with a viral infection of the upper respiratory tract (influenza, cold, acute laryngotracheitis) received an inappropriate antibiotic prescription. This exemplifies how the initial failure to pay for vaccine administration later impacts on patients in terms of increased disease risk and treatment costs.

Bearing in mind the need for the widespread administration of influenza vaccine and the complexities of its distribution, it is obvious just how crucial it is to have a comprehensive communication plan and well-designed infrastructure in order to ensure a maximally effective system of influenza prevention [17]. A clear influenza vaccination policy is essential and the lack of one is a key obstacle to influenza programs. Each country currently handles its own vaccination program/policy, and the lack of international coordination results in the wide variability of vaccine supplies and population targets, thereby potentially exacerbating inequalities at the international and national levels. Furthermore, discrepancies in several choices may be difficult for citizens to understand and could facilitate the activities of the antivaccination movements.

Communication supports the development and implementation of these policies and transforms them into a language that will resonate with policy-makers, partners and the public. A recent study on vaccine programs for European citizens aged 60 years and older showed that, in addition to improved access to vaccines, communication and the awareness of vaccine-preventable diseases, as promoted through an efficient system of reminders, recalls and information, are the main parameters leading to success in establishing a vaccine program [18]. Strategies targeted at increasing positive attitudes, such as health education by means of educational videos, may enhance vaccine acceptance and improve knowledge and attitudes in the elderly [19].

Strengthening the communication capacities of the various contributors to influenza programs should ensure that all stakeholders, especially the public and the media, have access to available resources, tools and scientific expertise. Also, promoting communication between scientists and practitioners should create a suitable environment for transparent information sharing with all the stakeholders. Moreover, communication needs to be adapted to the various local and cultural situations (language, content of information, and means of communication). Not only should communication be go beyond pure messaging and providing information; monitoring and evaluation of the communication process is also critical. Various tools could be used for these purposes, such as social network analysis, surveys, interviews etc., and the results should be used to adjust decision-making processes at the political, programmatic and technical levels.

Reaching out to the subjects that need to be involved is generally not enough to gain public support for prevention programs. The training of health workers, who ought to be motivated and committed to the individual and collective interests of vaccinations, is essential. Indeed, non-adherence to vaccination often stems more from the lack of motivation of educational trainers than from opposition on the part of families. The key role of healthcare workers in promoting access to and awareness and acceptance of, influenza vaccination should not be taken for granted, and strengthening the role of healthcare providers is of the highest importance. At the same time, it is very important that people living with or caring for aging adults get vaccinated. Healthcare personnel are in regular contact with at-risk populations, and strategies for improving vaccination rates among health employees are absolutely essential [20].

Vaccine services should have an efficient organizational structure in order to satisfy the needs of the population and ensure the success of vaccination programs. In this regard, the evaluation of vaccination coverage enables identification of the areas where infectious diseases may occur more easily. Therefore, the influenza vaccination coverage is a key indicator for assessing the effectiveness of vaccine supply, especially in such target population groups as the elderly.

Implementing a computerized system of vaccine registries (computerized immunization registries) connected with municipal registry offices should be seen as a prerequisite to increasing the quality of immunization services, and should be integrated with other existing databases, such as those of sentinel sites, population-based studies, hospitals and out-patient clinics and regional authorities. Indeed, the absence of an accurate surveillance system is considered one of the main obstacles to establishing evidence-based policies to reduce the impact of influenza nationally.

#### Conclusions

Influenza constitutes a serious health threat, especially for vulnerable populations such as older adults. The importance of promoting healthy aging and increasing vaccination coverage, by sustaining a life-course immunisation approach to limit the burden of the disease, is evident. The current economic and socio-political climate, which is characterized by scant resources and cost-cutting, imposes on our healthcare system the need for a new model of sustainability - one which would be able to face the new challenges related to the changing epidemiological situation, demographic transition and great social transformations. In this regard, financial difficulties could be seen as an opportunity to enhance vaccine prevention as part of a system that makes good health investments that impact positively on direct and indirect healthcare costs.

In addition, not only should the costs of a vaccination campaign be programmed; they could also be notably lower than the unpredictable costs of the disease that is to be avoided, thus confirming that investment in prevention promotes the efficient use of human and financial resources.

The need to support public health and to stress the social and economic value of vaccination is now greater than ever. Communication and the awareness of vaccine-preventable diseases in the general community is an important starting point, and all healthcare professionals and public health/social workers can play a key role in this regard.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding declared for this overview.

#### References

- [1] Michel J. Updated vaccine guidelines for aging and aged citizens of Europe. Expert Rev Vaccines 2010;9:7-10.
- [2] Peasah SK, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Breese J, Meltzer MI, Widdowson MA. *Influenza cost and cost-effectiveness studies globally-a review*. Vaccine 2013;31:5339-48.
- World Health Organization. *Influenza (Seasonal)*, 2014. Available at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs211/en/ [Accessed 15/01/2016]
- World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Report No.:47;2012 Nov. Available at: http://www.who.int/wer [Accessed 15/01/2016].
- [5] Del Manso M, Rota M.C, Declich S, Giannitelli S, Nacca G, Rizzo C, Bella A per il Gruppo di lavoro INFLUNET. *Rappor*to sulla stagione influenzale 2013-2014, INFLUNET: sistema di sorveglianza sentinella delle sindromi influenzali in Italia, 2015. Report number: 15/48. Available at: http://www.iss.it/binary/publ/cont/15\_48\_web.pdf. [Accessed 15/01/2016]
- [6] Gasparini R, Amicizia D, Lai PL, Panatto D. *Clinical and socio*economic impact of seasonal and pandemic influenza in adults and the elderly. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2012;8:21-8.
- [7] Postma MJ, Baltussen RP, Palache AM, Wilschut JC. Further evidence for favorable cost-effectiveness of elderly influenza vaccination. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 2006;6:215-27.
- [8] McLaughlin JM, McGinnis JJ, Tan L, Mercatante A, Fortuna J. Estimated human and economic burden of four major adult vaccine-preventable diseases in the United States, 2013. J Prim Prev 2015;36:259-73.
- [9] Bilcke J, Coenen S, Beutels P. Influenza-like-illness and clinically diagnosed flu: disease burden, costs and quality of life for patients seeking ambulatory care or no professional care at all. PLoS One 2014;9:e102634.
- [10] Avolio M, Di Pietro ML, Marino M, Sabetta T, Solipaca A. Prevenzione come garanzia di sostenibilità e sviluppo del Servizio

Sanitario Nazionale. I Report – Prevenzione Vaccinale. Roma. Istituto di Sanità Pubblica-Sezione Igiene, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, 2015. Available at: http://www.avis.it/ userfiles/file/News/giugno 2015/Report Prevenzione Vaccinale. pdf. [Accessed 15/01/2016].

[11] Colombo GL, Ferro A, Vinci M, Zordan M, Serra G. Cost-benefit analysis of influenza vaccination in a public healthcare unit. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2006;2:219-26.

- [12] Gasparini R, Lucioni C, Lai P, Maggioni P, Sticchi L, Durando P, Morelli P, Comino I, Calderisi S, Crovari P. Cost-benefit evaluation of influenza vaccination in the elderly in the Italian region of Liguria. Vaccine 2002;20(Suppl 5):B50-4.
- [13] Bonanni P, Gasparini R, Greco D, Mennini FS, Rossi A, Signorelli C. Abbassamento dell'età di raccomandazione della vaccinazione anti-influenzale a 60 anni: una scelta per la salute e per l'economia del Paese. Societa Italiana di Igiene (SITI). Available at: http://www.societaitalianaigiene.org/site/new/images/docs/gdl/vaccini/201360enni.pdf [Accessed 15/01/2016]
- [14] Direzione Generale della Prevenzione. Coperture vaccinali. Ministero della Salute. Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/ imgs/C\_17\_tavole\_19\_allegati\_iitemAllegati\_0\_fileAllegati\_ itemFile\_3\_file.pdf [Accessed 16/01/2016]
- [15] Osservatorio Nazionale sull'Impiego dei Medicinali, Agenzia Italiana del Farmaco. L'uso dei farmaci in Italia. Rapporto Nazionale, Roma 2015 Jan-Sept. Available at: http://www.agenziafarmaco.gov.it/sites/default/files/Rapporto\_OsMed\_gennaio\_settembre\_2015.pdf [Accessed 16/01/2016]
- [16] Osservatorio Nazionale sull'Impiego dei Medicinali, Agenzia Italiana del Farmaco. L'uso dei farmaci in Italia. Rapporto Nazionale 2014, Roma 2015. Available at: http://www.agenziafarmaco.gov.it/sites/default/files/Rapporto\_OsMed\_2014\_0.pdf [Accessed 16/01/2016]
- [17] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Enhancing Communication around Influenza Vaccination. Workshop. Atlanta (USA), 2013 June. Available at: http://www.who.int/influenza\_vaccines\_plan/resources/Summary\_report\_communication\_workshop\_GAP\_2013.pdf [Accessed 17/01/2016]
- [18] Michel JP, Chidiac C, Grubeck-Loebenstein B, Johnson RW, Lambert PH, Maggi S, Moulias R, Nicholson K, Werner H. Coalition of advocates to vaccinate of Western European citizens aged 60 years and older. Aging Clin Exp Res 2009;21:254-7.
- [19] Worasathit R, Wattana W, Okanurak K, Songthap A, Dhitavat J, Pitisuttithum P. Health education and factors influencing acceptance of and willingness to pay for influenza vaccination among older adults. BMC Geriatr 2015;15:136.
- [20] Influenza Vaccination of Health Care Personnel. National action plan to prevent health care-associated infections: road map to elimination. Dept. of Health & Human Services (US), 2013 Apr. Available at: http://health.gov/hcq/pdfs/hai-action-planhcp-flu.PDF [Accessed 18/01/2016].

■ Received on January 25, 2016. Accepted on February 25, 2016.

■ Correspondence: Andrea Poscia, Section of Hygiene, Institute of Public Health, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, largo Francesco Vito 1, 00168 Rome, Italy - Tel. +39 06 3015 4396 - Fax +39 06 35001522 - E-mail: andrea.poscia@unicatt.it

### Influenza vaccination in high-risk groups: a revision of existing guidelines and rationale for an evidence-based preventive strategy

C. COSTANTINO, F. VITALE

Department of Science Promotion and Mother to Child Care "G. D'Alessandro", Hygiene Section, University of Palermo, Italy

#### Keywords

Influenza vaccination • Elderly • Chronic diseases • Pregnancy • Healthcare workers

#### Summary

Influenza, an infectious respiratory disease, is one of the main causes of excess winter deaths (EWDs) in Europe. Annual flu epidemics are associated with high morbidity and mortality rates, especially among the elderly, those with underlying health conditions and pregnant women.

Health Care Workers (HCWs) are also considered at high risk of both contracting influenza and spreading the virus to vulnerable patients.

During the 2014/2015 season, the excess winter mortality rates observed in countries of the northern hemisphere (EuroMOMO network) and in Italy (+13%) were strongly related to the intensity of influenza circulation.

#### Introduction

Influenza, an infectious respiratory disease caused by influenza viruses, is one of the main causes of excess winter deaths (EWDs) in Europe [1-3]. Annual flu epidemics are associated with high morbidity and mortality rates, especially among the elderly and those with underlying health conditions; these groups are particularly at risk of developing influenza complications, such as bacterial pneumonia [3, 4].

During the last winter season (2014/2015), the excess of deaths due to all causes observed in fourteen European countries among people  $\geq$  65 years old coincided with an increase in the detection of influenza A(H3N2) viruses by the European influenza surveillance system [5]. In particular, in England and Wales the highest number of EWDs since 1999/2000 was recorded, while in Italy a 13% rate of EWDs was reported [6, 7].

Influenza vaccination is the most important public health intervention to prevent seasonal influenza transmission and infection [3, 4]. In Europe, guidelines and preventive policies for influenza vaccination are primarily focused on protecting individuals at higher risk, both directly by vaccinating these subjects and indirectly by vaccinating those who could infect them [3]. Influenza vaccination is the most important public health intervention to prevent seasonal influenza transmission and infection. However, to date, influenza vaccination coverage reported in Europe (including high-risk groups) is still largely unsatisfactory. This study analyzes some international and European guidelines on influenza vaccination and the rationale that underlies evidence-based public health intervention for the prevention of influenza among the principal high-risk groups: a) the elderly (subjects aged 65 years or older); b) subjects with underlying health conditions; c) pregnant women; d) healthcare workers.

Only by achievement recommended influenza vaccination coverage among high-risk groups in all European countries can we reduce the burden of disease.

This review aims to analyze international and European guidelines on influenza vaccination and the rationale that underlies evidence-based public health intervention for the prevention of influenza. In particular, we will discuss the evidence regarding influenza vaccination among the four principal groups at risk, which constitute key target for preventive strategies: the elderly (subjects aged 65 years or older), subjects with underlying health conditions, pregnant women and healthcare workers.

#### Influenza vaccination among the elderly

In the temperate zones, an increase in expected mortality levels is frequently observed among the elderly during the winter season; this increase, however, largely depends on the season or country [5, 8, 9].

Excess mortality may be related to two main factors: a) seasonal influenza, especially during seasons with a prevalent circulation of influenza A(H3N2), and other respiratory tract infections; b) environmental conditions (e.g. cold spells) [6, 9].

In recent years, several studies have shown the worldwide impact of influenza infection on excess winter mortality rates in the elderly (Tab. I) [5-11].

.....

Authors	Country	Age-class	Years	Prevalence of EWDs attributable to influenza	Influenza virus type
	USA	≥ 75 years	1997-2009	71%	A(H3N2)
Matias et al. [10]	USA	$\geq$ 75 years	1997-2009	50-95% (during all seasons)	В
Nielsen et al. [9]	Denmark	≥ 65 years	1994-2010	82%	A(H3N2)
Thiberville et al. [8]	France	≥ 65 years	1999-2010	6.27 to 13.23 (per 100,000 inhab)	A(H3N2)

Tab. I. Influenza-attributable excess winter mortality (EWDs) in the elderly.

In Europe, a network named EuroMOMO (European monitoring of excess mortality for public health action network) monitors weekly and "real-time" all-cause age-specific excess mortality in European countries through a standardized approach that allows pooling of results [12].

In February and March 2012, an increased number of excess deaths among the elderly was observed in European member countries of the EuroMOMO [12]. This reported excess mortality coincided with late increased influenza activity and was related to a prevalent detection of influenza A(H3N2) by both sentinel and non-sentinel sources (approximately 95%) [11]. This profile of isolation was very different from previous influenza seasons, when influenza A(H1N1) was predominantly isolated; in these seasons, only a minor impact on mortality among the elderly was observed in countries of the northern hemisphere [6, 11]. More recently, a greater number of excess deaths among the elderly was observed during the last winter season (2014/15) and was strongly related to the intensity of influenza circulation, showing a correlation between weeks with excess mortality and medium or high influenza activity (80%) [5-7]. Moreover, the last influenza season in the northern hemisphere was similar to the 2011/2012 season, in that A(H3N2) virus was predominant (56% of detections across the European Community) [13]. It is expected that a winter season in which influenza A(H3N2) is predominant will have a higher impact on mortality among the elderly than a season with predominant influenza A(H1N1) or a season with low influenza A transmission [5, 9]. Influenza A(H3N2) virus has been recognized as having a noticeably greater effect on the elderly than influenza virus A(H1N1), which is particularly virulent in younger people [6]. In addition, in the 2014/15 influenza season, most influenza A(H3N2) viruses characterized in Europe exhibited antigenic differences in comparison with those included in the vaccine formulation; higher morbidity and mortality rates were observed in vaccinated populations [14, 15]. Finally, during the last influenza season in Europe, a lineage B mismatch of the influenza vaccine was frequently observed, which contributed to reducing vaccine efficacy [16, 17]. These data provide strong support for the inclusion of both influenza B lineages in seasonal influenza vaccines [17].

Trends in influenza circulation are strongly correlated with excess winter mortality among the elderly in the northern hemisphere and Europe, highlighting the heavy

burden of disease [5]. In this context, influenza vaccination guidelines issued by the principal public health authorities recommend 75% coverage of seasonal influenza vaccination for individuals aged  $\geq$  65 years [18-20]. However, in the 2011/2012 and 2012/2013 seasons, vaccination coverage in the elderly reached this threshold only in two European countries (the United Kingdom and the Netherlands). All other EU member states reported lower vaccination coverage, varying from 60% (Italy and Spain) to 5-10% (Estonia and Latvia) [21, 22]. In Italy during the last influenza season, influenza vaccination coverage was estimated to have decreased by 25-30% from the overall 2014 level [7, 22]. These data suggested that only high vaccination coverage rates can reduce influenza circulation, the impact of infection and possible variations in vaccine effectiveness among the elderly [18, 19].

.....

## Influenza vaccination among subjects with chronic diseases

Individuals with underlying health conditions are the core target of influenza vaccination. Every disease exacerbates the risk of influenza infection and, in particular, of influenza complications or death [19]. The association of several chronic diseases could constitute a serious risk factor for unvaccinated subjects during the influenza season [22].

According to public health guidelines, all individuals aged > 6 months with at least one chronic illness that constitutes a risk factor for influenza or its complications should be vaccinated [20, 21]. The comorbidities in which influenza vaccination is recommended are reported in Table II.

Despite the strong recommendation to vaccinate subjects with comorbidities, the observed coverage rate remains low. Indeed, there is great debate inside the scientific community, especially among general practitioners and medical specialists, regarding the efficacy and safety of influenza vaccines in chronically ill subjects. One concern regards vaccine efficacy (VE), as such comorbidities are claimed to determine a lower immunological response. However, research has demonstrated a good efficacy profile of influenza vaccines among these population groups [22-25].

An extensive review and meta-analysis published in 2012 assessed influenza vaccination among immunoTab. II. Chronic diseases that increase the risk of contracting influenza, for which influenza vaccination is strongly recommended (mod. from Ministero della Salute, 2016 [21]).

Chronic diseases
Respiratory and pulmonary diseases (COPD, asthma, cystic fibrosis etc.)
Heart diseases (all congenital or acquired heart conditions)
Diabetes mellitus or any other metabolic diseases (including individuals with BMI > 30)
Chronic renal or adrenal gland failure
Any type of cancer (also during radio- and chemotherapy)
Hematological diseases or hemoglobinopathies
Congenital or acquired immunodeficiency (pharmacological, AIDS etc.)
Chronic inflammatory bowel disease and inadequate intestinal absorption syndrome
Chronic hepatic diseases
Neuromuscular diseases or any disease at risk for aspiration of respiratory secretions

compromised patients [26]. The study demonstrated that transplant recipients and patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection or cancer had significantly lower odds of contracting influenza-like illness after vaccination. Moreover, compared with patients receiving placebo or no vaccination, vaccinated HIVpositive patients had lower odds of laboratory-confirmed influenza. Influenza vaccination was generally well tolerated [26].

Another prospective, non-interventional cohort study was conducted during the 2010/2011 influenza season among more than 800 adult cancer patients in Israel [27]. A lower mortality rate was observed among vaccinated cancer patients than unvaccinated ones, even though a statistical association with complications due to influenza infection was not demonstrated [27]. Furthermore, a large (7,772 subjects with COPD aged  $\geq$  55 years) cohort study conducted from 1996 to 2008 in Taiwan by Sung et al. found a reduction in hospitalizations for acute coronary syndrome among vaccinated people [28]. The protective effects were observed in both sexes and all age-groups examined (55-64, 65-74,  $\geq$  75), regardless of influenza seasonality. When the patients were stratified according to the total number of vaccinations, the adjusted Hazard Ratios (HRs) for acute coronary syndrome hospitalization were 0.48 for patients who received 2-3 vaccinations and 0.20 for patients who received  $\geq 4$ vaccinations [28].

Influenza vaccination was also associated with a 24% reduction in stroke risk in a case-control study conducted in the UK from 2001 to 2009 [29]. Specifically, stroke risk was significantly lower following early (September to mid-November), but not later, influenza vaccination (mid-November onwards) [29].

### Influenza vaccination among pregnant women

Influenza may be a frequent infection during pregnancy [30, 31]. In particular, pregnant women appear to have an increased risk of severe disease, especially during annual epidemics and pandemics [32, 33]. As reported by Louie et al., the pandemic influenza A(H1N1) in 2009 caused severe illness and death especially among pregnant and postpartum women [34]. Conducted in California, their study analyzed all women hospitalized during the first wave of pandemic influenza (from April to August 2009), 42.6% (N = 102/239) of whom were pregnant or in postpartum. Overall, 18 pregnant and 4 postpartum women (22%) required intensive care, while 8% died [34]. The severity of influenza among pregnant women observed in California is consistent with an increased risk of severe disease and the disproportionate number of influenza-associated deaths that has been documented for seasonal influenza and previous pandemics [35-37] The main difference was the rapid clinical deterioration observed in some patients in comparison with the typical course of seasonal influenza [34].

Moreover, in the Hungarian case-control surveillance of congenital abnormalities conducted from 1980 to 1996, Nandor et al. found a higher prevalence of maternal influenza during the second and/or third month of pregnancy in newborns with cleft lip-palate, neural-tube defects and cardiovascular malformations. The authors supposed that the teratogenic effect due to influenza viruses was probably associated with fever, as this risk was reduced by the use of antifever drugs [38].

On the other hand, several studies have demonstrated the efficacy and safety of influenza vaccination during the second and third trimesters of pregnancy. With regard to efficacy, Thompson et al. conducted a population-based case-control study during two consecutive influenza seasons (2010-2011 and 2011-2012) and showed a lower risk of Acute Respiratory Illness (ARI) associated with laboratory-confirmed influenza in vaccinated pregnant women [35]. The reported VE was similar to that observed among all adults during these seasons (VE against influenza A and B: 44%; 95% confidence interval 5-67%) [35, 36]. Moreover, a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of influenza vaccine conducted in South Africa in 2011 demonstrated that influenza vaccine was immunogenic in both HIV-uninfected and HIV-infected pregnant women and provided partial protection for infants who were not exposed to HIV [37]. With regard to safety, Ludvigsson et al. found no excess mortality in the offspring of women who had been vaccinated against influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 during pregnancy. Moreover,

.....

the authors noted that maternal A(H1N1) vaccination during any trimester of pregnancy had no adverse effects on children in either the early neonatal period or early childhood [39]. In 2015, McMillan et al. published a review on safety outcomes of influenza vaccination during pregnancy. In their quantitative analysis, maternal influenza vaccination was not associated with an increased risk of fetal death, spontaneous abortion or congenital malformations [40].

For all these reasons, international and national guidelines now strongly recommend influenza vaccination for all pregnant women in the second and third trimesters, in order to protect them and their children during late pregnancy and to protect their infants during the first six months after birth through the induction of immunity that would otherwise not be achievable [19-21].

## Influenza vaccination among health-care workers

Influenza vaccination among health-care workers (HC-Ws) is considered to be the most important strategy for preventing the transmission of influenza viruses to vulnerable patients and minimizing absenteeism among HCWs during annual epidemics [19, 41, 42]. Indeed, hospitalized patients may acquire influenza not only from other patients or visitors but also from hospital employees. Elder et al. estimated a 20% influenza infection rate among HCWs each season [43]. Many HCWs continue working while infected, thereby spreading the virus [43]. Therefore, vaccinating medical personnel against influenza is the most effective strategy for preventing nosocomial influenza transmission and reducing influenza-like illness (ILI) mortality among elderly and high-risk patients [42, 44]. Although this is recognized and emphasized by all public health agencies worldwide, influenza vaccination coverage among HCWs remain lower than 75% [19-21].

Adherence to influenza vaccination does not seem to depend on physicians' age or specialty [45-48]. In some non-European countries, mandatory vaccination plays a decisive role in the vaccination of HCWs, and the immunization rates observed in such countries are very far from those observed in Europe [49, 50]. However, it is difficult to apply mandatory vaccination in the European context, for such reasons as staff morale, civil liberty and professional autonomy [51]. Indeed, some studies have reported that HCWs prefer other strategies for promoting influenza vaccination; specifically, it has been demonstrated that appropriate training through multidisciplinary courses, adequate university education and proactive attitudes on the part of coworkers can improve influenza vaccination coverage [51, 52].

One of the main goals of public health authorities should be to promote proper attitudes towards and knowledge of influenza vaccination among HCWs, since this is the best means of protecting both them and their patients. Moreover, HCWs should have appropriate skills in counseling patients with regard to the importance of

influenza vaccination, especially among the high-risk classes of individuals analyzed in this review [52].

#### Conclusions

On the basis of the winter mortality rates observed in recent years both in countries of the northern hemisphere and in Italy, influenza is one of the leading causes of death. In particular, the elderly, subjects with comorbidities, pregnant women and HCWs are at higher risk of contracting influenza and its complications. Worldwide, vaccination is the only recognized strategy for preventing influenza circulation, transmission and infection, and all principal sanitary authorities recommend vaccination for these high-risk groups.

In the future, the most important target for preventive medicine will to achieve the recommended influenza vaccination coverage in all European countries, in order to reduce the burden of disease and minimize mortality [5-7, 53].

#### **Competing interests**

Francesco Vitale was a member of the advisory board on behalf of Glaxo Smith-Kline<sup>®</sup>, Pfizer<sup>®</sup>, Novartis<sup>®</sup> and Sanofi-Pasteur<sup>®</sup>. He has also spoken at International, National and Regional Conferences on the invitation of Glaxo Smith-Kline<sup>®</sup> and Pfizer<sup>®</sup>. Claudio Costantino has spoken at National and Regional Conferences on the invitation of Glaxo Smith-Kline<sup>®</sup>.

#### References

- Brammer TL, Murray EL, Fukuda K, Hall HE, Klimov A, Cox NJ. Surveillance for influenza – United States, 1997-98, 1998-99, and 1999-00 seasons. MMWR Surveill Summ 2002;51:1-10.
- [2] Schanzer DL, McGeer A, Morris K. Statistical estimates of respiratory admissions attributable to seasonal and pandemic influenza for Canada. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2013;7:799-808.
- [3] ECDC Technical Report. Seasonal influenza vaccination in Europe: overview of vaccination recommendations and coverage rates in the EU Member States for the 2012-13 influenza season. Available online at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/Seasonal-influenza-vaccination-Europe-2012-13. pdf [Accessed 08/02/2016].
- [4] Bonmarin I, Belchior E, Lévy-Bruhl D. Impact of influenza vaccination on mortality in the French elderly population during the 2000-2009 period. Vaccine 2015;33:1099-101.
- [5] Molbak K, Espenhain L, Nielsen J, Tersago K, Bossuyt N, Denissov G, Baburin A, Virtanen M, Fouillet A, Sideroglou T, Gkolfinopoulou K, Paldy A, Bobvos J, van Asten L, de Lange M, Nunes B, da Silva S, Larrauri A, Gomez IL, Tsoumanis A, Junker C, Green H, Pebody R, McMenamin J, Reynolds A, Mazick A. *Excess mortality among the elderly in European countries*, *December 2014 to February 2015*. Euro Surveill 2015;20.
- [6] Office of National Statistics. Excess Winter Mortality in England and Wales 2014/15 (Provisional) and 2013/14 (Final). Available online at: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171778\_425192. pdf [Accessed 08/02/2016].

[7] Michelozzi P, De Donato F, Scortichini M, De Sario M, Asta F, Agabiti N, Guerra R, de Martino A, Davoli M. On the increase in mortality in Italy in 2015: analysis of seasonal mortality in the 32 municipalities included in the Surveillance system of daily mortality. Epidemiol Prev 2016;40:22-8.

- [8] Thiberville SD, Gaudart J, Raoult D, Charrel RN. Influenzaattributable deaths in south-eastern France (1999 to 2010): mortality predictions were undependable. BMC Public Health 2015;15:539.
- [9] Nielsen J, Mazick A, Glismann S, Mølbak K. Excess mortality related to seasonal influenza and extreme temperatures in Denmark, 1994-2010. BMC Infect Dis 2011;11:350.
- [10] Matias G, Taylor R, Haguinet F, Schuck-Paim C, Lustig R, Shinde V. Estimates of mortality attributable to influenza and RSV in the United States during 1997-2009 by influenza type or subtype, age, cause of death, and risk status. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2014;8:507-15.
- [11] European monitoring of excess mortality for public health action network. Available online at: http://www.euromomo.eu/ [Accessed 11/02/2016]
- [12] Mazick A, Gergonne B, Nielsen J, Tersago K, Bossuyt N, Denissov G, Baburin A, Virtanen M, Fouillet A, Sideroglou T, Gkolfinopoulou K, Paldy A, Bobvos J, van Asten L, de Lange M, Nunes B, da Silva S, Larrauri A, Gomez IL, Tsoumanis A, Junker C, Green H, Pebody R, McMenamin J, Reynolds A, Mazick A. Excess mortality among the elderly in 12 European countries, February and March 2012. Euro Surveill 2012;17.
- [13] ECDC/WHO. FluNews Europe. Joint ECDC/WHO Europe weekly influenza update bulletin. Available online from: http:// www.flunewseurope.org/ (last accessed 11/02/2016)
- [14] Signorelli C, Odone A, Conversano M, Bonanni P. Deaths after Fluad flu vaccine and the epidemic of panic in Italy. BMJ 2015;350:h116.
- [15] van der Werf S, Levy-Bruhl D. Influenza the need to stay ahead of the virus. Euro Surveill 2015;20:21030.
- [16] Mosnier A, Caini S, Daviaud I, Bensoussan JL, Stoll-Keller F, Bui TT, Lina B, Van der Werf S, Cohen JM; GROG network. *Ten influenza seasons in France: distribution and timing of influenza A and B circulation, 2003-2013.* BMC Infect Dis 2015;15:357.
- [17] Heikkinen T, Ikonen N, Ziegler T. Impact of influenza B lineage-level mismatch between trivalent seasonal influenza vaccines and circulating viruses, 1999-2012. Clin Infect Dis 2014;59:1519-24.
- [18] Pebody R, Warburton F, Andrews N, Thompson C, von Wissmann B, Green HK, Cottrell S, Johnston J, de Lusignan S, Moore C, Gunson R, Robertson C, McMenamin J, Zambon M. Low effectiveness of seasonal influenza vaccine in preventing laboratory-confirmed influenza in primary care in the United Kingdom: 2014/15 mid-season results. Euro Surveill 2015;20:21025.
- [19] Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. Prevention and control of Influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 Influenza Season. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2015;64:818-25.
- [20] ECDC. Seasonal influenza vaccines. Influenza vaccination. Available online from: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/ seasonal\_influenza/vaccines/Pages/influenza\_vaccination. aspx#vaccinationstrategies [Accessed 11/02/2016].
- [21] Ministero della Salute. Piano Nazionale Prevenzione Vaccinale. Prevenzione e controllo dell'influenza: raccomandazioni per la stagione 2015-2016. Available online from: http://www.salute. gov.it/portale/news/p3\_2\_1\_1\_1.jsp?lingua=italiano&menu=n otizie&p=dalministero&id=2218 [Accessed 12/02/2016]
- [22] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Seasonal influenza vaccination in Europe: overview of vaccination recommendations and coverage rates in the EU Member States for the 2012-13 influenza season. (2015). Available online from: http://

ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/Seasonal-influenzavaccination-Europe-2012-13.pdf [Accessed 12/02/2016].

- [23] Fischer WA, Gongz M, Bhagwanjeex S, Sevransky J. Global burden of influenza as a cause of cardiopulmonary morbidity and mortality. Glob Heart 2014;9:325-36.
- [24] Beck CR, McKenzie BC, Hashim AB. Influenza vaccination for immunocompromised patients: systematic review and metaanalysis by etiology. J Infect Dis 2012;206:1250-9.
- [25] Sheridan PA, Paich HA, Handy J, Karlsson EA, Schultz-Cherry S, Hudgens M, Weir S, Noah T, Beck MA. *The antibody response to influenza vaccination is not impaired in type 2 diabetics.* Vaccine 2015;33:3306-13.
- [26] Beck CR, McKenzie BC, Hashim AB, Harris RC, Zanuzdana A, Agboado G, Orton E, Béchard-Evans L, Morgan G, Stevenson C, Weston R, Mukaigawara M, Enstone J, Augustine G, Butt M, Kim S, Puleston R, Dabke G, Howard R, O'Boyle J, O'Brien M, Ahyow L, Denness H, Farmer S, Figureroa J, Fisher P, Greaves F, Haroon M, Haroon S, Hird C, Isba R, Ishola DA, Kerac M, Parish V, Roberts J, Rosser J, Theaker S, Wallace D, Wigglesworth N, Lingard L, Vinogradova Y, Horiuchi H, Peñalver J, Nguyen-Van-Tam JS. *Influenza vaccination for immunocompromised patients: summary of a systematic review and metaanalysis.* Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2013;7(Suppl 2):72-5.
- [27] Vinograd I, Eliakim-Raz N, Farbman L, Baslo R, Taha A, Sakhnini A, Lador A, Stemmer SM, Gafter-Gvili A, Leibovici L, Paul M. *Clinical effectiveness of seasonal influenza vaccine among adult cancer patients.* Cancer 2013;119:4028-35.
- [28] Sung LC, Chen CI, Fang YA, Lai CH, Hsu YP, Cheng TH, Miser JS, Liu JC. Influenza vaccination reduces hospitalization for acute coronary syndrome in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a population-based cohort study. Vaccine 2014;32:3843-9.
- [29] Siriwardena AN, Asghar Z, Coupland CC. Influenza and pneumococcal vaccination and risk of stroke or transient ischaemic attack-matched case control study. Vaccine 2014;32:1354-61.
- [30] Neuzil KM, Reed GW, Mitchel EF, Simonsen L, Griffin MR. Impact of influenza on acute cardiopulmonary hospitalizations in pregnant women. Am J Epidemiol 1998;148:1094-102.
- [31] Dodds L, McNeil SA, Fell DB, Allen VM, Coombs A, Scott J, MacDonald N. Impact of influenza exposure on rates of hospital admissions and physician visits because of respiratory illness among pregnant women. CMAJ 2007;176:463-8.
- [32] Freeman DW, Barno A. *Deaths from Asian influenza associated with pregnancy*. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1959;78:1172-5.
- [33] Rasmussen SA, Jamieson DJ, Bresee S. Pandemic influenza and pregnant women. Emerg Infect Dis 2008;14:95-100.
- [34] Louie JK, Acosta M, Jamieson DJ, Honein MA; California Pandemic (H1N1) Working Group. Severe 2009 H1N1 influenza in pregnant and postpartum women in California. N Engl J Med 2010;362:27-35.
- [35] Thompson MG, Li DK, Shifflett P, Sokolow LZ, Ferber JR, Kurosky S, Bozeman S, Reynolds SB, Odouli R, Henninger ML, Kauffman TL, Avalos LA, Ball S, Williams JL, Irving SA, Shay DK, Naleway AL; Pregnancy and Influenza Project Workgroup. *Effectiveness of* seasonal trivalent influenza vaccine for preventing influenza virus illness among pregnant women: a population-based case-control study during the 2010-2011 and 2011-2012 influenza seasons. Clin Inf Dis 2014;58:449-57.
- [36] Kissling E, Valenciano M; Team IMC-CS. Early estimates of seasonal influenza vaccine effectiveness in Europe among target groups for vaccination: results from the I-MOVE multicentre case-control study, 2011/12. Euro Surveill 2012;17.
- [37] Madhi SA, Cutland CL, Kuwanda L, Weinberg A, Hugo A, Jones S, Adrian PV, van Niekerk N, Treurnicht F, Ortiz JR, Venter M, Violari A, Neuzil KM, Simões EA, Klugman KP, Nunes MC; Maternal Flu Trial (Matflu) Team. *Influenza vaccination of pregnant women and protection of their infants*. N Engl J Med 2014;371:918-31.

------

- [38] Acs N, Bánhidy F, Puhó E, Czeizel AE. Maternal influenza during pregnancy and risk of congenital abnormalities in offspring. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol 2005;73:989-96.
- [39] Ludvigsson JF, Ström P, Lundholm C. Maternal vaccination against H1N1 influenza and offspring mortality: population based cohort study and sibling design. BMJ 2015;351:h5 585.
- [40] McMillan M, Porritt K, Kralik D, Costi L, Marshall H. Influenza vaccination during pregnancy: a systematic review of fetal death, spontaneous abortion, and congenital malformation safety outcomes. Vaccine 2015;33:2108-17.
- [41] Dolan GP, Harris RC, Clarkson M, Sokal R, Morgan G, Mukaigawara M, Horiuchi H, Hale R, Stormont L, Béchard-Evans L, Chao YS, Eremin S, Martins S, Tam JS, Peñalver J, Zanuzdana A, Nguyen-Van-Tam JS. Vaccination of health care workers to protect patients at increased risk for acute respiratory disease. Emerg Infect Dis 2012;18:1225e1234.
- [42] Amodio E, Restivo V, Firenze A, Mammina C, Tramuto F, Vitale F. Can influenza vaccination coverage among healthcare workers influence the risk of nosocomial influenza-like illness in hospitalized patients? J Hosp Infect 2014;86:182-7.
- [43] Elder AG, O'Donnell B, McCruden EAB, Symington IS, Carman WF. Incidence and recall of influenza in a cohort of Glasgow healthcare workers during the 1993-4 epidemic: results of serum testing and questionnaire. BMJ 1996;313:1241-2.
- [44] Burls A, Jordan R, Barton P, Olowokure B, Wake B, Albon E, Hawker J. Vaccinating healthcare workers against influenza to protect the vulnerable e is it a good use of healthcare resources? A systematic review of the evidence and an economic evaluation. Vaccine 2006;24:4212e4221.
- [45] Little KE, Goodridge S, Lewis H, Lingard SW, Din S, Tidley M, Roberts RJ, Williams NS, Hayes S. Occupational vaccination of health care workers: uptake, attitudes and potential solutions. Public Health 2015;129:755-62.
- [46] Costantino C, Mazzucco W, Azzolini E, Baldini C, Bergomi M, Biafiore AD, Bianco M, Borsari L, Cacciari P, Cadeddu C, Camia P, Carluccio E, Conti A, De Waure C, Di Gregori V, Fabiani L, Fallico R, Filisetti B, Flacco ME, Franco E, Furnari R,

Galis V, Gallea MR, Gallone MF, Gallone S, Gelatti U, Gilardi F, Giuliani AR, Grillo OC, Lanati N, Mascaretti S, Mattei A, Micò R, Morciano L, Nante N, Napoli G, Nobile CG, Palladino R, Parisi S, Passaro M, Pelissero G, Quarto M, Ricciardi W, Romano G, Rustico E, Saponari A, Schioppa FS, Signorelli C, Siliquini R, Trabacchi V, Triassi M, Varetta A, Ziglio A, Zoccali A, Vitale F, Amodio E. *Influenza vaccination coverage among medical residents: an Italian multicenter survey.* Hum Vaccin Immunother 2014;10:1204-10.

- [47] Costantino C, Battaglia A, D'Asta M, Furnari R, Gimigliano A, Guaccero A, Mallamace N, Marcantoni C, Maringhini, Marsala MGL, Micò R, Biafore A, Papalia R, Pasqua C, Simone B, Franchino G. Knowledge, attitudes and behaviors regarding influenza vaccination among hygiene and preventive medicine residents in Calabria and Sicily. Euromed Biomed J 2012;7:77-83.
- [48] Costantino C, Amodio E, Vitale F, Maida C, Meringhini G, Asciutto R, Tramuto F, Calamusa G. Attitudes, behaviours and perceptions of Italian general practitioner trainees towards influenza vaccination in Western Sicily (Italy). Ital J Public Health 2012;9:33-9.
- [49] Pitts SI, Maruthur NM, Millar KR, Perl TM, Segal J. A systematic review of mandatory influenza vaccination in healthcare personnel. Am J Prev Med 2014;47:330-40.
- [50] Isaacs D, Leask J. Should influenza immunisation be mandatory for healthcare workers? No. BMJ 2008;337:a2140.
- [51] Di Gregori V, Franchino G, Marcantoni C, Simone B, Costantino C. Logistic regression of attitudes and coverage for influenza vaccination among Italian Public Health medical residents. J Prev Med Hyg 2014;55:152-7.
- [52] Costantino C, Amodio E, Calamusa G, Vitale F, Mazzucco W. Could university training and a proactive attitude of coworkers be associated with influenza vaccination compliance? A multicentre survey among Italian medical residents. BMC Med Educ 2016;16:38.
- [53] Gasparini R, Bonanni P, Amicizia D, Bella A, Donatelli I, Cristina ML, Panatto D, Lai PL. *Influenza epidemiology in Italy two* years after the 2009-2010 pandemic: need to improve vaccination coverage. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2013;9:561-7.

Received on January 25, 2016. Accepted on February 16, 2016.

Correspondence: Claudio Costantino, Department of Science Promotion and Mother to Child Care "G. D'Alessandro", Hygiene Section, University of Palermo, via del Vespro 133, 90127 Palermo, Italy - Tel. +39 091 6553635 - Fax +39 091 6553641 - E-mail: claudio.costantino01@unipa.it

......

### The new pandemic influenza A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus: is it really "new"?

V. BALDO, C. BERTONCELLO, S. COCCHIO, M. FONZO, P. PILLON, A. BUJA, T. BALDOVIN Department of Molecular Medicine, Public Health Section, University of Padua, Italy

#### **Keywords**

Influenza • Pandemic • A/(H1N1)pdm09

#### Summary

In June 2009, the World Health Organization (WHO) issued a pandemic alert concerning the spread of an influenza A (H1N1) virus that showed distinctive genetic characteristics vis-à-vis both seasonal influenza strains and vaccine strains. The main mutation occurred in the gene coding for hemagglutinin (HA). Mathematical models were developed to calculate the transmissibility of the virus; the results indicated a significant overlap with the transmissibility of previous pandemic strains and seasonal strains. The remarkable feature of A/(H1N1)pdm09, compared with seasonal strains, is its high fatality rate and its higher incidence among younger people. Data provided by the WHO on the number of deaths caused by A/(H1N1)pdm09 only include laboratory-confirmed cases. Some authors suggest that these data could underestimate the magnitude of the event, as laboratory confirmation is not obtained in all cases.

It is important to bear in mind that the A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus is still circulating in the population. It is therefore essential to maintain its epidemiological and virological surveillance.

#### Influenza pandemics in history

The cyclic occurrence of epidemic and pandemic phenomena attributable to influenza A virus is related to the ability of the virus to modify its two main surface proteins, hemagglutinin (HA) (which allows the virus to adhere to epithelial cells in the upper respiratory tract) and neuraminidase (NA), both of which play a very important role in the pathogenesis of the disease. Antigenic variability of influenza A virus may occur as antigenic drifts (minor variability) or antigenic shifts (major variability). Antigenic drifts (such as nucleotide substitutions, deletions and insertions of HA and NA genes) are responsible for seasonal epidemics of influenza virus, while antigenic shifts cause pandemics. The most important changes are due to the reassortment of viruses of swine and avian origin with viruses of human origin, like those responsible for the pandemics that occurred in 1918 (H1N1), 1957 (H2N2) and 1968 (H3N2) [1, 2]. The H1N1 virus reappeared in 1977, and is still circulating in humans, while the H3N2 virus was the most common up until 2009 [3, 4].

#### The "new" pandemic

In April 2009, a new virus appeared in Mexico and California (US), and was responsible for the first pandemics of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. It spreads rapidly from person to person, and is not related to any circulating inter-pandemic viruses. The new virus was labeled A/(H1N1) pdm09. It is a quadruple reassortant virus, consisting of two swine-origin viruses, one avian-origin virus and one human-origin virus. To be more precise, molecular studies have identified the North American H3N2 triple reassortant viruses circulating among swine, a classic swine H1N1 virus, and an "avian-like" swine H1N1 virus circulating in Europe and Asia [5]. This "new" virus has proved remarkably different from the classic seasonal influenza H1N1 viruses and the viruses used to prepare vaccines [6].

The new virus spread rapidly around the world, primarily infecting children, young adults and individuals with lung and heart diseases, though the majority of cases were of low-grade severity and were self-limiting. The first epidemics occurred in Veracruz (Mexico), starting on 12 April 2009, and the virus was isolated by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) on April 14th. By the end of April, the WHO had declared a phase-5 pandemic alert, and on 11 June this was upgraded to phase 6 (Tab. I), owing to the large number of individuals and na-

Tab. I. A/(H1N1)pdm09 pandemic timeline.

Date	Step
12 <sup>th</sup> April 2009	Epidemic starts in Mexico (Veracruz)
17 <sup>th</sup> April 2009	CDC isolates A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus
25 <sup>th</sup> April 2009	Public health alert is declared
27 <sup>th</sup> April 2009	Pandemic phase-4 alert
29 <sup>th</sup> April 2009	Pandemic phase-5 alert
11 <sup>th</sup> June 2009	Pandemic phase-6 alert
11 <sup>th</sup> August 2010	Post-pandemic phase is declared



tions involved. In June 2009, the WHO reported 94,512 cases (including 429 deaths) and 135 nations were involved.

#### Burden of disease

From April 2009 to August 2010 (when the pandemic was declared to be over) [7], the number of laboratory-confirmed cases amounted to 651,449: 75.4% of these (491,382 cases) attributable to the A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus; 1.4% (35,069 cases) to the A(H1N1) seasonal influenza virus; 12.4% (81,070 cases) to non-typed A viruses; and the remaining 5.3% (34,481 cases) to the influenza B virus. The trend over the period analyzed is shown in Figure 1 [8].

The mean age of the individuals affected was 18.1 years: 64% of the cases occurred in 10- to 29-year-olds, and only 1% were aged 60 and over; 18.4% of the patients had chronic comorbidities.

The clinical manifestations were unexceptional, the most common symptoms being cough (84.9% of cases), high temperature (84.7%), headache (66.5%), runny nose (60.1%), and joint and muscle pain (58.1%). Despite these nonspecific clinical manifestations, some authors recommend considering cough and high temperature as the only parameters for identifying cases [9].

#### Mortality

During the pandemic, a total of 18,631 deaths were reported among the laboratory-confirmed cases, yielding

.....

a fatality rate of 2.9% (95% CI 0.0-6.7%), with an estimated fatality rate of 0.02% among all infected individuals [10]. Although this fatality rate cannot be considered a valid indicator, it prompted some to claim that the public health measures taken to deal with the pandemic had been excessive. It is important to bear in mind, however, that these figures are probably underestimated, as not all deaths involved laboratory-confirmed cases (as is usually the case during inter-pandemic periods). A recent study estimated that between 123,000 and 203,000 people died during the pandemics, and 62-85% of these were under 65 years old (and often under 14 years old): these figures suggest that the mortality rate for the 2009 influenza pandemic was in fact 10 times higher than the mortality rate resulting from the laboratory-confirmed cases. If the same method of calculation were applied to seasonal influenza epidemics, the virus would be responsible for 148,000-249,000 deaths, but would involve a larger proportion of elderly people. Indeed, only 19% of deaths involve patients under 65 years old during seasonal influenza epidemics. This epidemiological pattern gives the impression that the 2009 pandemic was more severe than seasonal influenza endemics - an assumption that may be confirmed when it is possible to obtain an estimation in terms of life years lost [10].

The fatality rate during a pandemic is calculated from the number of deaths due to the virus type investigated in relation to the number of cases in a given population. Analysis of the data shows marked heterogeneity in the fatality rates due to the A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus, which range from 1 to 10,000 deaths per 100,000 infections. In other words, the severity of pandemics is unpredictable and hard to estimate on the basis of fatality rates [11].

#### In-hospital mortality

Among the indicators of a pandemic's severity, the inhospital mortality rate should be taken into account. In the case of the A/(H1N1)pdm09 pandemic, this rate varied considerably (from 0 to 52%) depending on the type of hospital involved and the gross domestic product of the country considered. In high-income countries, where standards of treatment are higher, the estimated in-hospital mortality rate ranged between 1% and 3%, and did not depend on the type of hospital or the type of ward. In all countries, the burden of hospitalization was higher among children and younger adults, though the inhospital mortality rate was always higher among elderly patients, mainly because they often had comorbidities. Despite their lower risk of infection, older people had higher fatality rates than younger patients in the event of hospitalization [12].

#### The situation in Italy

In Italy, the influenza surveillance network (INFLUNET) actively follows up 2.1% of the Italian population. Comparing data on seasonal influenza epidemics, the network showed, during the 2009 pandemic period, that the infection peaked in the  $50^{\text{th}}$  week (while this usually happens in the  $4^{\text{th}}$  to  $8^{\text{th}}$  week), with an intensity that was similar to other years. The network also found an increase in hospital admissions due to influenza-related complications, with 1,100 hospitalizations, 592 of which were severe cases (admission to intensive care unit, acute respiratory distress syndrome, need for intubation or extra-corporeal membrane oxygenator); 204 patients died [13].

The A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus continued to circulate after the pandemic of 2009. It was estimated that both the A (84%) and the B (16%) influenza viruses were circulating simultaneously during the 2014-2015 seasonal influenza. Specifically, the A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus accounted for 52% of all laboratory-confirmed cases, and for 76% of all severe clinical manifestations. This is the epidemic with the highest number of severe cases reported since the 2009 pandemic [14].

#### Features related to severity

The severity of influenza epidemics varies, depending on the geographical area involved, and can be measured by estimating the burden of disease at both the individual and community levels. The extent of a pandemic is influenced by several different factors, which depend on the features of the population affected, and severity assessment on a global level is not as straightforward as on the local level. It therefore becomes essential to implement a surveillance system in order to accurately monitor epidemiological trends and detect changes in the pattern of illness, as well as the characteristics of the infectious agent. Surveillance is essential for the prevention and control of influenza illness. Being able to recognize the specific circulating strain and the characteristics of the seasonal epidemic is important in order to identify viruses to be used in vaccines and to detect novel influenza viruses with potential for pandemic spread. Furthermore, combining virological surveillance with epidemiological surveillance gives us the chance to collect useful information for developing severity indicators.

#### VIROLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS

Virological surveillance is essential in order to detect changes in the viral genome that may have an impact on the pathogenicity of the virus and on the effectiveness of influenza vaccines. Vaccine effectiveness decreases when the viral strains in the vaccine and the circulating viruses do not perfectly match [15, 16].

Mutations may be irrelevant; alternatively, they may modify the structure of epitopes (antibody-binding sites), thus giving rise to new serotypes and becoming critical in causing clinically relevant symptoms.

Critical mutations are those occurring in hemagglutinin (HA), the non-structural proteins (NS1), and polymerase (PB2). If these mutations occur simultaneously, increased virulence can be expected. Amino acids 187 and 222 in HA are involved in determining receptor-binding affinity and tissue-specific tropism: D187/D222 for  $\alpha(2,6)$ in receptors on the human respiratory tract, D187/G222 for  $\alpha(2,6)$  and  $\alpha(2,3)$  in swine, and E187/G222 for  $\alpha(2,3)$ in avian species. The new pandemic virus was characterized by major genomic mutations. Two have been identified: the so-called D222G and D222N, in which aspartic acid (D) is substituted by glycine (G) or asparagine (N), respectively. The D222G mutation is responsible for a change in receptor-binding affinity; this change enables the virus to bind to sialic acid receptors  $\alpha(2,6)$ , located on the ciliated epithelial cells in the upper respiratory tract, and to sialic acid receptors  $\alpha(2,3)$ , located on the ciliated epithelial cells in the lower respiratory tract [17]. A recent review showed a correlation between the D222G mutation in HA and the most severe and fatal cases of influenza. It also established that viral strains isolated during the pandemic did not carry other mutations in genes associated with increased virulence [18].

#### **EPIDEMIOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS**

Transmissibility is an important aspect of a pandemic. It is related both to intrinsic features of the agent causing the disease and to the public health measures adopted to deal with it. It can be measured by calculating the R0, i.e. the ability of an index case to infect other susceptible individuals. This indicator depends on the risk of transmission by contact ( $\beta$ ), the average number of contacts per unit of time ( $\kappa$ ), and the duration of the virus's infectiveness (D), which is agent-specific. R0 is calculated by means of the formula:  $R0 = \beta * \kappa * D$ . All possible public health measures may modify the R0, in which case the R0 is replaced with a Reproduction Control (RC) number. The RC depends on both the R0 and the public health measures taken, and is obviously always lower than the R0. If the RC is lower than 1, the epidemic will stop; if it is higher than 1, the epidemic will only decline

in intensity. The R0 value calculated for influenza viruses varies: in the case of the viral strain responsible for the pandemic in 1918-1919, for instance, it was about 2 (ranging from 1.4 to 2.8), while for a strain responsible for a seasonal influenza epidemic it is 1.3 (ranging from 0.9 to 2.1). These values do not differ greatly from the R0 value calculated for the A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus, which was 1.4-1.6. Since all these values overlap significantly, it is reasonable to assume a similar transmissibility among the strains considered [19].

#### Conclusions

The influenza A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus revealed some unique features in comparison with other circulating influenza viruses. These characteristics, combined with the state of immunity of the populations affected, accounted for the first pandemic of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. The viral and infectivity characteristics of A/(H1N1)pdm09 were entirely comparable to the characteristics of seasonal influenza strains, but the virus affected a larger proportion of children and young adults. It was consequently responsible for a heavier burden of disease, despite its similar virulence.

The picture was much the same in Italy, where the influenza epidemic peaked earlier than usual in 2009-2010.

It is important to bear in mind that the A/(H1N1)pdm09 virus is still circulating in the population. It is therefore essential to maintain its epidemiological and virological surveillance.

In conclusion, A/(H1N1)pdm09 is a new virus which is similar to seasonal influenza viruses in terms of disease incidence and transmissibility, but different in terms of its sudden appearance, rapid spread and severity of clinical manifestations in young people.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding declared for this overview.

#### References

- Taubenberger JK, Reid AH, Lourens RM, Wang R, Jin G, Fanning TG. Characterization of the 1918 influenza virus polymerase genes. Nature 2005;437:889-93.
- [2] Rambaut A, Pybus OG, Nelson MI, Viboud C, Taubenberger JK, Holmes EC. *The genomic and epidemiological dynamics of human influenza A virus*. Nature 2008;453:615-9.
- [3] Smith DJ, Lapedes AS, de Jong JC, Bestebroer TM, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus AD, Fouchier RA. *Mapping the antigenic* and genetic evolution of influenza virus. Science 2004;305:371-6.
- Received on January 22, 2016. Accepted on February 16, 2016.
- Correspondence: Vincenzo Baldo, Department of Molecular Medicine, Public Health Section, Hygiene Institute, University of Padua, via Loredan 18, 35121 Padua, Italy - Tel. +39 049 8275389 -Fax +39 049 8275392 - E-mail: vincenzo.baldo@unipd.it

.....

[4] Taubenberger JK, Morens DM. 1918 influenza: the mother of all pandemics. Emerg Infect Dis 2006;12:15-22.

- [5] Smith GJ, Vijaykrishna D, Bahl J, Lycett SJ, Worobey M, Pybus OG, Ma SK, Cheung CL, Raghwani J, Bhatt S, Peiris JS, Guan Y, Rambaut A. Origins and evolutionary genomics of the 2009 swine-origin H1N1 influenza A epidemic. Nature 2009;459:1122-5.
- [6] Gatherer D. The 2009 H1N1 influenza outbreak in its historical context. J Clin Virol Off Publ Pan Am Soc Clin Virol 2009;45:174-8.
- [7] WHO. *H1N1 in post-pandemic period* [Internet]. WHO. Available at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/statements/2010/ h1n1\_vpc\_20100810/en/ [accessed 09.02.2016].
- [8] WHO. FluNet. WHO. Available at: http://www.who.int/influenza/gisrs\_laboratory/flunet/en/ [accessed 09.02.2016].
- [9] Khandaker G, Dierig A, Rashid H, King C, Heron L, Booy R. Systematic review of clinical and epidemiological features of the pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2011;5:148-56.
- [10] Simonsen L, Spreeuwenberg P, Lustig R, Taylor RJ, Fleming DM, Kroneman M, Van Kerkhove MD, Mounts AW, Paget WJ; GLaMOR Collaborating Teams. *Global mortality estimates for* the 2009 influenza pandemic from the GLaMOR project: a modeling study. PLoS Med 2013;10:e1001558.
- [11] Wong JY, Kelly H, Ip DKM, Wu JT, Leung GM, Cowling BJ. Case fatality risk of influenza A (H1N1pdm09): a systematic review. Epidemiol Camb Mass 2013;24:830-41.
- [12] Wong JY, Kelly H, Cheung C-MM, Shiu EY, Wu P, Ni MY, Ip DK, Cowling BJ. Hospitalization fatality risk of influenza A(H1N1)pdm09: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2015;182:294-301.
- [13] Rizzo C, Bella A, Declich S, Rota MC; Pandemic Influenza Working Group. *Epidemiological surveillance of flu pandemic due to A/H1N1v virus during 2009-2010 flu season*. Rapporti ISTISAN 2010;46:1-48.
- [14] Ministero della Salute. Prevenzione e controllo dell'influenza: raccomandazioni per la stagione 2015-2016. Circolare ministeriale del 03/09/2015. Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/ portale/news/p3\_2\_1\_1\_1.jsp?lingua=italiano&menu=notizie &p=dalministero&id=2218 [accessed 12/02/2016]
- [15] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Preliminary assessment of the effectiveness of the 2003-04 inactivated influenza vaccine – Colorado, December 2003. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2004;53:8-11.
- [16] Baldo V, Baldovin T, Floreani A, Fragapane E, Trivello R; Family Medicine Group. *Response of influenza vaccines against heterovariant influenza virus strains in adults with chronic diseases.* J Clin Immunol 2007;27:542-7.
- [17] Liu Y, Childs RA, Matrosovich T, Wharton S, Palma AS, Chai W, Daniels R, Gregory V, Uhlendorff J, Kiso M, Klenk HD, Hay A, Feizi T, Matrosovich M. Altered receptor specificity and cell tropism of D222G hemagglutinin mutants isolated from fatal cases of pandemic A(H1N1) 2009 influenza virus. J Virol 2010;84:12069-74.
- [18] Goka EA, Vallely PJ, Mutton KJ, Klapper PE. Mutations associated with severity of the pandemic influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 in humans: a systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological evidence. Arch Virol 2014;159:3167-83.
- [19] Halder N, Kelso JK, Milne GJ. Analysis of the effectiveness of interventions used during the 2009 A/H1N1 influenza pandemic. BMC Public Health 2010;10:168.

### The impact of influenza virus B in Italy: myth or reality?

C. RIZZO, A. BELLA Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Roma, Italy

#### Keywords

Influenza impact • Epidemiology • Influenza B • Vaccination • Vaccine mismatch

#### Summary

We describe the burden of influenza B infections in Italy over a 12-year study period. Influenza A and B viruses co-circulated throughout the period, with numbers of influenza B cases approaching or exceeding those of influenza A during three influenza seasons. Influenza B virus infections led to fewer admissions to an intensive care unit (ICU) and a lower mortality rate than influenza A from 2010 to 2015. However, only 16% of those admitted to ICU with influenza B had been immunized. This highlights the need for con-

#### Introduction

The societal burden of seasonal influenza epidemics is quite heavy, with approximately 3-5 million cases and 250,000-500,000 estimated deaths worldwide every year [1] and a large economic impact, which includes both direct and indirect costs [2, 3]. Conventionally, attention has been directed toward influenza A, which accounts for the majority of influenza cases in most seasons [4-7]. However, influenza B can account for a considerable proportion of total cases [8]. Since the 1980s, influenza B viruses have belonged to two antigenically distinct lineages, called the Victoria and Yamagata lineages [9]; this has constituted a challenge for seasonal influenza vaccines, as only one influenza B strain is included in the trivalent vaccine. Studies in the United States have shown that the frequent influenza B vaccine mismatches of recent years have been associated both with substantial increases in cases, hospitalizations and deaths (up to 970,000 cases, with 8200 hospitalizations and 485 deaths annually, in the USA) [10], and with high influenza-related medical costs and costs due to productivity loss [11].

Despite the important role of influenza B, much of the published scientific literature regarding the epidemiology of influenza has focused on influenza A, and we still have a relatively poor understanding of the global epidemiology and disease burden of influenza B. Several studies have reported on the burden of disease attributable to influenza B in a single season, or during consecutive seasons in a single country [12, 13]. In order to improve our understanding of the burden and epidemiology of influenza B, we reviewed the influenza B viruses circulating in Italy from 2000 to 2015.

sistent influenza vaccination for identified risk groups. Our study demonstrates that influenza B virus infections are associated with substantial morbidity and that influenza surveillance and interventions including vaccination and treatment are still suboptimal. Our findings have important public health implications. Incorporating virus and epidemiological data will help obtain more accurate estimates of influenza disease burden and result in a better selection of influenza prevention and control strategies.

#### Materials and methods

#### THE NATIONAL INFLUENZA SENTINEL SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM

In Italy, the Influenza Sentinel Surveillance System (IN-FLUNET) was implemented nationwide in the 1999-2000 season by the Influnet working group [12]. INFLUNET is based on the voluntary participation of an average of 830 (range 648-902) general practitioners (including paediatricians) per year, covering about 1.5-2% of the national population in all Italian regions. The system aims to monitor the incidence of influenza-like illness (ILI) and to determine the extent, timing and severity of seasonal epidemics. GPs are asked to report ILI cases (defined as acute onset of fever + respiratory symptoms + one of the following symptoms: headache, general discomfort, asthenia) weekly (from week 42 to week 17) using standardized forms. Specific information regarding age (0-14, 15-64, > 64 years) and influenza vaccine status are also collected. We excluded the first years of data collection and focused the analysis on Influnet data collected from the 2005/2006 to 2014/2015 seasons.

### THE NATIONAL VIROLOGICAL SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM

Influenza virological surveillance in Italy is routinely carried out, between week 46 and week 17 of the following year, by the National WHO (World Health Organization) Influenza Centre at the Istituto Superiore di Sanità (NIC-ISS), in collaboration with a network of 15 peripheral laboratories located in 14 of the 21 Italian regions. The main objective of these activities is to rapidly characterize the influenza viruses circulating in

------

the country and to identify antigenic variants emerging in human populations during the winter season, in order to update the vaccine composition, in collaboration with the WHO and ECDC (European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control). During the virological surveillance period, sampling kits are sent out to a random sample of GPs participating in the INFLUNET surveillance system, who collect throat swabs from the first ILI patients seen each week. Collected swabs are then sent to the regional Reference Laboratories for influenza diagnosis, and the isolated strains are characterized at the Regional Laboratory or directly sent to the NIC-ISS for further molecular and antigenic analyses. Overall results obtained throughout the country are reported to the NIC-ISS weekly by means of web-based electronic forms. Every year, approximately 2000 samples are collected, with a proportion of positive specimens of about 34%.

Our analysis included virological surveillance data collected from the 2000/2001 to 2011/2012 seasons.

### SURVEILLANCE OF LABORATORY-CONFIRMED SEVERE CASES

A web-based data collection form for the surveillance of severe confirmed hospitalised cases and deaths due to pandemic influenza was drawn up in mid-September 2009. Since then, regional and local authorities have filled in forms during the influenza season (October-April); the data are analysed weekly at the national level (by the ISS and the Ministry of Health). Our analysis included virological surveillance data collected from the 2010/2011

.....

to 2014/2015 seasons, as all confirmed cases during the 2009/2010 season were due to A/H1N1pdm09 virus.

#### Results

From the 2005/2006 to 2014/2015 seasons, an estimated average number of approximately 4,800.000 ILI cases were reported to the surveillance system (Tab. I). Most were in the 0-5-year age-class. The national database that was used for the analysis included 40,000 ILI cases, with testing of samples from cases that occurred between 2000/2001 and 2011/2012. During the study period, several waves of infections by influenza A and B viruses were observed in Italy

**Tab. I.** Distribution of estimated influenza-like illness cases and cumulative incidence by season, Italy, 2005/2006 – 2014/2015.

Season	Peak week	Cumulative incidence	Estimated ILI cases
2005/2006	12	3.9	2,400.000
2006/2007	5	5.7	3,700.000
2007/2008	7	6.9	4,700.000
2008/2009	4	7,2	4,100.000
2009/2010	46	9.7	5,600.000
2010/2011	5	10.3	5,400.000
2011/2012	5	8.6	5,000.000
2012/2013	6	10.5	6,200.000
2013/2014	6	7.8	4,500.000
2014/2015	4	10.8	6,300.000



THE IMPACT OF INFLUENZA VIRUS B IN ITALY

(Fig. 1). In detail, 11,488 influenza cases were confirmed in the study period: 9,842 influenza A cases and 1.646 influenza B cases. Influenza A and B viruses co-circulated during most influenza seasons, with numbers of influenza B infections approaching or exceeding those of influenza A virus during three seasons in the study period considered (2001/02, 2007/08 and 2012/13). The number of samples tested for influenza viruses by PCR in Italy increased by a factor of 1.5 over this period, from an average of 2,774 per season in the period 2000-2007 to an average of 4,312 per season in 2008-2012. Influenza B appeared to be relatively more frequent among older children; A(H1N1)pdm2009 among young and older adults, and A(H3N2) among the elderly. On average, the proportion of influenza B cases on the total of tested samples was 23% (range < 1-78%) (Fig. 2).

#### SEVERITY OF INFLUENZA B

From 2010/2011 to 2014/15, on a total of 1,545 severe confirmed influenza cases reported to the surveillance system (Tab. I), 102 were confirmed influenza B virus-infected individuals admitted to ICU; 2 were pregnant (both in the third trimester); 7 needed extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) treatment, and 24 died. The median age was 63 years (range 0-92), 58 were male, and 16 were vaccinated almost 15 days before symptom onset. The median age of the individuals who died was 76 (range 39-85). Of the 102 severe influenza B patients, 73 belonged to groups recommended for vaccination (65 years and older or a clinical risk group), but only 16 had

Tab.	II.	Distrib	oution	of	confirmed	severe	cases,	by	influenza	virus,
Italy,	20	10/201	1 – 20	)14,	/2015.					

Season	A/H1N1v	A/H3N2	A/non sub-typed	В	Total
2010/2011	517	0	11	10	538
2011/2012	7	33	1	1	42
2012/2013	143	8	7	61	219
2013/2014	61	23	7	1	92
2014/2015	494	87	44	29	654
Total	1,222	151	70	102	1,545

actually received the seasonal influenza vaccination. Most of the influenza B cases were reported during the 2012/2013 season, when the B virus co-circulated with the A/H1N1pdm09.

#### Discussion

Our results on influenza B virus infections in Italy are timely, in view of the recent introduction of a tetravalent influenza vaccine containing influenza B viruses of both the Victoria and Yamagata lineages. Our study reveals that influenza B virus was the predominant overall cause of influenza in two of the 13 influenza seasons from 2000/01 through 2012/13. However, circulation of the B virus during the inter-pandemic season was always demonstrated. Similar patterns of influenza B virus circulation have been described in the US, Europe and Hong Kong [12-13]. In Italy, the proportion of influenza B cases in the study period averaged 23% (range < 1-78%), a value similar to the European (23% (1-60%)) and US (24% (< 1-44%)) averages [14].

In our study, < 1% of all ILI cases are tested for influenza each season, and very few B viruses were antigenically and genetically characterized, thus reducing the opportunity to identify the co-circulation of the two lineages in Italy. However, evidence from two Northern Italian regions clearly demonstrated a complete or partial mismatch in the 2001/2002, 2004/2005, 2005/2006, 2007/2008, 2008/2009, 2010/2011, and 2011/2012 seasons; this was almost always due to co-circulation of the two lineages [15-17].

Influenza is generally recognised as an important disease which causes high excess mortality among the elderly, although children have been shown to play an important role in its transmission [18-19]. Unlike the influenza A(H3N2) virus, the B virus predominantly infects children and young adults and is generally recognised as a mild influenza virus [20]. Data on severe influenza B virus infections and mortality are limited. A large study conducted in the US reported that 25% of all influenza-related mortality could be attributed to influenza B virus [21]. This is higher than the percentage seen in the present study, in which influenza B in-



fections accounted for 6% of all influenza virus-related deaths (24/428) during the period considered, but is similar to figures reported for Scotland [22]. Among those admitted to ICU with influenza B infections, 7% needed ECMO treatment, 2% were pregnant, and 23.5% died.

Influenza immunisation is recommended in Italy for specific groups with an increased risk of complications following influenza infection (e.g. > 65 years old, > 6 months with chronic conditions, healthcare personnel, pregnant women in their second or third trimester etc.) [23]. Only 16% of those treated in ICU who should have been vaccinated had received the seasonal influenza vaccine, and 70% of those treated in ICU were included in the target categories of national recommendations.

The magnitude of the problem created by mismatching between circulating influenza B strains and the influenza B lineage contained in the vaccine varies by season. The most striking recent examples occurred during the 2005-2006 and 2007-2008 seasons. In 2005-2006, the influenza B component of the northern hemisphere influenza vaccine was of the B/Yamagata lineage, but 81-91% of the circulating influenza B viruses antigenically characterized in the US and Europe were of the B/Victoria lineage, and influenza B was found in 34-60% of all samples [14]. Similarly, in 2007-2008, the influenza B component of the vaccine was of the B/Victoria lineage, but 98-99% of the circulating influenza B viruses characterized in the US and Europe belonged to the B/ Yamagata lineage [14].

Unfortunately, as very few B influenza viruses in Italy were genotyped, information on the antigenic characteristics of circulating B viruses was not available at the national level.

Our study demonstrates that influenza B virus infections are associated with substantial morbidity and that influenza surveillance and interventions including vaccination and treatment are still suboptimal. Our findings have important public health implications. Incorporating viral and epidemiological data will help obtain more accurate estimates of influenza disease burden and result in a better selection of strategies for influenza prevention and control [25].

#### Acknowledgments

No funding declared for this article.

We would like to thank Maria Rita Castrucci and Simona Puzelli from the National Influenza Center. This work has been possible thanks to the precious contribution of the Ministry of Health, Regions and Autonomous Provinces, Local Health Units and diagnosis laboratories.

#### References

[1] Cromer D, van Hoek AJ, Jit M, Edmunds WJ, Fleming D, Miller E. *The burden of influenza in England by age and clinical risk* 

group: a statistical analysis to inform vaccine policy. J Infect 2014;68:363-71.

[2] Keech M, Beardsworth P. *The impact of influenza on working days lost: a review of the literature.* Pharmacoeconomics 2008;26:911-24.

- [3] Reed C, Chaves SS, Daily Kirley P, Emerson R, Aragon D, Hancock EB, Butler L, Baumbach J, Hollick G, Bennett NM, Laidler MR, Thomas A, Meltzer MI, Finelli L. *Estimating influenza disease burden from population-based surveillance data in the United States.* PLoS One 2015;10:e0118369.
- [4] Nair H, Brooks WA, Katz M, Roca A, Berkley JA, Madhi SA, Simmerman JM, Gordon A, Sato M, Howie S, Krishnan A, Ope M, Lindblade KA, Carosone-Link P, Lucero M, Ochieng W, Kamimoto L, Dueger E, Bhat N, Vong S, Theodoratou E, Chittaganpitch M, Chimah O, Balmaseda A, Buchy P, Harris E, Evans V, Katayose M, Gaur B, O'Callaghan-Gordo C, Goswami D, Arvelo W, Venter M, Briese T, Tokarz R, Widdowson MA, Mounts AW, Breiman RF, Feikin DR, Klugman KP, Olsen SJ, Gessner BD, Wright PF, Rudan I, Broor S, Simões EA, Campbell H. Global burden of respiratory infections due to seasonal influenza in young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 2011;378:1917-30.
- [5] Quandelacy TM, Viboud C, Charu V, Lipsitch M, Goldstein E. Age- and sex-related risk factors for influenza-associated mortality in the United States between 1997-2007. Am J Epidemiol 2014;179:156-67.
- [6] Matias G, Taylor R, Haguinet F, Schuck-Paim C, Lustig R, Shinde V. Estimates of mortality attributable to influenza and RSV in the United States during 1997-2009 by influenza type or subtype, age, cause of death, and risk status. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2014;8:507-15.
- [7] Chaves SS, Aragon D, Bennett N, Cooper T, D'Mello T, Farley M, Fowler B, Hancock E, Kirley PD, Lynfield R, Ryan P, Schaffner W, Sharangpani R, Tengelsen L, Thomas A, Thurston D, Williams J, Yousey-Hindes K, Zansky S, Finelli L. Patients hospitalized with laboratory-confirmed influenza during the 2010-2011 influenza season: exploring disease severity by virus type and subtype. J Infect Dis 2013;208:1305-14.
- [8] Mosnier A, Caini S, Daviaud I, Nauleau E, Bui TT, Debost E, Bedouret B, Agius G, van der Werf S, Lina B, Cohen JM; GROG network. *Clinical characteristics are similar across type A and B influenza virus infections*. PLoS One 2015;10:e0136186.
- [9] Irving SA, Patel DC, Kieke BA, Donahue JG, Vandermause MF, Shay DK, Belongia EA. Comparison of clinical features and outcomes of medically attended influenza A and influenza B in a defined population over four seasons: 2004-2005 through 2007-2008. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2012;6:37-43.
- [10] Cohen AL, Hellferscee O, Pretorius M, Treurnicht F, Walaza S, Madhi S, Groome M, Dawood H, Variava E, Kahn K, Wolter N, von Gottberg A, Tempia S, Venter M, Cohen C. *Epidemiology of influenza virus types and subtypes in South Africa*, 2009-2012. Emerg Infect Dis 2014;20:1162-9.
- [11] Silvennoinen H, Huusko T, Vuorinen T, Heikkinen T. Comparative burden of influenza A/H1N1, A/H3N2 and B infections in children treated as outpatients. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2015;34:1081-5.
- [12] Turbelin C, Souty C, Pelat C, Hanslik T, Sarazin M, Blanchon T, Falchi A. Age distribution of influenza like illness cases during post-pandemic A(H3N2): comparison with the twelve previous seasons, in France. PLoS One 2013;8:e65919.
- [13] Caini S, Huang QS, Ciblak MA, Kusznierz G, Owen R, Wangchuk S, Henriques CM, Njouom R, Fasce RA, Yu H, Feng L, Zambon M, Clara AW, Kosasih H, Puzelli S, Kadjo HA, Emukule G, Heraud JM, Ang LW, Venter M, Mironenko A, Brammer L, Mai le TQ, Schellevis F, Plotkin S, Paget J; Global Influenza B Study. *Epidemiological and virological characteristics of influenza B: results of the global influenza B study*. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2015;9(Suppl 1):3-12.

- [14] Ambrose CS, Levin MJ. *The rationale for quadrivalent influenza vaccines*. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2012;8:81-8.
- [15] Pariani E, Amendola A, Piatti A, Anselmi G, Ranghiero A, Bubba L, Rosa AM, Pellegrinelli L, Binda S, Coppola L, Gramegna M, Zanetti A. *Ten years (2004-2014) of influenza surveillance in Northern Italy.* Hum Vaccin Immunother 2015;11:198-205.
- [16] Ansaldi F, D'Agaro P, De Florentiis D, Puzelli S, Lin YP, Gregory V, Bennett M, Donatelli I, Gasparini R, Crovari P, Hay A, Campello C. *Molecular characterization of influenza B viruses circulating in northern Italy during the 2001-2002 epidemic season.* J Med Virol 2003;70:463-9.
- [17] Ansaldi F, de Florentiis D. Storia di un tentativo di fuga: l'epidemiologia del virus influenzale. Giornale della Vaccinazione 2012;VI:9-11.
- [18] World Health Organization FluNet website. Available at: http://www. who.int/influenza/gisrs\_laboratory/flunet/en/. [Accessed 26/09/15].
- [19] US Central Intelligence Agency World Factbook website. Available at: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-worldfactbook/. [Accessed 26/09/15].

- [20] Lemaitre M, Carrat F. Comparative age distribution of influenza morbidity and mortality during seasonal influenza epidemics and the 2009 H1N1 pandemic. BMC Infect Dis. 2010;10:162.
- [21] Goeyvaerts N, Willema L, Van Kerckhovea K, Vandendijck Y, Hanquet G, Beutels P, Hens N. Estimating dynamic transmission model parameters for seasonal influenza by fitting to age and season-specific influenza-like illness incidence. Epidemics 2015;13:1-9.
- [22] Harvala H, Smith D, Salvatierra K, Gunson R, von Wissmann B, Reynolds A, Frew C, MacLean A, Hunt A, Yirrell D, Simmonds P, McMenamin J, Templeton K. Burden of influenza B virus infections in Scotland in 2012/13 and epidemiological investigations between 2000 and 2012. Euro Surveill 2014;19. pii:20903.
- [23] Ministero della Salute. Prevenzione e controllo dell'influenza. Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/portale/news/p3\_2\_1\_1\_1.jsp?menu=notizie&p=dalministero& id=2218 [Accessed 31/01/16].

------

■ Received on January 25, 2016. Accepted on February 25, 2016.

Correspondence: Caterina Rizzo, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, viale Regina Elena 299, 00161 Roma, Italy - Tel. +39 06 49904277 -Fax +39 06 44232444 - E-mail: caterina.rizzo@iss.it

# Quadrivalent influenza vaccine: a new opportunity to reduce the influenza burden

V. TISA<sup>1</sup>, I. BARBERIS<sup>1</sup>, V. FACCIO<sup>1</sup>, C. PAGANINO<sup>1</sup>, C. TRUCCHI<sup>1</sup>, M. MARTINI<sup>1</sup>, F. ANSALDI<sup>1, 2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy; <sup>2</sup>IRCCS AOU S. Martino, IST Genoa, Italy

#### Keywords

Quadrivalent influenza vaccine • Safety • Immunogenicity • Cost-effectiveness

#### Summary

Influenza illness is caused by influenza A and influenza B strains. Although influenza A viruses are perceived to carry greater risk because they account for the majority of influenza cases in most seasons and have been responsible for influenza pandemics, influenza B viruses also impose a substantial public health burden, particularly among children and at-risk subjects.

Furthermore, since the 2001-2002 influenza season, both influenza B lineages, B/Victoria-like viruses and B/Yamagata-like viruses have co-circulated in Europe.

The conventional trivalent influenza vaccines have shown a limited ability to induce effective protection when major or minor mismatches between the influenza B vaccine component and circulating strains occur. For this reason, the inclusion of a second B strain in influenza vaccines may help to overcome the well-known

#### Introduction

Influenza is an acute viral illness of the respiratory tract, and constitutes a substantial public health burden in terms of morbidity, mortality and related costs. About 3-5 million cases of severe illness occur each year worldwide, resulting in about 250,000 to 500,000 deaths per year, high hospitalization and mortality rates, and considerable loss of productivity [1-3].

From a microbiologic point of view, type A and type B Influenza viruses differ markedly in terms of their hosts and epidemiology. Influenza A viruses have other animal reservoirs, in addition to humans, and display high antigenic variability, which mainly involves their surface glycoproteins: hemagglutinin (HA) and neuroaminidase (NA). Antigenic shift and antigenic drift are the two well-known mechanisms responsible for major and minor variations; antigenic shift is the main cause of the appearance of new influenza A strains with pandemic potential. Antigenic drift determines annual seasonal influenza epidemics [4].

Influenza B viruses, for which humans are the sole host of epidemiological relevance, do not undergo antigenic shift, but they can undergo antigenic drift. Since at least 1983, two parallel evolutionary B pathways with little antigenic cross-reactivity have been

......

difficulties of predicting the circulating *B* lineage and choosing the influenza *B* vaccine component.

Two quadrivalent influenza vaccines, a live-attenuated quadrivalent influenza vaccine (Q/LAIV) and a split inactivated quadrivalent influenza vaccine (I/QIV), were first licensed in the US in 2012. Since their introduction, models simulating the inclusion of QIV in influenza immunization programs have demonstrated the substantial health benefits, in terms of reducing the number of influenza cases, their complications and mortality.

In the near future, evaluations from simulation models should be confirmed by effectiveness studies in the field, and more costeffectiveness analyses should be conducted in order to verify the expected benefits.

recognized, thus allowing two distinct genetic lineages to be identified: the B/Victoria/2/1987 (Victoria) and B/Yamagata/16/1988 (Yamagata) strains [5-6]. Since 2002, the two distinct influenza B lineages have frequently co-circulated, with one of the two predominating over the other in each season [7]. For example, in ten consecutive influenza seasons in Italy – from 2003-2004 to 2012-2013 – variations in the prevalence of circulating B lineages were reported: in 2007/2008 and 2012/2013, B viruses accounted for 47.7% and 58%, respectively, of viruses isolated, while in other seasons B viruses co-circulated with virus A, although with a lower prevalence [8].

Vaccination is the most effective means of reducing the number of influenza cases and related complications. Annual influenza immunization is, in particular, recommended in elderly subjects, children aged six months or more, pregnant women and individuals with chronic conditions, such as respiratory/heart/ liver diseases, diabetes, or a weakened immune system. Indeed, these categories are at heightened risk of influenza-related complications and mortality [9]. In Italy, the National Ministry of Health annually publishes influenza prevention recommendations, specifying the groups to whom vaccination is offered free of charge. In addition, the Ministry sets a minimum target of vaccination coverage of 75% and an optimal target of 95% [10].

Season	Influenza vaccination strains, Northern Hemisphere			IS, Virus circulating in Europe and US		
	A/H1N1	A/H3N2	В	A/H1N1	A/H3N2	В
1995/96	Texas/91	Johan/94	Beijing/93	Texas/91	Johan/94	Beijing/93
1996/97	Bayern/95	Wuhan/95	Beijing/93	Bayern/95	Wuhan/95	Beijing/93
1997/98	Bayern/95	Wuhan/95	Beijing/93	Bayern/95	Syd/97	Harbin/94
1998/99	Beijing/95	Syd/97	Beijing/93	Bay/95+Beij/95	Syd/97	Beijing/93
1999/00	Beijing/95	Syd/97	Beijing/93	NewCal/99	Syd/97	Beijing/93
2000/01	NewCal/99	Pan/99	Yaman/98	Bay/95+NC/99	Syd/97	Sichuan/99
2001/02	NewCal/99	Pan/99	Sich/99 (Y)	NewCal/99	Pan/99	Sic/99+HK01
2002/03	NewCal/99	Pan/99	HK/01 (V)	NewCal/99	Fuj/02(Pan/99)	Sic/99+HK01
2003/04	NewCal/99	Pan/99	HK/01 (V)	NewCal/99	Fuj/02	Jiangs/03
2004/05	NewCal/99	Wyom/03	Jiangs/03 (Y)	NewCal/99	Calif/04	J/03+Mal/04
2005/06	NewCal/99	Calif/04	Jiangs/03 (Y)	NewCal/99	Cal/04+Wis/05	J/03+Mal/04
2006/07	NewCal/99	Wiscons/05	Malays/04 (V)	NC/99+Sal/06	Wisc/05	J/03+Mal/04
2007/08	Salom Is/06	Wiscons/05	Malays/04 (V)	Sal/06+Bris/07	Wisc/05+Bris/07	Bri/07+Mal/04
2008/09	Bris/07	Bris/07	Florida/06 (Y)	Bris/07	Bris/07	Florida/06+Brisb/08
2009/10	Bris/07	Bris/07	Bris/08 (V)	-	Bris/07	Bris/08 (V)
2009/10	Calif/09			Calif/09		
2010/11	Calif/09	Perth/09	Bris/08 (V)	Calif/09	Perth/09	Bris/08 (V)
2011/12	Calif/09	Perth/09	Bris/08 (V)	Calif/09	Vict/11+Brisb/11	Bris/08+Wisc/10
2012/13	Calif/09	Vict/11	Wiscons/10 (Y)	Calif/09	Vict/11+Texas/12	Bris/08 (V)+Mass/12 (Y)
2013/14	Calif/09	Vict/11	Mass/12 (Y)	Calif/09	Texas/12	Bris/08 (V)+Mass/12 (Y)
2014/15	Calif/09	Texas/12	Mass/12 (Y)	Calif/09	Switzerl/13 +Texas/12	Phuk/13(Y)+Mass/12(Y)
2015/16	Calif/09	Switzerl/13	Phuk/13(Y)	Calif/09	Hong Kong/14	Bris/08 (V)+Phuk/13 (Y)

Tab. I. Influenza vaccination strains and viruses circulating in the northern hemisphere in the seasons from 1995/96 to 2015/2016.

Legend: in yellow: minor mismatches; in red: major mismatches; in green: new influenza A strains with pandemic potential.

The World Health Organization (WHO) annually recommends vaccine composition on the basis of global virological surveillance. Annual trivalent influenza vaccines (TIVs) contain two influenza A strains (H1N1 and H3N2) and only one influenza B virus. The effectiveness of TIVs therefore depends on the degree of matching between the vaccine strain and circulating viral strains.

In the last two decades, four major and at least eight minor mismatches between vaccine and circulating B viruses have occurred in the northern hemisphere, thus impairing the performances of TIVs (Tab. I) [6]. Specifically, Ambrose CS and colleagues observed that, in Europe, a B-mismatch between vaccine and circulating strains occurred in 5 of 10 seasons between 2001 and 2011 [7]. The effect of antigenic mismatching between vaccine and circulating strains on vaccine effectiveness has emerged from observational and experimental studies [6, 11-14]. A recent meta-analysis by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the Marshfield Foundation reported that trivalent subunit or split influenza vaccines displayed good effectiveness in preventing lab-confirmed influenza illness when matching was good, but that vaccine effectiveness decreased when a drifted strain dominated the epidemiological picture [15]. Therefore, inaccurate prediction of the predominant influenza B lineage leaves many vaccinated individuals with suboptimal protection against influenza B disease caused by the influenza B lineage not included in the licensed trivalent vaccine [11].

To minimize the impact of B-mismatch on vaccine effectiveness, in February 2009 the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), for the first time, considered the inclusion of an additional influenza B strain in the antigenic composition of seasonal influenza vaccines [16]. Subsequently, in February 2012, the WHO recommended the production of quadrivalent influenza vaccines (QIVs) for seasonal immunization. In 2012, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) also highlighted the need for a quadrivalent vaccine that could overcome the lack of protection against the influenza B lineage not present in the trivalent vaccine. Finally, in February 2013, the WHO issued its first guidelines recommending that both expected B-strains be included in the vaccine composition [17-18]. In recent years, scientific research has addressed this need, and two quadrivalent influenza vaccines (QIVs) have been developed: a live-attenuated quadrivalent in-

#### Main evidence from pre- and postmarketing evaluations of licensed quadrivalent influenza vaccines

valent influenza vaccine (I/QIV) [19].

The immunogenicity, safety and tolerability of quadrivalent influenza vaccines have been evaluated in children, adults and the elderly in several clinical trials.

.....

fluenza vaccine (Q/LAIV) and a split inactivated quadri-

#### LIVE-ATTENUATED QUADRIVALENT INFLUENZA VACCINE (Q/LAIV)

Q/LAIV has mainly been tested in children. A phase-III, randomized, double-blind study performed on 2,312 children aged 2-17 years demonstrated that the immunogenicity of an investigational Q/LAIV was non-inferior to that of two licensed T/LAIVs, one containing a B strain from the Yamagata lineage and the other containing a strain from the Victoria lineage. Moreover, this Q/LAIV proved safe and well tolerated [20].

Since 2014/2015, Q/LAIV has been used in a universal pediatric vaccination programme in the United Kingdom (UK). In this real-life scenario, the vaccine was seen to provide significant protection against drifted circulating influenza B viruses [21].

### INACTIVATED QUADRIVALENT INFLUENZA VACCINE (I/QIV)

#### Children and adolescents

With respect to I/QIV, a phase II study was conducted in two groups of children aged 18-47 months: the first group was constituted by children who had received two doses of TIV in the previous season and who received one dose of TIV or I/QIV in the study season; the second group was composed of unprimed children who received two doses of I/QIV or TIV 28 days apart during the study season. In comparison with the TIV, the I/OIV displayed superior immunogenicity towards the alternative-lineage B strain, without impairing the immune responses to shared strains. Moreover, the two vaccines proved similar in terms of reactogenicity and safety [22]. These results were confirmed in a randomized phase III study conducted by Domachowske JB and colleagues in healthy children aged 3-17 years [23]. Langley and colleagues also investigated the immunogenicity and safety of a I/QIV candidate versus TIVs, in a phase-III randomized controlled trial involving 3,094 children aged 3-17 years. The I/QIV was non-inferior to the TIVs in terms of immunogenicity towards the shared strains (A/H3N2 and A/H1N1), and, in comparison with TIV controls, elicited superior responses to the added B strains. Solicited reactions, unsolicited adverse events and serious adverse events were similar in the I/QIV and pooled TIV groups [24].

#### Adults and elderly

The promising results obtaining with I/QIV in children were also confirmed in clinical trials performed in adult populations.

In a phase-III clinical trial comparing I/QIV with TIV/ Victoria and TIV/Yamagata vaccines, 4,659 adult volunteers received one vaccine dose. Overall, the I/QIV was highly immunogenic and, on day 21, displayed greater immunogenicity towards the additional B strain than TIV, without interfering with the antibody responses to the three shared antigens [25]. The I/QIV candidate was also tested in 1,565 adults aged  $\geq$  18 years in a phase III, randomized, active-controlled, multicenter trial during

the 2011/2012 influenza season. For all four vaccine strains, antibody responses to the I/QIV were non-inferior to those elicited by the TIV for matched strains. For both B strains, antibody responses to the I/QIV were non-inferior to the response to the TIV for the matched strains, and were superior to the responses elicited by the TIVs that lacked the corresponding B strain. The I/QIV also confirmed its acceptable safety profile in an adult population [26].

.....

The safety of I/QIV was investigated through a routine surveillance system in Western Australia in 2015 in a sample of 1,685 healthcare workers (HCWs). The results indicated little difference between the reactogenicity of I/QIV and that of TIV; the percentage of HCWs reporting pain or swelling at the injection site was slightly higher among those who had received I/QIV than those who had received TIV (6.9% vs 4.2%, respectively; p = 0.02) [27].

The safety of I/QIVs was verified in a review of data from the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS) in the US from 7/1/2013 to 5/31/2015. The most frequent non-fatal serious adverse events were: injection site reactions, such as pain and erythema, constitutional symptoms, Guillain-Barré syndrome, seizures, and anaphylaxis, though these were rare or very rare. Adverse events reported to the VAERS following I/QIVs were similar to those following TIVs [28].

On the basis of this evidence, the two quadrivalent influenza vaccines have recently been licensed in many countries, and have been gradually replacing TIVs in the immunization programs of these countries.

## Expected benefits of the quadrivalent influenza vaccines

As mentioned above, two different influenza B strains may co-circulate during an influenza season. Therefore, adding a second B strain to influenza vaccines increases the likelihood of achieving adequate protection against influenza B disease. Some recent studies have evaluated the expected benefits of including QIVs in national immunization programs. For instance, Eichner et al. compared the effects of QIVs and TIVs on influenza incidence by using an individual simulation model in which the concomitant transmission of four influenza strains, maternal protection, boosting of existing immunity, loss of immunity and cross-immunizing events between the B lineages over 50 years were considered as variables. Their study found that QIV administration could prevent 11.2% of all influenza B infections which still occur with TIV, thus reducing the influenza burden on the community [29].

The public health impact of QIVs in the United States was analyzed in a model by Crépey and colleagues in a dynamic retrospective framework with real-life vaccine mismatch.

Assuming 70% cross-protection of the efficacy of a matching vaccine, the model predicted that QIV would have prevented, on average, about 16% more B lineage

cases than TIV over the period 2000-2013 [30]. The elderly ( $\geq 65$  years) and adults aged 50-64 years were seen to benefit most from QIV, with 21% and 18% reductions, respectively, in B lineage cases [30].

Van Bellinghen et al. conducted a lifetime economic evaluation of QIVs in comparison with TIVs in elderly people and clinical risk groups in the UK. Using a multicohort Markov model, they estimated that quadrivalent influenza vaccination could further reduce the disease burden of influenza. The QIVs would be expected to result in substantial health benefits, reducing the number of symptomatic influenza cases, medical visits, complications, hospitalizations for complications and deaths, in comparison with TIVs [31]. In the UK, another study by Meier et al. applied a lifetime, multi-cohort static Markov model involving seven age-groups, and obtained analogous findings [32].

Thommes EW and colleagues used an age-stratified, dynamic four-strain transmission model which incorporated strain interaction, transmission-rate seasonality and agespecific mixing in the population, in order to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of quadrivalent influenza vaccines in Canada and the United Kingdom. The results of this analysis revealed that switching from trivalent to quadrivalent vaccines would be a cost-effective means of further reducing the burden of influenza in both countries [33].

You JH and colleagues simulated the outcomes of QIV vs. TIV in 6 age-groups: 0-4 years, 5-9 years, 10-14 years, 15-64 years, 65-79 years and  $\ge$  80 years. Direct cost alone, direct and indirect costs, and loss of quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs) due to TIV-unmatched influenza B infection were simulated for each study arm. In the base-case analysis, QIV was more effective than TIV in all age-groups, and proved to be cost-effective from the societal perspective in all age-groups, except for those aged 15-64 years. From the healthcare provider's perspective, QIV seemed to be cost-effective in very young (6 months – 9 years) and older ( $\ge$  80 years) age-groups [34].

In Italy, a lifetime, multi-cohort, static Markov model was constructed, and was run in one-year cycles for a lifetime (Maximum age: 100 years). The analysis demonstrated that QIV would be cost-effective compared with TIV. Specifically, QIV would be expected to reduce the number of influenza cases (by about 1,413.887), complications (by about 169,638), hospitalizations for complications (by about 41,862) and influenza deaths (by about 20,905). The incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) was € 18,883/QALY for the base case [8].

#### Conclusions

Influenza B viruses have a considerable public health burden, particularly among children and at-risk subjects. The belief that influenza B illness is less severe than influenza A leads to underestimation of its real impact. However, the type B influenza virus causes 20% to 25% of influenza infections worldwide. Since the mid-1980s, surveillance data have shown frequent co-circulation of both influenza B lineages, B/Victoria-like and B/ Yamagata-like, during influenza seasons. The conventional TIVs, containing only a single B strain, showed limited ability to induce effective protection when major or minor mismatches between the influenza B vaccine component and the circulating strains occurred, thus substantially reducing the clinical effectiveness of the trivalent influenza vaccine [35].

The availability of QIVs may contribute to overcoming the well-known difficulties of predicting the circulating B lineage and choosing the right influenza B vaccine component in trivalent influenza vaccines (TIVs) [36].

In recent years, two QIVs, an inactivated vaccine and a live-attenuated vaccine, have been developed and licensed for human use on the basis of the good safety, tolerability and immunogenicity profiles demonstrated during the entire pre-marketing research process [37]. In some countries, such as Canada, national guidelines now recommend QIVs in preference to trivalent vaccines for use in children and young people [38].

Available models simulating the inclusion of QIVs in influenza immunization programs support the benefits of this new preventive tool in terms of reductions in symptomatic influenza cases and related complications. Indeed, QIVs could reduce both direct costs in term of medical visits, hospitalizations and antibiotic prescriptions, and indirect costs related to working days lost by affected people and their caregivers.

However, some issues need to be addressed in the near future. In particular, estimations from simulation models should be confirmed by effectiveness studies in the field and more cost-effectiveness analyses should be conducted in order to verify the expected advantages in different epidemiological scenarios.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding declared for this overview.

#### References

- Thompson WW, Shay DK, Weintraub E, Brammer L, Bridges CB, Cox NJ, Fukuda K. *Influenza-associated hospitalizations* in the United States. JAMA 2004;292:1333-40.
- [2] Lafond KE, Nair H, Rasooly MH, Valente F, Booy R, Rahman M, Kitsutani P, Yu H, Guzman G, Coulibaly D, Armero J, Jima D, Howie SR, Ampofo W, Mena R, Chadha M, Sampurno OD, Emukule GO, Nurmatov Z, Corwin A, Heraud JM, Noyola DE, Cojocaru R, Nymadawa P, Barakat A, Adedeji A, von Horoch M, Olveda R, Nyatanyi T, Venter M, Mmbaga V, Chittaganpitch M, Nguyen TH, Theo A, Whaley M, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Bresee J, Campbell H, Widdowson MA; Global Respiratory Hospitalizations—Influenza Proportion Positive (GRIPP) Working Group.. Global Respiratory Hospitalizations—Influenza Proportion Positive (GRIPP) Working Group. *Global role and burden of influenza in pediatric respiratory hospitalizations, 1982-2012: a systematic analysis.* PLoS Med 2016;13:e1001977.
- [3] World Health Organization. Available at: http://www.who.int/ mediacentre/factsheets/fs211/en/ [Accessed on 10/01/16]
- [4] Zambon MC. Epidemiology and pathogenesis of influenza. J Antimicrob Chemother 1999;44(Suppl B):3-9.

.....

- [5] McCullers JA, Wang GC, He S, Webster RG. *Reassortment and insertion-deletion are strategies for the evolution of influenza B viruses in nature.* J Virol 1999;73:7343-8.
- [6] Rota PA, Wallis TR, Harmon MW, Rota JS, Kendal AP, Nerome K. Co-circulation of two distinct evolutionary lineages of influenza type B virus since 1983. Virology 1990;175:59-68.
- [7] Ambrose CS, Levin MJ. *The rationale for quadrivalent influenza vaccines*. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2012;8:81-8.
- [8] Kheiraoui F, Cadeddu C, Quaranta G, Poscia A, Raponi M, de Waure C, Boccalini S, Pellegrino E, Bellini I, Pieri L, Bechini A, Bonanni P, Barbieri M, Castagna S, Lapinet J, Marinello G, Tosatto R, Silvestri R. *Health technology assessment del vaccino antinfluenzale quadrivalente FLU-QIV (Fluarix TetrA*®). It J Public Health 2015;4:5.
- [9] Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 influenza season. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2015;64:818-25.
- [10] Circular Letter of the Italian Ministry of Health dated on 09/03/2015. Available at: http://www.trovanorme.salute.gov. it/norme/renderNormsanPdf?anno=0&codLeg=52703&par te=1%20&serie= [Accessed on 10/01/16]
- [11] Ansaldi F, D'Agaro P, De Florentiis D, Puzelli S, Lin YP, Gregory V, Bennett M, Donatelli I, Gasparini R, Crovari P, Hay A, Campello C. *Molecular characterization of influenza B viruses circulating in northern Italy during the 2001-2002 epidemic season.* J Med Virol 2003;70:463-9.
- [12] Jennings Z, Carter I, McPhie K, Kok J, Dwyer DE. Increased prevalence of influenza B/Victoria lineage viruses during early stages of the 2015 influenza season in New South Wales, Australia: implications for vaccination and planning. Euro Surveill 2015;20.pii:21201.
- [13] Belongia EA, Kieke BA, Donahue JG, Greenlee RT, Balish A, Foust A, Lindstrom S, Shay DK; Marshfield Influenza Study Group. Effectiveness of inactivated influenza vaccines varied substantially with antigenic match from the 2004-2005 season to the 2006-2007 season. J Infect Dis 2009;199:159-67.
- [14] Lo YC, Chuang JH, Kuo HW, Huang WT, Hsu YF, Liu MT, Chen CH, Huang HH, Chang CH, Chou JH, Chang FY, Lin TY, Chiu WT. Surveillance and vaccine effectiveness of an influenza epidemic predominated by vaccine-mismatched influenza B/Yamagata-lineage viruses in Taiwan, 2011-12 season. PLoS One 2013;8:e58222.
- [15] Hannoun C. The evolving history of influenza viruses and influenza vaccines. Expert Rev Vaccines 2013;12:1085-94.
- [16] Fda Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Advisory-Committees/CommitteesMeetingMaterials/BloodVaccinesandOtherBiologics/VaccinesandRelatedBiologicalProductsAdvisoryCommittee/UCM167159.pdf [Accessed on 10/01/16]
- [17] World Health Organization. Summary of status of development and availability of influenza B (Yamagata and Victoria lineage) candidate vaccine viruses\* and potency testing reagents. Available at: http://www.who.int/csr/disease/influenza/summary\_b\_ cvv\_reagents\_4\_may\_2011.pdf. [Accessed on 10/01/16]
- [18] European Medicines Agency issues recommendations for 2012/2013 seasonal flu vaccine composition. Available at: http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/ news\_and\_events/news/2012/03/news\_detail\_001467. jsp&mid=WC0b01ac058004d5c1. [Accessed on 20/01/16]
- [19] Darvishian M, Bijlsma MJ, Hak E, van den Heuvel ER. Effectiveness of seasonal influenza vaccine in community-dwelling elderly people: a meta-analysis of test-negative design casecontrol studies. Lancet Infect Dis 2014;14:1228-39.
- [20] Block SL, Falloon J, Hirschfield JA, Krilov LR, Dubovsky F, Yi T, Belshe RB. *Immunogenicity and safety of a quadrivalent live attenuated influenza vaccine in children*. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2012; 31:745-51.

.....

[21] Pebody R, Warburton F, Andrews N, Ellis J, von Wissmann B, Robertson C, Yonova I, Cottrell S, Gallagher N, Green H, Thompson C, Galiano M, Marques D, Gunson R, Reynolds A, Moore C, Mullett D, Pathirannehelage S, Donati M, Johnston J, de Lusignan S, McMenamin J, Zambon M. Effectiveness of seasonal influenza vaccine in preventing laboratory-confirmed influenza in primary care in the United Kingdom: 2014/15 end of season results. Euro Surveill 2015;20:1-11.

- [22] Rodriguez Weber MA, Claeys C, Aranza Doniz C, Feng Y, Innis BL, Jain VK, Peeters M. Immunogenicity and safety of inactivated quadrivalent and trivalent influenza vaccines in children 18-47 months of age. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2014;33:1262-9.
- [23] Domachowske JB, Pankow-Culot H, Bautista M, Feng Y, Claeys C, Peeters M, Innis BL, Jain V. A randomized trial of candidate inactivated quadrivalent influenza vaccine versus trivalent influenza vaccines in children aged 3-17 years. J Infect Dis 2013;207:1878-87.
- [24] Langley JM, Carmona Martinez A, Chatterjee A, Halperin SA, McNeil S, Reisinger KS, Aggarwal N, Huang LM, Peng CT, Garcia-Sicilia J, Salamanca de la Cueva I, Cabañas F, Treviño-Garza C, Rodríguez-Weber MA, de la O M, Chandrasekaran V, Dewé W, Liu A, Innis BL, Jain VK. *Immunogenicity and safety* of an inactivated quadrivalent influenza vaccine candidate: a phase III randomized controlled trial in children. J Infect Dis 2013;208:544-53.
- [25] Kieninger D, Sheldon E, Lin WY, Yu CJ, Bayas JM, Gabor JJ, Esen M, Fernandez Roure JL, Narejos Perez S, Alvarez Sanchez C, Feng Y, Claeys C, Peeters M, Innis BL, Jain V. Immunogenicity, reactogenicity and safety of an inactivated quadrivalent influenza vaccine candidate versus inactivated trivalent influenza vaccine: a phase III, randomized trial in adults aged ≥ 18 years. BMC Infect Dis 2013;13:343.
- [26] Pépin S, Donazzolo Y, Jambrecina A, Salamand C, Saville M. Safety and immunogenicity of a quadrivalent inactivated influenza vaccine in adults. Vaccine 2013;31: 5572-8.
- [27] Regan AK, Tracey L, Gibbs R. Post-marketing surveillance of adverse events following immunization with inactivated quadrivalent and trivalent influenza vaccine in health care providers in Western Australia. Vaccine 2015;33:6149-51.
- [28] Haber P, Moro PL, Lewis P, Woo EJ, Jankosky C, Cano M. Post-licensure surveillance of quadrivalent inactivated influenza (IIV4) vaccine in the United States, Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS), July 1, 2013-May 31, 2015. Vaccine 2016. pii:S0264-410X(16)30031-7.
- [29] Eichner M, Schwehm M, Hain J, Uphoff H, Salzberger B, Knuf M, Schmidt-Ott R. 4Flu - an individual based simulation tool to study the effects of quadrivalent vaccination on seasonal influenza in Germany. BMC Infectious Diseases 2014;14:365.
- [30] Crépey P, de Boer PT, Postma MJ, Pitman R. Retrospective public health impact of a quadrivalent influenza vaccine in the United States. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2015;9(Suppl 1):39-46.
- [31] Van Bellinghen LA, Meier G, Van Vlaenderen I. *The potential* cost-effectiveness of quadrivalent versus trivalent influenza vaccine in elderly people and clinical risk groups in the UK: a lifetime multi-cohort model. PLoS One 2014;9:e98437.
- [32] Meier G, Gregg M, Poulsen Nautrup B. Cost-effectiveness analysis of quadrivalent influenza vaccination in at-risk adults and the elderly: an updated analysis in the UK. J Med Econom 2015;18:746-76.
- [33] Thommes EW, Ismaila A, Chit A, Meier G, Bauch CT. Costeffectiveness evaluation of quadrivalent influenza vaccines for seasonal influenza prevention: a dynamic modeling study of Canada and the United Kingdom. BMC Infect Dis. 2015;15:465.
- [34] You JH, Ming WK, Chan PK. Cost-effectiveness of quadrivalent influenza vaccine in Hong Kong – A decision analysis. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2015;11:564-71.
- [35] Tafalla M, Buijssen M, Geets R, Noordegraaf-Schouten MV. A comprehensive review of the epidemiology and disease burden

of influenza B in 9 European countries. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2016:1-10. [Epub ahead of print]

- [36] van de Sandt CE, Bodewes R, Rimmelzwaan GF, de Vries RD. Influenza B viruses: not to be discounted. Future Microbiol 2015;10:1447-65.
- [37] Bekkat-Berkani R, Ray R, Jain VK, Chandrasekaran V, Innis

BL. Evidence update: GlaxoSmithKline's inactivated quadrivalent influenza vaccines. Expert Rev Vaccines 2016;15:201-14.

[38] Moore DL; Canadian Paediatric Society, Infectious Diseases and Immunization Committee. Vaccine recommendations for children and youth for the 2014/2015 influenza season. Paediatr Child Health 2014;19:440-4.

------

■ Received on February 13, 2016 - Accepted on February 29, 2016

<sup>■</sup> Correspondence: Ilaria Barberis, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, via A. Pastore 1, 16132 Genoa, Italy - Tel. +39 010 3538123 - Fax +39 010 505618 E-mail: ilaria.barberis@ fastwebnet.it

### Introduction of a quadrivalent influenza vaccine in Italy: a budget impact analysis

A. PITRELLI

Access to Medicine, GlaxoSmithKline Italia, Verona, Italy

#### Keywords

Influenza • Budget Impact Analysis • QIV

#### Summary

Every year in Italy, the Ministry of Health (MoH) offers influenza vaccination free of charge to all subjects at risk and to all subjects aged  $\geq 65$  year old. Until 2014-2015 immunization campaign against Trivalent Influenza Vaccine (TIVs) were the only vaccines used in Italy.

Traditional TIVs contain antigens from three viral strains: A(H1N1), A(H3N2), and one of the two B lineages: B(Victoria) or B(Yamagata). Each year, the World Health Organization (WHO) decides which viral strains should be included in the next seasonal influenza vaccine. However, accurately predicting which B-lineage strain will predominate in the upcoming season has proved to be a challenging task, owing to the co-circulation of both lineages.

To address the issue of B-mismatch, a new Quadrivalent Influenza Vaccine (QIV) containing both B-lineage strains

#### Introduction

Every year the Italian Ministry of Health (MoH) offers an Influenza Immunization Program for all subjects at higher risk of flu complications on the basis of age ( $\geq$  65 years old) or clinical and professional condition. Until 2014-2015 immunization campaign against influenza, Trivalent Inactivated influenza Vaccines (TIVs) were the only vaccines used in Italy.

Traditional TIVs contain antigens from three viral strains: A(H1N1), A(H3N2), and one of two B lineages: B(Victoria) or B(Yamagata). Each year, the World Health Organization (WHO) decides which viral strains should be included in the next seasonal influenza vaccine. However, accurately predicting which Blineage strain will predominate in the upcoming season has proved to be a challenging task, resulting in frequent mismatches with the vaccine strain [1], owing to the co-circulation of both lineages or the predominant circulation of the non-vaccine B-lineage. During mismatch seasons, efficacy and effectiveness against the opposite B lineage are lower [2-8]. To address the issue of B-mismatch, a new Quadrivalent Inactivated influenza Vaccine (QIV) containing both B-lineage strains has been developed, in order to provide broader protection against influenza. The new QIV was available in Italy [9] and included by the MoH in the national

......

has been developed, in order to achieve broader protection against influenza. The new QIV was approved in Italy in 2015 and included by the MoH in the national recommendations for the seasonal immunization campaign against influenza 2015-2016.

.....

Recently, a Health Technology Assessment (HTA) Report has shown that, in comparison with TIVs, the new QIV is cost-effective (Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratio (ICER) =  $\notin$  18,883/ (QALY) Quality-Adjusted Life-Year) from the Italian National Health Service (NHS) perspective. The present Budget Impact Analysis (BIA) showed that the introduction of the QIV with a 9% market share in the vaccine mix for the 2015-2016 flu campaign would yield an annual saving of  $\notin$  674,089, mainly owing to the broader protection offered by QIV vs TIVs with an estimated 49.12% B-mismatch.

recommendations for the seasonal immunization campaign against influenza 2015-2016 [10].

Recently, a Health Technology Assessment (HTA) Report has shown that, in comparison with TIVs, the new QIV is cost-effective (Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratio (ICER) =  $\notin$  18,883/(QALY) Quality-Adjusted Life-Year) from the Italian National Health Service (NHS) perspective [11].

The objective of the present analysis was to estimate the budget impact of the new QIV after its introduction into the national flu immunization campaign in Italy.

#### Methods

A budget impact analysis (BIA) was made from the NHS perspective, in order to estimate the financial impact due to the introduction of the QIV into the vaccine mix included by the MoH in the influenza immunization campaign for the 2015-2016 flu season.

The BIA included the following input data:

- population eligible for influenza immunization and vaccine coverage (target population);
- epidemiology of influenza in Italy;
- efficacy of QIV *vs* TIV;
- vaccine mix and vaccine cost;
- direct influenza costs.

The analysis considered a single-year time horizon and focused on the first year of QIV introduction by the MoH in the 2015-2016 flu immunization campaign.

The results are shown as the net budget impact of the scenario of QIV in the flu vaccine mix (new scenario) versus the scenario in which only TIVs are used in the influenza immunization program (current scenario).

#### TARGET POPULATION

The population targeted by the national Influenza Immunization Program was calculated on the basis of the Italian population in 2014 [12].

Every year in Italy, the MoH offers free influenza vaccination to all subjects at risk (for clinical/professional reasons) and to all subjects aged  $\geq 65$  year old, regardless of other risk factors.

The prevalence of at-risk subjects eligible for influenza vaccination was calculated from the data collected in 25 EU countries (including Italy) by Ryan et al. [13]. The influenza vaccine coverage data in 2014 were then applied to the Italian general population, in order to estimate the annual number of subjects undergoing influenza vaccination within the national Immunization Program [14, 15].

The target population included in the BIA is summarized in Table I.

#### **EPIDEMIOLOGY OF INFLUENZA IN ITALY**

The probability of contracting influenza in an unvaccinated population was derived from the study by Turner et al. and is reported in Table II [16].

The prevalence of A and B influenza viruses circulating during a season was estimated as the average data (A virus = 74.12% and B virus = 25.88%) from ECDC Surveillance Reports from 2003 to 2012 (excluding the 2009-2010 pandemic season) [11].

The prevalence of B-lineage strains circulating during a season was estimated as the average data from ECDC Surveillance Reports from 2003 to 2012 (B-Yamagata = 50.88% and B-Victoria = 49.12%) [11].

Age- range	Population	Overall Vaccine Coverage (%)	Population at risk (%)	Population at risk vaccinated (%)
< 5	2,724.106	2.04	15.10	9.66
5-17	7,433.899	2.30	15.18	10.86
18-49	25,543.294	3.87	16.52	17.24
50-59	8,435.388	9.50	45.36	19.30
60-64	3,361.039	9.50	45.36	19.30
65-69	3,447.791	55.40	45.63	55.40
70-74	3,044.129	55.40	46.15	55.40
75-79	2,645.596	55.40	47.31	55.40
80-84	2,013.904	55.40	50.05	55.40
≥ 85	1,863.522	55.40	57.44	55.40
Total	60,782,688	16.33	28.66	31.02

Tab. I. Target population included in the BIA.

Tab. II. Probability of contracting influenza in the population brokendown age-range.

Age-range	Probability (%)
< 5	19.21
5-17	19.21
18-49	6.55
50-59	6.55
60-64	6.55
65-69	6.17
70-74	6.17
75-79	6.17
80-84	6.17
≥ 85	6.17
Average	8.58

#### **EFFICACY OF QIV vs TIV**

In the present BIA, we assumed that:

- the efficacy of QIV vs TIVs in preventing influenza A viruses was the same; age-specific QIV and TIV efficacy versus influenza A viruses is reported in Table III [17-19];
- the efficacy of QIV vs TIVs in preventing influenza B virus was the same for the vaccine B-strain (matching) in TIVs but higher for the B-strain not

.....

	Influenz	a A virus				
Age-range	QIV efficacy	TIV efficacy	QIV efficacy	TIV efficacy in match	TIV in mismatch	Overall TIV efficacy <i>vs</i> B virus
< 5	59%	59%	66%	66%	44%	55%
5-17	59%	59%	77%	77%	52%	64%
18-49	61%	61%	77%	77%	52%	64%
50-59	61%	61%	73%	73%	49%	61%
60-64	61%	61%	73%	73%	49%	61%
65-69	58%	58%	69%	69%	47%	58%
70-74	58%	58%	69%	69%	47%	58%
75-79	58%	58%	66%	66%	44%	55%
80-84	58%	58%	66%	66%	44%	55%
≥ 85	58%	58%	66%	66%	44%	55%
Total	59%	59%	66%	66%	44%	55%

Tab. III. Efficacy of QIV vs TIVs in preventing influenza viruses.

Vaccine	Current	scenario	New scenario		
	Market share (MS)	Unit price	Market share (MS)	Unit price	
Split	49%	2.55 €	52%	2.55€	
Intradermal	26%	5.36 €	25%	5.36 €	
Adjuvanted	25%	5.33 €	14%	5.33€	
QIV	0	0	9%	6.00€	
Total	100%		100%		

**Tab. IV.** Unit prices and market shares of the vaccines in the BIA.

Tab. V. Cost of influenza: direct costs included in the BIA and probabilities that patients with influenza will generate these costs.

Health resource	Probability of generating the cost for patients with influenza (%)	Cost	Source
GP consultation	60%	20.66 €	[21]
Antibiotic therapy	17 30/	3.53 € (< 18 years)/	Final cost on multiplying the initial cost by the
	47.5%	3.06 € (≥ 18years)	likelihood of receiving antibiotics [22, 23]
Antiviral therapy	0.17%	17.3 € (< 5years) /	[24, 25]
	0.17%	38.5 € (≥ 5years)	[24, 25]

included in TIVs, (mismatching); these are reported in Table III. In both cases, the efficacy of QIV *vs* TIVs was derived from the meta-analysis by Tricco et al. [20];

the B-mismatch value considered in order to estimate the overall efficacy of TIVs vs influenza B was 49.12%.

The overall efficacy of TIVs *vs* influenza B virus in the present analysis was derived by applying the following formula:

TIVs Overall efficacy *vs* influenza B-virus = (TIV efficacy in match\*B-matching) + (TIV efficacy in mismatch\*B-mismatching)

For example, if, in subjects aged 5-17 years, the efficacy of TIVs *vs* B is 77% in the scenario of matching and 52% in the scenario of mismatching, on considering an average TIV B-match of 49.12%, the overall efficacy of TIVs *vs* influenza B in that age-group is:

TIV Overall Efficacy vs influenza B virus = (77%\*100%-49.12%)+(52%\*49.12%) = 64%

#### VACCINE MIX AND VACCINE COST

The BIA was conducted by comparing two scenarios: *Current scenario*: this scenario included only TIVs in the vaccination strategy, and the vaccine mix was based on the TIV doses included in the allotments requested by the 20 Italian Regions for the 2014-2015 flu season (when QIV was not yet available on the market); specifically, the vaccine mix in the analysis included:

- inactivated trivalent split influenza virus vaccine (Split);
- intradermal influenza vaccine (Intradermal);
- adjuvanted influenza vaccine (Adjuvanted).

*New scenario*: this scenario included the QIV as an alternative to TIVs and the vaccine mix was based

.....

on QIV and TIV doses included in the allotments requested by the 20 Italian Regions for the 2015-2016 flu season; specifically, the vaccine mix in the analysis included:

- inactivated trivalent split influenza virus vaccine (Split);
- intradermal influenza vaccine (Intradermal);
- adjuvanted influenza vaccine (Adjuvanted);
- inactivated tetravalent split influenza virus vaccine (QIV).

It was assumed that in both scenarios the B-strain included in TIVs was Yamagata, in accordance with TIV antigen composition in the 2014-2015 and 2015-2016 flu seasons.

Vaccine prices in the analysis were based on the average regional tender price in the 2015-2016 flu season.

The vaccine mix and vaccine prices in both scenarios are summarized in Table IV.

#### DIRECT INFLUENZA COST

The analysis estimated one-year health resource consumption related to influenza, with or without the introduction of QIV into the National Influenza Immunization program.

Table V reports the direct costs included in the analysis and the probabilities that patients with influenza will generate these costs.

The analysis also took into account the frequency and the cost of influenza patients with complications:

- the frequency of complications in patients with influenza, regardless of age, was 29.46%; this was estimated from the data reported by Sessa et al. [21];
- the frequency of complications requiring hospitalization was 11.56% for subjects at risk and 7.15% for subjects not at risk [26];
- in the analysis, it was assumed that 90.77% of these complications requiring hospitalization were respiratory, and that 9.23% were other complications unrelated to the respiratory tract.

Respiratory complications	Inpatient cost < 18 years	Inpatient cost $\geq$ 18 years	Outpatient
Bronchitis	1,538 €	1,832 €	90 €
Pneumonia	1,948 €	2,291 €	90 €
Upper Respiratory Tract Infections (URTI)	5,768€	€4,422	€90
Other complications not related to respiratory tract	2,777€	2,900 €	83 €

Tab. VI. Costs of influenza complications: inpatient and outpatient settings.

Table VI reports the costs of complications in inpatient (hospitalization) and outpatient settings, based on DRG tariffs.

#### Results

The objective of this analysis was to estimate the budget impact of the new QIV after its introduction into the National Immunization campaign in Italy.

In the base-case scenario, we assumed that, in the 2015-2016 flu season:

- the TIVs used contained the Yamagata B-strain;
- the prevalence of A and B viruses circulating during the 2015-2016 flu season was 74.12% and 25.88%, respectively, and that of the Yamagata and Victoria Bstrains circulating during the same year was 50.88% and 49.12%, respectively;
- the QIV was used in 9% of the population eligible for the National Influenza Immunization campaign in Italy;
- the price of a single dose of QIV was 6.00 €.

The results of the base-case scenario are shown in Tables VII and VIII. The base-case scenario simulated the impact of QIV introduction on the basis of the real volumes of influenza vaccines requested by the Italian Regions for the 2015-2016 flu season, in comparison with the vaccine mix without QIV and based on the TIV volume requested by the Italian Regions for the 2014-2015 flu season (when QIV was not yet on the market).

Comparison of the two scenarios (new versus current) revealed that, according to the estimates in the present analysis (49.12% B-mismatch), the introduction of QIV would prevent 1,601 influenza events (including 1,031 with complications), as a consequence of the broader protection of QIV against B-strain virus.

This broader protection of QIV vs TIVs in the new scenario resulted in a saving of  $\notin$  419,389 in the annual influenza treatment costs borne by the NHS. Although the cost of introducing QIV at 9% (858,538 units) was  $\notin$  5,151.230 (due to the higher purchase cost of QIVs vs TIVs), it was fully offset by the 3% increase in the MS of the split vaccines and the 12% decrease in the MS of the intradermal vaccine and adjuvanted vaccine, which yielded a saving of  $\notin$  5,405.930. Thus, the net result of introducing QIV on the cost of vaccination was a saving of  $\notin$  254,700.

The estimated net budget impact of the introduction of QIV into the National Influenza Immunization program in the flu season 2015-2016 was a saving of  $\notin$  674,089 *vs* the scenario with no QIV.

Tab.	VII.	Impact	of	the	introduction	of	а	QIV	in	Italy	on	influenza
cases	s: ba	se-case	res	ults.								

	Current scenario	New or alternative scenario	∆ (avoided cases with new scenario)
Subjects covered by vaccination	9,539.315	9,539.315	
With TIVs	9,539.315	8,680.777	
With QIV	0	858,538	
Influenza events without complications in immunized subjects	255,703	254,102	-1,601
Influenza events with complications in immunized subjects	166,596	165,565	-1,031
Bronchitis in immunized subjects	69,924	69,491	-433
Pneumonia in immunized subjects	6,351	6,312	-39
Upper respiratory tract infections (URTI) in immunized subjects	74,944	74,481	-464
Other complications not related to respiratory tract in immunized subjects	15,377	15,282	-95
Hospitalization in immunized subjects	16,073	15,973	-100

The BIA considered two alternative scenarios in addition to that of the base-case:

no B-mismatch:

- prevalence of A and B influenza virus circulating during a season: A virus = 74.12% and B virus = 25.88%;
- prevalence of B-lineage strains circulating: B-Yamagata = 100% and B-Victoria = 0%;
- the QIV was used in 9% of the population eligible for the National Influenza Immunization campaign in Italy;

.....

- the price of a single dose of QIV was  $\notin$  6.00;
- TIVs contained the Yamagata B-strain.

	Current scenario (€)	New Scenario (€)	∆ (€)
Vaccination cost	37,924.500	37,669.800	-254,700
TIVs	37,924.500	32,518.570	
QIV	0	5,151.230	
Cost of influenza	3,559.199	3,536.906	-22,293
GP consultation	3,169.698	3,149.846	-19,852
Antibiotic therapy	372,881	370,543	-2,337
Antiviral therapy	16,620	16,516	-104
Cost of influenza with complications	63,844.008	63,446.912	-397,096
Inpatient cost	50,394.190	50,080.269	-313,920
Outpatient cost	13,449.818	13,366.643	-83,176
Total	105,327.707	104,653.618	-674,089

Tab. VIII. Impact of the introduction of a QIV in Italy on direct influenza costs: base-case results.

full B-mismatch:

- prevalence of A and B influenza virus circulating during a season: A virus = 74.12% and B virus = 25.88%;
- prevalence of B-lineage strains circulating: B-Yamagata = 0% and B-Victoria = 100%;
- the QIV was used in 9% of the population eligible for the National Influenza Immunization campaign in Italy:
- the price of a single dose of QIV was  $\notin$  6.00;
- TIVs contained the Yamagata B-strain.

Figures 1 and 2 summarize the results from these two additional scenarios versus the base-case.

In the No B-mismatch scenario, there was no impact of QIV introduction in preventing influenza cases versus TIVs, owing to the complete match between the Bstrain circulating and the B-strain contained in the TIVs. Nevertheless, the net budget impact in this scenario was favourable, because the incremental cost due to OIV introduction was fully offset by increased use of split vac-

.....

cine (Market Share (MS) +3%) and the decreased use of intradermal vaccine and adjuvanted vaccine (MS -12%), produced a net saving of € 254,700 in a year.

In the Full B-mismatch scenario, the influenza cases avoided through the introduction of QIV was 3,120. In this scenario, the broader protection offered by QIV vs TIVs was maximized by the 100% mismatch between the B-strain circulating and the B-strain contained in the TIVs. The net budget impact in this scenario was highly in favour of the introduction of QIV, with € 1,087.382 saved in one year. The majority of this saving came from the reduction in influenza treatment costs produced by QIV versus TIVs, owing to the full B-mismatch (-€ 832,692).

#### Discussion

The WHO and European Health Authorities encouraged the development of QIV in order to achieve broader protection against influenza by reducing the impact of



![](_page_41_Figure_1.jpeg)

B-Mismatch. Until 2014-2015 immunization campaign against influenza, only TIVs were available for the National Influenza Immunization campaign in Italy. Traditional TIVs contain antigens from three viral strains: A (H1N1), A (H3N2), and one of two co-circulating B lineages: B(Victoria) or B(Yamagata). Each year, the WHO decides which viral strains should be included in the next seasonal influenza vaccine.

However, accurately predicting which B-lineage strain will predominate in the upcoming season has proved to be a challenging task, resulting in frequent mismatches with the vaccine strain. During mismatch seasons, efficacy and effectiveness against the opposite B lineage are lower because of the lack of cross-protection of the B-strain contained in the TIVs vs the circulating B-strain, when they differ.

In 2015, the first QIV was approved by the Italian Drug Agency (AIFA), and was included in the National Influenza Immunization campaign by the MoH for the 2015/2016 flu season.

An HTA Report showed that this new QIV was more cost-effective than TIVs (ICER = € 18,883/QALY) from the Italian NHS perspective.

In the present analysis, we estimated the BIA after the introduction of QIV as an alternative to TIVs. The BIA showed that, with a 9% MS in the vaccine mix for the 2015-2016 flu campaign, the introduction of the QIV yielded an annual saving of  $\notin$  674,089, mainly due to the broader protection offered by QIV *vs* TIVs with an estimated 49.12% B-mismatch.

QIV is an effective and safe alternative to TIVs, offering broader protection when B-mismatch occurs in the flu season. From the NHS perspective, QIV is cost-effective in Italy; our budget impact analysis estimated that the introduction of QIV into the influenza immunization campaign in 2015/2016 would produce a net annual saving ranging from € 254,700 (0% B-mismatch, Incremental cost of QIV fully offset by the saving due to the increased MS of split vaccines and the decreased MS of intradermal and adjuvanted vaccines) to  $\notin 1,087,392$  (100% B-mismatch).

#### Acknowledgments

A.P. is an employee of GlaxoSmithKline SpA - Pharmaceuticals.

#### References

- [1] Ambrose CS, Levin MJ. *The rationale for quadrivalent influenza vaccines*. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2012;8:81-8.
- [2] Skowronski DM, Masaro C, Kwindt TL, Mak A, Petric M, Li Y, Sebastian R, Chong M, Tam T, De Serres G. Estimating vaccine effectiveness against laboratory-confirmed influenza using a sentinel physician network: results from the 2005-2006 season of dual A and B vaccine mismatch in Canada. Vaccine 2007;25:2842-51.
- [3] Beran J, Wertzova V, Honegr K, Kaliskova E, Havlickova M, Havlik J, Jirincova H, Van Belle P, Jain V, Innis B, Devaster JM. Challenge of conducting a placebo-controlled randomized efficacy study for influenza vaccine in a season with low attack rate and a mismatched vaccine B strain: a concrete example. BMC Infect Dis 2009;9:2.
- [4] Skowronski DM, De SG, Dickinson J, Petric M, Mak A, Fonseca K, Kwindt TL, Chan T, Bastien N, Charest H, Li Y. Component-specific effectiveness of trivalent influenza vaccine as monitored through a sentinel surveillance network in Canada, 2006-2007. J Infect Dis 2009;199:168-79.
- [5] Frey S, Vesikari T, Szymczakiewicz-Multanowska A, Lattanzi M, Izu A, Groth N, Holmes S. Clinical efficacy of cell culturederived and egg-derived inactivated subunit influenza vaccines in healthy adults. Clin Infect Dis 2010;51:997-1004.
- [6] Belongia EA, Kieke BA, Donahue JG, Coleman LA, Irving SA, Meece JK, Vandermause M, Lindstrom S, Gargiullo P, Shay DK. Influenza vaccine effectiveness in Wisconsin during the 2007-08 season: comparison of interim and final results. Vaccine 2011;29:6558-63.

- [7] Heinonen S, Silvennoinen H, Lehtinen P, Vainionpaa R, Ziegler T, Heikkinen T. Effectiveness of inactivated influenza vaccine in children aged 9 months to 3 years: an observational cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 2011;11:23-9.
- [8] Janjua NZ, Skowronski DM, De SG, Dickinson J, Crowcroft NS, Taylor M, Winter AL, Hottes TS, Fonseca K, Charest H, Drews SJ, Sabaiduc S, Bastien N, Li Y, Gardy JL, Petric M. Estimates of influenza vaccine effectiveness for 2007-2008 from Canada's sentinel surveillance system: cross-protection against major and minor variants. J Infect Dis 2012;205:1858-68.
- [9] Gazzetta Ufficiale Numero Determina 364/2015. Available at: www.gazzettaufficiale.it [Accessed 05/01/16].
- [10] Prevenzione e controllo dell'influenza: raccomandazioni per la stagione 2015-2016. Ministero della Salute Direzione Generale Della Prevenzione Sanitaria CCM Ufficio V ex DGPREV Malattie Infettive e Profilassi Internazionale. Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/portale/news/p3\_2\_1\_1\_1.jsp?menu=n otizie&p=dalministero&id=2218. [Accessed 05/01/16].
- [11] Barbieri M, Silvestri R, Boccalini S, de Waure C. Analisi di costo-efficacia della vaccinazione anti-influenzale in Italia. QIJPH 2015;5:70-83.
- [12] National Demographic Institute. ISTAT. Available at: http:// demo.istat.it [Accessed 05/01/16].
- [13] Ryan J, Zoellner Y, Gradi B, Palache B, Medema J. Establishing the health economic impact of influenza vaccination within European Union 25 Countries. Vaccine 2006;24:6812-22.
- [14] Vaccinazione antinfluenzale: stagione 2013/2014. Elaborazione MinSal – ISS aggiornamento 10/06/14. Available at: www.salute.gov [Accessed 05/01/16].
- [15] Rapporto Nazionale Passi 2012: vaccinazione antinfluenzale stagionale http://www.epicentro.iss.it/passi/rapporto2012/vaccinazioneAntinluenzale.asp
- [16] Turner D, Wailoo A, Nicholson K, Cooper N, Sutton A, Abrams K. Systematic review and economic decision modeling for the prevention and treatment of influenza A and B. Health Technol Assess 2003;7:iii-iv,xi-xiii,1-170.

[17] Jefferson T, Rivetti A, Harnden A, Di Pietrantonj C, Demicheli V. Vaccines for preventing influenza in healthy children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008;2:CD004879.

- [18] Jefferson T, Rivetti A, Di Pietrantonj C, Demicheli V, Ferroni E. Vaccines for preventing influenza in healthy adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010;7:CD001269.
- [19] Jefferson T, Di Pietrantonj C, Rivetti A, Bawazeer GA, Al-Ansary LA, Ferroni E. Vaccines for preventing influenza in healthy adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;3:CD001269.
- [20] Tricco AC. Comparing influenza vaccine efficacy against mismatched and matched strains: a systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Med 2013;11:153.
- [21] Sessa A, Costa B, Bamfi F, Bettoncelli G, D'Ambrosio G. The incidence, natural history and associated outcomes of influenza like illness and clinical influenza in Italy. Family Practice 2001;18:629-34.
- [22] Esposito S, Cantarutti L, Molteni CG, Daleno C, Scala A, Tagliabue C, Pelucchi C, Giaquinto C, Principi N. *Clinical manifestations and socio-economic impact of influenza among healthy children in the community*. J Infection 2011;62:379-87.
- [23] Iannazzo S. Pharmacoeconomic evaluation of the MF59 adjuvanted influenza vaccine in the elderly population in Italy. J Prev Med Hyg 2011;52:1-8.
- [24] Unit cost: IMS data, Dosing, from the electronic Medicines Compendium (eMC) 2014: Zanamivir. Available at: http://www. medicines.org.uk/emc/medicine/2608 [Accessed 05/01/16].
- [25] Unit cost: IMS data, Dosing, from the electronic Medicines Compendium (eMC) 2014: Oseltamivir. Available at https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/medicine/10446/SPC/ Tamiflu+75mg+hard+capsule/ [Accessed 05/01/16].
- [26] Tappenden P, Jackson R, Cooper K, Rees A, Simpson E, Read R, Nicholson K. Amantadine, oseltamvir and zanamavirfor the prophylaxis of influenza A systematic review and economic evaluation. HTA 2009;11:73-5.

Received on January 20, 2016. Accepted on February 27, 2016.

Correspondence: Andrea Pitrelli, GlaxoSmithKline Italia SpA, via
A. Fleming 2, 37135 Verona, Italy - Tel. +39 045 9218111 - E-mail: andrea.n.pitrelli@gsk.com

......

### Available influenza vaccines: immunization strategies, history and new tools for fighting the disease

I. BARBERIS<sup>1</sup>, M. MARTINI<sup>1</sup>, F. IAVARONE<sup>1</sup>, A. ORSI<sup>1, 2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy; <sup>2</sup>IRCCS AOU S. Martino, IST Genoa, Italy

#### Keywords

Influenza vaccines • Immunization strategies • Quadrivalent influenza vaccine • Cost-effectiveness

#### Summary

The main public health strategy for containing influenza-related disease is annual vaccination, which is recommended for the elderly and others belonging to risk-factor categories, who present the highest morbidity and mortality, as reported by the World Health Organization (WHO) Recommendations.

The availability of different influenza vaccine formulations makes the choice of the best immunization strategy a challenge for stakeholders and public health experts. Heterogeneity in at-risk categories included in national influenza vaccine recommendations still exists, in particular among European countries. Broader consensus is expected, which should positively impact on influenza vaccination coverage.

The availability of quadrivalent vaccines, containing both influenza B lineages, offers the potential to improve protection by overcoming the drawbacks of wrongly predicting which B lineage will predominate in a given year.

#### Introduction

The main public health strategy for containing influenza is annual vaccination, which is recommended for the elderly and others belonging to risk-factor categories, which present the highest morbidity and mortality, as reported by the World Health Organization (WHO) Recommendations [1].

Influenza viruses are constantly changing, mainly as a result of so-called "antigenic drift", which consists of the continuous, spontaneous modification of viral surface composition, and regards hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) proteins. For this reason, the vaccine composition has to be adapted annually to integrate viral strains as similar as possible to the epidemic strains.

The degree of similarity or difference between the circulating viruses and the viruses included in the vaccines is often referred to as "vaccine match" or "vaccine mismatch".

Vaccine effectiveness, i.e. the ability to prevent influenza cases, is determined both by the degree of vaccine matching and by the characteristics of the subjects immunized, such as their age and health status.

The degree of antigenic drift and the frequency of drifted viruses in circulation can change from one season to another, in comparison with each of the strains included in the seasonal flu vaccine. Since 1973, surveillance systems have enabled the WHO to issue recommendations for the composition of influenza vaccines.

Careful analysis of epidemiological data based on the antigenic identification of strains, pathogenic potential and transmissibility is a valuable means of evaluating the persistence and dissemination of new influenza strains [2-4].

Since 1999, the WHO has issued two different sets of recommendations every year: one for the northern and one for the southern hemisphere; these recommendations are issued several months before the influenza season begins, in order to allow timely production of the upcoming seasonal influenza vaccine in conformity with the manufacturers' recommendations.

Even when circulating influenza viruses are mildly or moderately drifted in comparison with the vaccine, available evidence suggests that people may still receive some protective benefit from vaccination [5].

#### Historical evolution of influenza vaccines

Two main types of influenza vaccine are currently available: inactivated vaccine and live attenuated vaccine. The first inactivated influenza vaccine (IIV) was monovalent and was protective against the A (H1N1) strain. In 1940, however, a different influenza virus was isolated (influenza B) and the first bivalent vaccine was subsequently tested in healthy adults [2].

Current inactivated vaccines are mostly produced by means of propagation in embryonated hens' eggs. However, the availability of embryonated hens' eggs is a limiting factor in vaccine production, and global production is not expected to be able to meet the increased demand for doses in the pandemic season [6].

At the end of the 1970s, a new strain of influenza A with different HA and NA was identified. Since then, two influenza A strains (H1N1 and H3N2 subtypes) and one

influenza B (Victoria or Yamagata lineages) strain have been included in most influenza vaccines, called trivalent influenza vaccines (TIV) [7].

The first trivalent live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV) was licensed in Russia in the late 1970s and in North America in 2003. Europe recently recommended its use in children aged 2 years. The aim of vaccination with a live attenuated virus is to induce a secretory and systemic immune response that more closely resembles the immune response detected after natural infection [8]. However, the immunological mechanisms of action and correlates of protection remain largely unclear [9].

In more recent years, improvements were made, primarily in production technologies and use of adjuvants, while innovative formulations were based on two principles: the production of reassortant strains between wildtype viruses (for their antigenic properties) and cultureadapted strains (for their replication properties).

Alternative routes of delivery have been also investigated, in particular intradermal (ID) administration. An ID TIV received marketing authorization in the EU in February 2009, and was licensed by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) for adults older than 60 years in the 2010/11 season in Europe, and in Canada in September 2010. In the US, the same vaccine was approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) on 10<sup>th</sup> May 2011 and has been available in the US since the 2011/2012 influenza season for subjects older than 64 years.

In 2013, the WHO recommendations included a second influenza B strain in the vaccine composition, allowing member countries to make their own decision on the possibility to recommend a TIV or a quadrivalent (QIV) influenza vaccine in their immunization programs.

#### Influenza vaccination recommendations

WHO recommendations define the criteria for identifying risk groups and other groups targeted for vaccination. Age is considered a risk factor for flu infection, as the elderly are at high risk of complications such as morbidity, hospitalization and mortality. Vaccination is recommended for the elderly worldwide, though age specifications differ from one country to another.

In the last decade, research has focused on increasing the protection of elderly subjects and improving their immune response, which has been shown to be lower than that of younger adults [1]. A number of studies have demonstrated that MF59-adjuvanted vaccine and ID influenza vaccine confer greater immunogenicity than non-adjuvanted vaccines in the elderly [10-14]. For this reason, it is advisable to immunize these vulnerable subjects with non-conventional vaccines. Other categories of at-risk subjects have been identified, and, on the basis of the latest clinical evidence and guidelines from scientific societies, it is recommended that they should be vaccinated against influenza every year. In this regard, it has been demonstrated that influenza-vaccinated patients with rheumatoid arthritis or systemic lupus erythematosus are less likely to contract pneumonia,

acute bronchitis or viral infections than unvaccinated patients [15].

.....

In most studies, neither DMARDs nor TNF inhibitors have hampered humoral immune responses to influenza vaccination, while rituximab has been seen to do so severely [16]. Moreover, a large meta-analysis revealed that the occurrence of adverse events following influenza vaccination was comparable in patients with autoimmune inflammatory rheumatic diseases (AIIRD) and in healthy controls [17]. On the basis of this evidence and expert opinions, in 2011 the Evidence-based European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) formulated recommendations for annual influenza vaccination in patients with AIIRD.

It is well established that the immunological response to the seasonal TIV influenza vaccine is also attenuated in cancer patients. Rates of seroprotection and seroconversion vary by malignancy type and are higher in patients with solid tumors, unlike in those with hematologic malignancies or in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell recipients. Recent literature has reported that the use of myeloablative chemotherapy regimens and biologics is correlated with decreased immunogenicity to influenza vaccines. Moreover, in cancer patients, influenza infections not only result in acute illness but can also lead to delay in vital treatments for the malignancy, such as subsequent dosing of chemotherapy or biologics. In order to avoid these complications, vaccination remains the principal way to boost immunity against seasonal influenza, and therefore prevent infection [18].

The use of systematic influenza vaccination in patients with coronary heart disease prevents cardiovascular morbidity and all-cause mortality, as reported in various cohort studies and randomized clinical trials [19]. On the basis of this evidence, since 2006 the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology has recommended influenza immunization with inactivated vaccine as part of comprehensive secondary prevention in persons with coronary and other atherosclerotic vascular diseases (Class I, Level B) [20].

# Recommendations for use of influenza vaccines in the US

In the US, recommendations for routine use of vaccines in children, adolescents and adults are issued by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) [21]. Routine annual influenza vaccination is currently recommended for all persons aged  $\geq 6$  months who do not have contraindications. No preference is expressed for LAIV or IIV for any person aged 2 through 49 years for whom either vaccine is appropriate, but some indications are given for LAIV, which should not be used in particular conditions: confirmed severe allergic reactions, asthma, long-term aspirin use and most forms of altered immunocompetence. In the case of specific immunocompromising conditions, the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) has published detailed guidance for the selection and timing of vaccines in persons with congenital immune disorders, stem-cell and solid-organ transplantation, anatomic and functional asplenia, and cochlear implants [22].

# Recommendations for use of influenza vaccines in Europe

In Europe, the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) publishes periodic reports of national recommendations for the upcoming influenza season and of vaccination coverage rates in all 31 Member States [23]. At present, there is no consensus among European countries regarding the routine seasonal influenza vaccination of children, although this recommendation is now standard in the United States [24], and the WHO recommends vaccinating children aged from 6 to 59 months. The reluctance of some countries to adopt this measure may reflect a lack of evidence regarding cost-effectiveness and risk perception [25]. Live intranasal vaccines not requiring injection were licensed by the European Medicines Agency in 2010 and may, in the near future, increase the acceptance and delivery of annual vaccination among those EU/EEA countries recommending vaccination for children. As yet, however, the immunization rate in this age-group is still very low [26].

Since the 2010/11 pandemic season, the number of countries recommending seasonal influenza vaccination for pregnant women has increased, although there are some differences between countries with regard to the period in which vaccination is recommended. A body of literature has demonstrated the safety and effectiveness of vaccine in this group, including benefits for the fetus and the newborn child [27, 28].

In all 31 Member States, seasonal influenza vaccination is recommended for patients with immunosuppression due to disease or treatment and those with metabolic disorders or chronic pulmonary, cardiovascular and renal diseases. In other chronic conditions, such as hepatic disease, HIV/AIDS and morbid obesity, vaccination is recommended only in some countries [29-31].

Influenza vaccination is also offered to healthcare workers (HCWs) in most European countries. In some cases, recommendations also extend to other professional categories, such as military personnel, poultry industry workers, laboratory staff, police, firefighters, veterinary service workers and educational staff. However, vaccination coverage in these at-risk groups is still insufficient.

Member States are encouraged to adopt and implement national, regional or local action plans or policies, as appropriate, aimed at improving seasonal influenza vaccination coverage, with the aim of reaching a vaccination coverage rate of 75% in 'older age groups' as soon as possible, and, if possible, in all the other risk groups [32].

## Recommendations for use of influenza vaccines in Italy

In Italy, representatives of the Ministry of Health, regional health authorities, the National Institute of Health and scientific societies constitute the National Committee on Immunizations, which annually updates a document indicating vaccine composition and recommendations for groups at risk.

The vaccination coverage target is established in each year at 75% for all subjects aged over 64 years. Influenza vaccination is also recommended for high-risk individuals < 65 years old, the target coverage rate being the same.

At-risk groups comprise pregnant women in the second and third trimesters, adults and children aged six months or more with chronic diseases, such as pulmonary, neurologic, cardiovascular, renal, or hepatic diseases, haematological disorders, metabolic disorders, immunosuppressed individuals, HIV/AIDS patients, the morbidly obese, long-term aspirin users (subjects < 18 years), healthcare workers and other at-risk occupational groups, residents of long-term care facilities, and household contacts of immunosuppressed individuals or individuals with chronic medical conditions [33, 34].

# New quadrivalent influenza vaccines: strategies for use and cost-effectiveness studies

Since February 2012 in the US and since the 2014/2015 influenza season in the European Union/European Economic Area (EU/EEA), QIV influenza vaccines containing both B lineages for each season have been available. These offer the potential to improve protection by overcoming the drawbacks of wrongly predicting which B lineage will predominate in a given year.

TIV influenza vaccines contain antigens of the two A subtypes, A (H3N2) and A (H1N1), and of only one B lineage, which results in frequent mismatches between the circulating B strain and the vaccine B strain. QIV influenza vaccine has shown improved immunogenicity, compared with TIV, in children, adults and elderly people [35]. Moreover, QIV has proved to have an acceptable safety profile in comparison with TIVs, as reported in a phase III randomized controlled trial. In this trial, which enrolled a total of 3094 children, an inactivated QIV influenza vaccine proved noninferior to the TIVs with regard to the shared strains, and superior with regard to the added B strains [36]. Block et al. obtained similar results in a study demonstrating the noninferior immunogenicity of a Quadrivalent Live Attenuated Influenza Vaccine (Q/LAIV) to that of T/LAIV in children aged 2-17 years. The addition of a fourth vaccine strain did not result in clinically significant differences in the spectrum of safety events [37].

The safety and immunogenicity of a QIV inactivated influenza vaccine have also been investigated in adults. In a multicenter trial conducted in the 2011/2012 influenza season, Pepin et al. reported that antibody responses to the QIV were superior to the responses to TIV for the unmatched strains and non-inferior for the matched strains. Solicited reactions, unsolicited Aes and SAEs were comparable between the experimental QIV and the TIVs [38]. Moreover, QIV has the potential to substantially reduce the number of influenza infections, as reported in a ret-

rospective study by Crepey et al., in which QIV prevented 16% more B lineage cases in the United States [35]. On the basis of evidence and recent studies, QIV influenza vaccines are expected to provide a significant public health and economic benefit, and seem to be an innovative means of achieving universal influenza immunization, as recommended by some countries in which seasonal influenza vaccination has been extended to large numbers and diverse population subgroups not at high risk [39].

Several countries have adopted QIV vaccination for target populations. This choice has been based on cost-effectiveness analyses that take into account updated vaccine prices, reference costs, the circulation of influenza strains, and data on the burden of illness.

An economic evaluation of QIV influenza vaccination, as compared with TIV influenza vaccination, in elderly people and clinical risk groups was conducted in the UK over 10 years: from the 2002-2003 to the 2012-2013 influenza seasons. The main outcome measure was the number of quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs) gained and the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) per QALY gained; the analysis reported that QIV vaccination would be expected to reduce influenza cases, hospitalizations and deaths to a greater degree than TIV vaccination, and the estimated ICER over a lifetime horizon was  $\pounds$  14,645/QALY gained [40].

In the US, the cost-effectiveness of a policy of universal vaccination with QIV inactivated vaccine versus TIV inactivated vaccines was evaluated; the ICER was predicted to be \$ 90,301/QALY gained. Influenza B vaccine-matched and -mismatched efficacies among adults aged > 65 years had the greatest impact on the ICER: for all these reasons, vaccination with QIV in the US is predicted to reduce morbidity and mortality [41].

In Europe, Eichner et al. obtained similar results on using an individual-based simulation tool to connect people in a dynamically evolving, age-dependent contact network based on the POLYMOD matrix [42].

#### Conclusions

In accordance with international recommendations, vaccination providers and immunization programs should work to achieve the target of 75% vaccine coverage in at-risk groups, with a view to reducing influenza-related morbidity and mortality. This goal can be reached by expanding access to immunization services and extending vaccination campaigns to other target populations, on the basis of the most recent scientific evidence available. While the introduction of new vaccines is desirable, their use must be supported by strong evidence, in terms not only of higher immunogenicity, but also of greater effectiveness, in order to combat the growing phenomenon of vaccine hesitancy. Indeed, public debate over vaccine effectiveness, which largely depends on matching between circulating influenza strains and vaccine strains, can negatively impact on vaccination coverage. For this reason, it is crucial to improve systems of surveillance of the most likely circulating strains and to ensure greater

......

and broader vaccine effectiveness, which is expected to be achieved in the near future through the use of QIV vaccine. Moreover, switching from TIV to QIV is expected to be a cost-effective strategy that will further reduce the burden of influenza, as reported in several recent analyses worldwide.

The evolution of manufacturing processes will see the development of new technologies able to produce large quantities of vaccine rapidly in each influenza season, and new vaccines will be introduced. However, the production of a universal vaccine that is long-lasting and not subject to antigenic modifications still remains the ultimate goal.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding declared for this overview.

#### References

- Parodi V, de Florentiis D, Martini M, Ansaldi F. *Inactivated influenza vaccines: recent progress and implication for the elderly.* Drugs Aging 2011;1;28:93-106.
- Hannoun C. The evolving history of influenza viruses and influenza vaccines. Expert Rev Vaccines 2013;12:1085-94.
- [3] Wood JM, Williams MS. *History of Inactivated Influenza vaccines*. In: *Textbook of Influenza*. Oxford: Blackwell Science 1998, pp. 317-23.
- [4] de Florentiis D, Parodi V, Orsi, Rossi A, Altomonte F, Canepa P, Ceravolo A, Valle L, Zancolli M, Piccotti E, Renna S, Macrina G, Martini M, Durando P, Padrone D, Moscatelli P, Orengo G, Icardi G, Ansaldi F. *Impact of influenza during the post-pandemic season: epidemiological picture from syndromic and virological surveillance.* J Prev Med Hyg 2011;52:134-6.
- [5] Crovari P, Alberti M, Alicino C. *History and evolution of influenza vaccines*. J Prev Med Hyg 2011;52:91-4.
- [6] Haaheim LR, Madhun AS, Cox R. Pandemic influenza vaccines – the challenges. Viruses 2009;1:1089-109.
- [7] Treanor JJ. *Prospects for broadly protective influenza vaccines*. Vaccine 2015;33(Suppl 4):D39-45.
- [8] Gasparini R, Amicizia D, Lai PL, Panatto D. Live attenuated influenza vaccine. J Prev Med Hyg 2011;52:95-101.
- [9] Sridhar S, Brokstad KA, Cox RJ. Influenza vaccination strategies: comparing inactivated and live attenuated influenza vaccines. Vaccines 2015;3:373-89.
- [10] Ansaldi F, Bacilieri S, Durando P, Sticchi L, Valle L, Montomoli E, Icardi G, Gasparini R, Crovari P. Cross-protection by MF59-adjuvanted influenza vaccine: neutralizing and haemagglutination-inhibiting antibody activity against A(H3N2) drifted influenza viruses. Vaccine 2008;26:1525-9.
- [11] Minutello M, Senatore F, Cecchinelli G, Bianchi M, Andreani T, Podda A, Crovari P. Safety and immunogenicity of an inactivated subunit influenza virus vaccine combined with MF59 adjuvant emulsion in helderly subjects, immunized for three consecutive influenza Seasons. Vaccine 1999;17:99-104.
- [12] Del Giudice G, Hilbert AK, Bugarini R, Minutello A, Popova O, Toneatto D, Schoendorf I, Borkowski A, Rappuoli R, Podda A. An MF59-adjuvanted inactivated vaccine containing A/ Panama/1999 (H3N2) induced broader serological protection against heterovariant influenza strain A/Fujian/2002 than a subunit and a split influenza vaccine. Vaccine 2006;24:3063-5.
- [13] Gasparini R, Pozzi T, Montomoli E, Fragapane E, Senatore F, Minutello M, Podda A. *Increased immunogenicity of the MF59-adjuvanted vaccine compared to a conventional vaccine in elderly subjects.* Eur J Epidemiol 2001;17:135-40.

[14] Arakane R, Annaka R, Takahama A, Ishida K, Yoshiike M, Nakayama T, Takeshita F. Superior immunogenicity profile of the new intradermal influenza vaccine compared to the standard subcutaneous vaccine in subjects 65 years and older: a randomized controlled phase III study. Vaccine 2015;33:6650-8.

- [15] van Assen S, Agmon-Levin N, Elkayam O, Cervera R, Doran MF, Dougados M, Emery P, Geborek P, Ioannidis JP, Jayne DR, Kallenberg CG, Müller-Ladner U, Shoenfeld Y, Stojanovich L, Valesini G, Wulffraat NM, Bijl M. EULAR recommendations for vaccination in adult patients with autoimmune inflammatory rheumatic diseases. Ann Rheum Dis 2011;70:414-22.
- [16] Davis MM, Taubert K, Benin AL, Brown DW, Mensah GA, Baddour LM, Dunbar S, Krumholz HM; American Heart Association; American College of Cardiology; American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation; American Association of Critical Care Nurses; American Association of Heart Failure Nurses; American Diabetes Association; Association of Black Cardiologists, Inc; Heart Failure Society of America; Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association; American Academy of Nurse Practitioners; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Advisory Committee on Immunization. *Influenza vaccination as secondary prevention for cardiovascular disease: a science advisory from the American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology*. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;48:1498-502. Erratum in: J Am Coll Cardiol 2006 Dec.
- [17] Kobashigawa, T, Inoue E, Tanaka E, Momohara S, Yamanaka H. Vaccination against seasonal influenza is effective in Japanese patients with rheumatoid arthritis enrolled in a large observational cohort. Scand J Rheumatol 2013;42:445-50.
- [18] Westra J, Rondaan C, van Assen S, Bijl M. Vaccination of patients with autoimmune inflammatory rheumatic diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2015;11:135-45.
- [19] Baluch A, Pasikhova Y. Influenza vaccination in oncology patients. Curr Infect Dis Rep 2013;15:486-90.
- [20] Caldeira D, Costa J, Vaz-Carneiro A. Analysis of the Cochrane review: influenza Vaccines for preventing cardiovascular disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;5:CD00505. Acta Med Port 2015;28:424-6.
- [21] Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 Influenza Season. Am J Transplant 2015;15:2767-75.
- [22] Harper SA, Bradley JS, Englund JA, File TM, Gravenstein S, Hayden FG, McGeer AJ, Neuzil KM, Pavia AT, Tapper ML, Uyeki TM, Zimmerman RK; Expert Panel of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Seasonal influenza in adults and children-diagnosis, treatment, chemoprophylaxis, and institutional outbreak management: clinical practice guidelines of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 2009;48:1003-32.
- [23] Seasonal influenza vaccination recommendations in Europe. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/Seasonal-influenza-vaccination-Europe-2012-13.pdf. [Accessed 18/01/16].
- [24] Fiore AE, Uyeki TM, Broder K, Finelli L, Euler GL, Singleton JA, Iskander JK, Wortley PM, Shay DK, Bresee JS, Cox NJ; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Prevention* and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2010. MMWR Recomm Rep 2010;59:1-62.
- [25] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). ECDC scientific advice on seasonal influenza vaccination of children and pregnant women. Stockholm: ECDC 2012. Available at: http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/ Seasonal%20influenza%20vaccination%20of%20children%20 and%20pregnant%20women.pdf. [Accessed 18/01/16].
- [26] European Medicines Agency (EMA). Fluenz influenza vaccine (live attenuated, nasal). Summary of opinion1 (initial authorisation). 21

October 2010. London: EMA 2010. EMA/CHMP/503333/2010. Available from: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Summary\_of\_opinion\_-\_Initial\_authorisation/human/001101/WC500098347.pdf [Accessed 18/01/16].

- [27] Kissling E, Valenciano M, Cohen JM, Oroszi B, Barret AS, Rizzo C, Stefanoff P, Nunes B, Pitigoi D, Larrauri A, Daviaud I, Horvath JK, O'Donnell J, Seyler T, Paradowska-Stankiewicz IA, Pechirra P, Ivanciuc AE, Jiménez-Jorge S, Savulescu C, Ciancio BC, Moren A. *I-MOVE multi-centre case control study 2010-11: overall and stratified estimates of influenza vaccine effectiveness in Europe.* PLoS One 2011;6:e27622.
- [28] Kissling E, Valenciano M; I-MOVE case-control studies team. Early estimates of seasonal influenza vaccine effectiveness in Europe, 2010/11: I-MOVE, a multicentre case-control study. Euro Surveill 2011;16:pii=19818.
- [29] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Intensivecare patients with severe novel influenza A (H1N1) virus infection - Michigan, June 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2009;58:749-52.
- [30] Louie JK, Acosta M, Samuel MC, Schechter R, Vugia DJ, Harriman K, Matyas BT; California Pandemic (H1N1) Working Group. A novel risk factor for a novel virus: obesity and 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1). Clin Infect Dis 2011;52:301-12.
- [31] Morgan OW, Bramley A, Fowlkes A, Freedman DS, Taylor TH, Gargiullo P, Belay B, Jain S, Cox C, Kamimoto L, Fiore A, Finelli L, Olsen SJ, Fry AM. Morbid obesity as a risk factor for hospitalization and death due to 2009 pandemic influenza A(H1N1) disease. PLoS One 2010;5:e9694.
- [32] Council Recommendation of 22 december 2009 on seasonal influenza vaccination. Official journal of the European Union. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=CELEX:32009H1019. [Accessed 18/01/16].
- [33] European Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (ECDC). Seasonal Influenza Vaccination Programme in Italy. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Report%20Assets/ seasonal-vaccination-coverage-in-europe-2012-13/Seasonal-Influenza-Vaccination-Programme-Country-Profile-Italy.pdf. [Accessed 18/01/16].
- [34] Bonanni P, Ferro A, Guerra R, Iannazzo S, Odone A, Pompa MG, Rizzuto E, Signorelli C. Vaccine coverage in Italy and assessment of the 2012-2014 National Immunization Prevention Plan. Epidemiol Prev 2015;39(4 Suppl 1):146-58.
- [35] Crépey P, de Boer PT, Postma MJ, Pitman R. *Retrospective public health impact of a quadrivalent influenza vaccine in the United States*. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2015;9(Suppl 1):39-46.
- [36] Langley JM, Carmona Martinez A, Chatterjee A, Halperin SA, McNeil S, Reisinger KS, Aggarwal N, Huang LM, Peng CT, Garcia-Sicilia J, Salamanca de la Cueva I, Cabañas F, Treviño-Garza C, Rodríguez-Weber MA, de la O M, Chandrasekaran V, Dewé W, Liu A, Innis BL, Jain VK. *Immunogenicity and safety* of an inactivated quadrivalent influenza vaccine candidate: a phase III randomized controlled trial in children. J Infect Dis 2013;208:544-53.
- [37] Block SL, Falloon J, Hirschfield JA, Halperin SA, McNeil S, Reisinger KS, Aggarwal N, Huang LM, Peng CT, Garcia-Sicilia J, Salamanca de la Cueva I, Cabañas F, Treviño-Garza C, Rodríguez-Weber MA, de la O M, Chandrasekaran V, Dewé W, Liu A, Innis BL, Jain VK. *Immunogenicity and safety of a quadrivalent live attenuated influenza vaccine in children*. Pediatr Infect Dis 2012;31:745-51.
- [38] Pépin S, Donazzolo Y, Jambrecina A, Salamand C, Saville M. Safety and immunogenicity of a quadrivalent inactivated influenza vaccine in adults. Vaccine 2013;31:5572-8.
- [39] Thommes EW, Ismaila A, Chit A, Meier G, Bauch CT. Costeffectiveness evaluation of quadrivalent influenza vaccines for seasonal influenza prevention: a dynamic modeling study of Canada and the United Kingdom. BMC Infect Dis 2015;15:465.

.....

- [40] Meier Gregg M, Poulsen Nautrup B. Cost-effectiveness anal-
- ysis of quadrivalent influenza vaccination in at-risk adults and the elderly: an updated analysis in the UK. J Med Econ 2015;18:746-61.
- [41] Clements KM, Meier G, McGarry LJ, Pruttivarasin N, Misurski DA. Cost-effectiveness analysis of universal influenza vaccina-

tion with quadrivalent inactivated vaccine in the United States. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2014;10:1171-80.

[42] Eichner M, Schwehm M, Hain J, Phoff H, Salzberger B, Knuf M, Schmidt-Ott R. 4Flu – an individual based simulation tool to study the effects of quadrivalent vaccination on seasonal influenza in Germany. BMC Infect Dis 2014;14:365.

.....

- Received on January 22, 2016. Accepted on February 25, 2016.
- Correspondence: Mariano Martini, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, via A. Pastore 1, 16132 Genoa, Italy - Tel. e Fax +39 010 353 8502 - E-mail: mr.martini@unige.it

# The old and the new: vaccine hesitancy in the era of the Web 2.0. Challenges and opportunities

R. ROSSELLI<sup>1</sup>, M. MARTINI<sup>2</sup>, N.L. BRAGAZZI<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Local Health Unit of Genoa (LHA 3), Genoa, Italy; <sup>2</sup>Section of History of Medicine and Bioethics, Department of Health Sciences (DISSAL), University of Genoa, Italy; <sup>3</sup>School of Public Health, Department of Health Sciences (DISSAL), University of Genoa, Italy;

#### Keywords

Digital disintermediation • Vaccine hesitancy • Fast data-monitoring system

#### Summary

The phenomenon known as vaccine hesitancy (a term that includes the concepts of indecision, uncertainty, delay and reluctance) is complex, closely linked to social contexts, and has different determinants: historical period, geographical area, political situation, complacency, convenience and confidence in vaccines. The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends that vaccine hesitancy and any proxy of it should be constantly monitored. Given the growing importance and pervasiveness of information and communication technologies (ICTs), the new media could be exploited in order to track lay-people's perceptions of vaccination in real time, thereby enabling health-care workers to actively

#### Vaccine hesitancy

A complex, multi-faceted phenomenon that dates back to the first vaccinations performed by Dr. Zabdiel Boylston (1721) and Edward Jenner (1796-1798), vaccine hesitancy constitutes a threat to the implementation of immunization programs [1-5]. Concerns and/or misconceptions regarding vaccines may prompt people to delay or refuse vaccination. Consequently, suboptimal vaccination coverage rates may jeopardize the attainment of herd immunity and result in pathogen recrudescence and disease outbreaks. It is therefore crucial to understand the determinants of compliance with vaccination. These have been grouped into the 5A taxonomy (Access, Affordability, Awareness, Acceptance, and Activation) [6] or the 3C model (Complacency, Convenience and Confidence) [7].

Vaccine hesitancy is a major, global issue. Being a very dynamic and heterogeneous phenomenon, it changes throughout space and time, varying according to the context and to geographic and demographic variables. Furthermore, as vaccine hesitancy is setting-dependent and vaccine-specific, it is highly unpredictable.

Today, vaccine hesitancy is closely connected with the increasing importance of the Internet and the new information and communication technologies (ICTs) [8]. engage citizens and to plan ad hoc communication strategies. Analysis of so-called "sentiments" expressed through the new media (such as Twitter) and the real-time tracking of web-related activities enabled by Google Trends, combined with the administration of specific online "surveys" on well-defined themes to target groups (such as health-care workers), could constitute a "Fast data monitoring system" that yields a snapshot of perceptions of vaccination in a given place and at a specific time. This type of dashboard could be a strategic tool that enables public services to organize targeted communication actions aimed at containing vaccine hesitancy.

#### The new media

The pervasive diffusion of the web is a characteristic feature of modern society. In 1962, Marshall McLuhan distinguished four different epochs of history: the first dominated by the oral tribe culture, the second by the manuscript culture, the third termed as the Gutenberg Galaxy, and the fourth defined as the electronic age [9]. Technological and information changes have contributed to the rise of the fluid postmodern society, which is characterized by uncertainty, nomadism, fragmentation, disintegration and relativization of the truth [10].

Digital media have dissolved reality into an infinite array of bits, an ocean, a fluctuating swarm, a chaotic magma, that can be navigated interactively by accessing the Internet. Indeed, the static heritage and the rigidly codified system of knowledge and hierarchies of the Gutenberg Galaxy have been broken down by the web.

Whilst the Web 1.0 was static, the Web 2.0 (and its further evolution, including the semantic web) has become a highly dynamic and interactive information reality, enabling users to share their content and to become consumers and producers at the same time (*prosumers*). Thus, the differences and the distance between webmasters and web surfers are becoming increasingly blurred.

.....

This has led to a phenomenon known, in the field of electronic commerce, as "digital disintermediation"; consumers purchase products directly from producers *via* the Internet, thereby drastically shortening and modifying the product delivery chain and "disintermediating" the standard supply model. This direct-toconsumer model has its analogues in the medical field; in the emerging postmodern healthcare model, patients proactively search the Web for health-related information, thus bypassing clinicians. In this perspective, the legitimacy of science is questioned and expertise is redefined

On the other hand, within e-health or health 2.0 - a term that indicates new modalities, strategies, and practices of healthcare delivery that exploit, and are supported by, electronic processes and communication – patients are at the center of healthcare processes, as they are more involved in and informed of the many steps of medical decision-making [11].

#### Vaccines and the web

Within the above-mentioned model, ICTs play a role in parents' decisions on whether or not to vaccinate their children. In Italy, according to the latest available data released by the National Institute of Statistics (ISTAT), 80% of parents use the Internet to search for vaccinerelated information [12]. Moreover, a recent publication by CENSIS has shown that 48.6% and 42% of parents use social networks and the web, respectively, to obtain information on vaccines [13]. This implies that workers in the field of Public Health have to rethink their way of interacting with the media, especially the new media, in order to combat the unjustified alarmism and hoaxes regarding vaccination. Furthermore, they need to combine the accuracy and scientific rigor of information with a modality of communication that can be easily understood by lay-people. Targeted and authoritative information can be accompanied by awareness campaigns and school interventions. Indeed, while 91.1% of parents are aware that vaccines have eradicated diseases and constitute an important means of protecting themselves and the community, they still have doubts, uncertainties and concerns about vaccine safety. This highlights a specific information gap that needs to be properly addressed.

The Web 2.0 acts as a post-modern Pandora's box, which is difficult to control and to discipline. It can therefore spread disinformation, misleading news and falsehoods [14, 15]. Indeed, many critical websites or pages show anti-vaccination content. Despite being of low quality, these are highly ranked and are therefore frequently returned by search engines and consulted by users. Furthermore, they are more readable than websites containing information from reliable sources [16, 17]. Moreover, websites that are openly skeptical or even hostile to vaccinations are highly active on the Internet [18]. Since 2010, however, public institutions have increased the presence of sites in favor of vaccina-

tion. Consequently, in 2015, the use of such search terms as "immunization" or "vaccination" was seen to yield a predominance of pro-vaccination websites created by public institutions, scientific societies or individual health professionals [19].

.....

#### **Challenges and opportunities**

The issue of vaccination is increasingly influencing political agendas.

Opportunities derive directly from the considerations that vaccine hesitancy is unpredictable and fluid and that anti-vaccination movements exploit the new ICTs. Workers in the field of Public Health can also exercise their role of advocacy on the Internet. An example of this is the website VaccinarSì (http://www.vaccinarsi. org/), which initially emerged from an idea by Mrs. Ulrike Schmidleithner (http://vaccinarsi.blogspot.it) [20]. Another example of bottom-up initiatives is that of an online pro-vaccination campaign started by an Italian mother, Miriam Maurantonio. Concerned about low vaccination coverage and the growing visibility of antivaccination movements, Mrs Maurantonio asked parents to take "selfies" and to post them by using the hashtag #iovaccino (#Ivaccine). This initiative has spread to other social networks, such as Facebook and Instagram, reaching thousands of followers and subscribers.

Further exploitation of ICTs involves applications for smart-phones, the popularity of which is rapidly increasing. In Italy, for example, the app "Pneumo Rischio" has been developed specifically to increase public awareness of invasive pneumococcal disease and its prevention [21].

All these instruments can be exploited in order to empower lay-people and increase their health literacy. Local Health Units (LHUs) can utilize the new media to establish a novel, interactive dialogue with residents in their territories. This model has been termed as "@ Prevention" [22]. However, in order to exploit the new media effectively, it is essential to improve the information skills of clinicians and pediatricians. To this end, the Italian Scientific Society of Pediatricians (FIMP) has launched the "Hermes project", named after the Greek god of communication, the protector and patron of oratory and wit, literature and poetry [23]. This project provides a step-by-step course that teaches pediatricians how to open a Twitter account and to dynamically interact and communicate with children's families, so that they can address their concerns or doubts about vaccination.

Another opportunity is constituted by "infodemiology" (a *port-manteau* of information and epidemiology) and "infoveillance" (a *port-manteau* of information and surveillance), which have been introduced by Gunther Eysenbach as new emerging concepts and approaches [24]. Public health and epidemiological research can be based on large-scale monitoring and data-mining.

Infodemiology and infoveillance take into consideration all the virtual activities carried out by lay-people while **Fig. 1.** Vaccine hesitancy is a fluid and constantly changing phenomenon that needs to be monitored over time. As recommended by the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts (SAGE) on vaccine hesitancy, an integrated approach based on a combination of both slow and fast data collection (scientific evidence and, in particular, systematic reviews, epidemiological data, qualitative surveys, *ad hoc* surveys, old and new media tracking) can ensure proper tracking of the phenomenon.

![](_page_51_Figure_2.jpeg)

surfing health-related sites and/or communicating and sharing their health status. These pieces of information are known as "fast" or "big" data, in that this incredible wealth of data is quickly available to researchers.

Analysis of the so-called "sentiments" expressed through the new media (i.e. Tweets) [25] and the real-time tracking and monitoring of web-related activities, enabled by Google Trends, can yield a snapshot of the "social climate"; this picture could also be combined with *ad hoc* online surveys on well-defined themes and topics, administered to specific target groups (i.e. health workers). The resulting "Fast data monitoring system" could provide a real-time representation of perceptions of vaccination. Moreover, the use of georeferentiation through sophisticated and advanced geographic information systems (GIS) could capture perception in a specific place and at a given time.

This type of dashboard could be a strategic tool for public services, which could then organize targeted communication actions aimed at containing vaccine hesitancy (Fig. 1).

#### Conclusions

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends that vaccine hesitancy and any proxy of it should be constantly monitored [26]. Given the growing importance and pervasiveness of ICTs, the new media could be exploited in order to track lay-people's perceptions of vaccination in real time, thereby enabling health-care workers to actively engage citizens and to plan *ad hoc* communication strategies [27-29].

#### Acknowledgments

No funding declared for this overview.

#### References

- Shrivastava SR, Shrivastava PS, Ramasamy J. *The growing global problem of vaccine hesitancy: time to take action*. Int J Prev Med 2016;7:18.
- [2] Kumar D, Chandra R, Mathur M, Samdariya S, Kapoor N. Vaccine hesitancy: understanding better to address better. Isr J Health Policy Res 2016;5:2.
- [3] Salmon DA, Dudley MZ, Glanz JM, Omer SB. Vaccine hesitancy: causes, consequences, and a call to action. Vaccine 2015;33(Suppl 4):D66-71.
- [4] Jacobson RM, St Sauver JL, Finney Rutten LJ. Vaccine hesitancy. Mayo Clin Proc 2015;90:1562-8.
- [5] Schwartz JL. New media, old messages: themes in the history of vaccine hesitancy and refusal. Virtual Mentor 2012;14:50-5.
- [6] Thomson A, Robinson K, Vallée-Tourangeau G. The 5As: a practical taxonomy for the determinants of vaccine uptake. Vaccine 2016;34:1018-24.
- [7] MacDonald NE; SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy. Vaccine hesitancy: definition, scope and determinants. Vaccine 2015;33:4161-4.
- [8] Tafuri S, Gallone MS, Cappelli MG, Martinelli D, Prato R, Germinario C. Addressing the anti-vaccination movement and the role of HCWs. Vaccine 2014;32:4860-5.
- [9] McLuhan M. *The Gutenberg Galaxy: the making of typographic man*. Toronto, CA: University of Toronto Press 1962.
- [10] Bauman Z. *Liquid times: living in an age of uncertainty*. Cambridge: Polity 2006.
- [11] Bragazzi NL. From P0 to P6 medicine, a model of highly participatory, narrative, interactive, and "augmented" medicine: some considerations on Salvatore Iaconesi's clinical story. Patient Prefer Adherence 2013;7:353-9.
- [12] ISTAT. Citizens and new technologies. Available at http://www. istat.it/en/archive/citizens+and+new+technologies. [Accessed on 10/02/2016]
- [13] CENSIS. 49<sup>th</sup> report on the social situation of the country. 2015.
- [14] Kata A. A postmodern Pandora's box: anti-vaccination misinformation on the Internet. Vaccine 2010;28:1709-16.
- [15] Gasparini R, Panatto D, Lai PL, Amicizia D. The "urban myth" of the association between neurological disorders and vaccinations. J Prev Med Hyg 2015;56:E1-8.
- [16] Sak G, Diviani N, Allam A, Schulz PJ.Comparing the quality of pro- and anti-vaccination online information: a content analysis of vaccination-related webpages. BMC Public Health 2016;16:38.
- [17] Ochoa AG. Content attributes of vaccine promotion websites as compared to claims made by anti-vaccine groups. Houston, DX: The University of Texas School of Public Health 2015, pp. 36;1598348.
- [18] Davies P, Chapman S, Leask J. Antivaccination activists on the world wide web. Arch Dis Child 2002;87:22-6.
- [19] Keelan J, Pavri-Garcia V, Tomlinson G, Wilson K. YouTube as a source of information on immunization: a content analysis. JAMA 2007;298:2482-4.
- [20] Ferro A, Odone A, Siddu A, Colucci M, Anello P, Longone M, Marcon E, Castiglia P, Bonanni P, Signorelli C. *Monitoring the* web to support vaccine coverage: results of two years of the

.....

portal VaccinarSì. Epidemiol Prev 2015;39(4 Suppl 1):88-93.

- [21] Panatto D, Domnich A, Gasparini R, Bonanni P, Icardi G, Amicizia D, Arata L, Bragazzi NL, Signori A, Landa P, Bechini A, Boccalini S. Development and preliminary data on the use of a mobile app specifically designed to increase community awareness of invasive pneumococcal disease and its prevention. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2016 Jan 21:1-5. [Epub ahead of print].
- [22] Rosselli R, Onesti A, Martini M, Cartiglia C, Sticchi L, Alberti M. @Prevention: a website project for prevention in the healthcare setting. J Prev Med Hyg 2011;52:59-63.
- [23] Federazione Italiana dei Medici Pediatri (FIMP). Progetto FIMP HERMES. Available at http://www.fimp.veneto.it/sites/ default/files/Progetto%20FIMP%20HERMES%5B1%5D.pdf. [Accessed on 10/02/2016]
- [24] Eysenbach G. Infodemiology and infoveillance: framework for an emerging set of public health informatics methods to analyze search, communication and publication behavior on the internet. J Med Internet Res 2009;11:e11.

[25] Bahk CY, Cumming M, Paushter L, Madoff LC, Thomson A, Brownstein JS. Publicly available online tool facilitates real-time monitoring of vaccine conversations and sentiments. Health Aff (Millwood) 2016;35:341-7.

- [26] World Health Organization (WHO). Addressing vaccine hesitancy. Available at http://www.who.int/immunization/programmes\_systems/vaccine\_hesitancy.
- [27] Capurro D, Cole K, Echavarría MI, Joe J, Neogi T, Turner AM. *The use of social networking sites for public health practice and research: a systematic review.* J Med Internet Res 2014;16:e79.
- [28] Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013;15:e85.
- [29] Vance K, Howe W, Dellavalle RP. *Social internet sites as a source of public health information*. Dermatol Clin 2009;27:133-6.

■ Received on January 9, 2016. Accepted on February 26, 2016.

Correspondence: Roberto Rosselli, Local Health Unit of Genoa (LHA 3), via Operai 80, 16149 Genoa, Italy - Tel. +39 010 8497126 - E-mail: roberto.rosselli@asl3.liguria.it